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Narrative ’ f

Purpose: To authorize and award a purchase order for the annual software licenses, support and
maintenance of the Assessment TAS/ADAPT system.

Discussion: This is a sole source purchase; Tyler Techunologies Inc. is the proprietary owner/supplier of
this software. This is necessary to maintain the current technology and is a maintenance agreement for
modules related to tax billing, collections, delinquent tax, appeals management and EDMS interface. The
period of this agreement runs from January 01 to December 31, 2021.

Impact on Funding: The maximum amount authorized under this purchase order shall be Six Hundred
Thirty-Five Thousand Two Hundred Fifty Dollars. ($635,250.00) from general fund ITGen1420.

Recommendation: Office of Purchasing recommends an award be givgn,io
sole source for this purchase order. m——
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER — DEPARTMENTAL MEMO

TO: CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A-27-2021

FROM: MELISSA GALLUCCI - COMMISSTONER OF SHARED SERVICES
DATE: March 29, 2021

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION — THE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENT AND THE DEPARTMENT
OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY,

THIS RESOLUTION IS RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES TO
AUTHORIZE AN AWARD AND TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX
HUNDRED THIRTY-FIVE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FIF1Y DOLLARS ($635,250.00) ON
BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENT AND THE DEPARTMENT OF
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY TO TYLER TECHNOLOGIES INC. FOR IAS SOFTWARE
LICENSES & SUPPORT.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED RESOLUTION AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED
HERETO IS FORWARDED FOR YOUR REVIEW, APPROVAL, AND SUBSEQUENT
TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE FOR TNCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA.

MELISSA GAELUCCI
COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES

MS: br

ENCI: (1) STAFF SUMMARY

: - (2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
(4) BID SUMMARY
(5) BID PROPOSAL
(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
(7) RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD
(8) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




RULES RESOLUTION -2021

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
TO AWARD AND EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF
NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENT AND THE

DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, AND TYLER TECHNOLOGIES INC.

WHEREAS, the Commissioner of Shared Services is representing to the Rules Committee that
the firm, Tyler Technologies Inc. is a sole source provider and meets all specifications for the product

described in the said contract as determined by the Commissioner of Shared Services.

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legisiature authorizes the

Commissioner of Shared Services to award and execute the said Purchase Order with Tyler Technologies

Inc.



COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM ’

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York
State Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b}, beginning
April 1, 2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this
disclosure, to the campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
committees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County
Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

YES NO X If yes, to what campaign committee?

2. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts. '

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
hisfher knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms_that the_contribution(s) fo the campaign committees ideniified above were

made freely and without duress, threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in_exchange for any benefit or
remuneration.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated:  11/20/2020 10:53:09 AM Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Chief Legal Officer
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBYIST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name, address and telephone number of lobbyist(s)/lobbying organization. The term "lobbyist" means any and every
person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or promote a matter before -
Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees, including but not
limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such mafters include, but are not
limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation,
procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the
County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

James F. Capalino & Associates, Inc.
233 Broadway, Suite 710

New York, NY 10279

212-616-5810

2. List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York State):

| Registered with New York State Joint Commission on Public Ethics and New York City Office of the City Clerk

3. Name, address and telephone number of client(s) by whom, or on whose behalf, the lobbyist is retained, employed
or designated:

Tyler Technologies, Inc.
5101 Tennyson Parkway
Plano, TX 75024
800-772-2260 x4642

4. Describe lobbying activity conducted, or to be conducted, in Nassau County, and identify client(s) for each activity
listed. See the last page for a complete description of lobbying activities.

Representation of Tyler Technologies in connection with achieving an innovative technology solutions portfolio with
Tyler Technologies' Courts & Justice and Pata & Insights divisions and developing relationships with government
agencies listed on Question 5 below.

5. The name of persons, organizations or governmental entities before whom the lobbyist expects to lobby:

New York State Unified Court System
New York City Office of the Comptroller
New York City Department of Information Technology & Telecommunications
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New York State Office of General Services
New York State Office of Technology

8. If such lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to a written agreement of retainer or employment, you must attach
a copy of such document; and if agreement of retainer or employment is oral, attach a written statement of the
substance thereof. If the written agreement of retainer or employment does not contain a signed autherization from the
client by whom you have been authorized to lobby. separately attach such a written authorization from the client.

2 File(s) Attached: Tyler Technologies Inc 2018 Lobbying Retainer Agreement Revised 11.16.18.pdf, Tyler
Technologies inc Name Amendment .pdf

7. Has the lobbyist/lobbying organization or any of its corporate officers provided campaign contributions pursuant to
the New York State Election Law in (&) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or
(b), beginning April 1, 2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of
this disclosure, to the campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
committees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County
Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

YES NO X If yes, to what campaign committee? If none, you must so state:

| understand that copies of this form will be sent to the Nassau County Department of Information Technology {"IT") to
be posted on the County's website.

| also understand that upon termination of retainer, employment or designation | must give written notice to the County
Attorney within thirty (30} days of termination.

VERIFICATION: The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing
statements and they are, to his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) to the campaign committees listed above were
made freely and without duress. threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in exchange for any benefit or
remuneration,

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated:  11/20/2020 11:00:03 AM Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Chief Legal Officer
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The term lobbying shall mean any aitempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature,
or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or
resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation
or resolution, whether or not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an
elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or
construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests
for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or
administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by
the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions department
heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committes, the Planning
Commission with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation,
or any agencies, boards, commissions, depariment heads or committees with respect to requests for proposals,
bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected county official or
an officer'or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of any
interest in real property, with respect fo a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with
respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency
of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding
before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the
calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County
Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to
support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination made to support or
oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has
been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been formally proposed.

The term "lobbying"” or "lobbying activities"_does not include: Persons engaged in drafting legislation, rules,
regulations or rates; persons advising clients and rendering opinions on proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates,
where such professional services are not otherwise connected with legislative or executive action on such legislation or
administrative action on such rules, regulations or rates; newspapers and cther periodicals and radio and television
stations and owners and employees thereof, provided that their activities in connection with proposed legislation, rules,
regulations or rates are limited to the publication or broadcast of news items, editorials or other comment, or paid
advertisements; persons who participate as witnesses. attorneys or other representatives in public rule-making or rate-
making proceedings of a County agency, with respect to all participation by such persons which is part of the public
record thereof and all preparation by such persons for such participation; persons who attempt to influence a County
agency in an adjudicatory proceeding, as defined by § 102 of the New York State Administrative Procedure Act.
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Capalino+Company

Government & Cowpadstity Relations Strategists

2018 RETAINER AGREEMENT

November 18, 2018

Erie Cullinson

Tyler Technologles lhe,
5101 Tennyson Parkway.
Fiano, TX 75024

Re; ch;arnment Relations/l.obbying Retainar Agreement; Tyler Technologies Inc.

Dear Mr. Cullinson:

This letter, when signed and returned fo us (the “Agreement”), will setve as the retainer for Jamas
F. Capalino & Associates, Inc. aka Capalino+Company {the "Consultani”) to represent Tyler
Technologles Ine. (the "Client”) in connection with assisting the Client In achieving an innovative
technalogy solutions portfolic with the Client’s product 'Courts and Justice and Data and Insights'
and developing relationships with the govemment agencies and officials listed below.

Our fir's engagement under the Agreement ncludes representation befors the New York State
Unified Court System, the New York Clty Office of the Comptroller, the New York City Department
of Information Technology and Telecommunications, the New York State Office of General
Services and the New York State Office of Technology.

Services, Specifically, the Consultant will assist the Client with government and community
relations related to the sbove. The Consultant shall not engage in any business development or
ather services without the advarnce written consent of Client. Should the services expand beyand
the scope of this Agreement, a separate agreement may be required andfor the fee may be
adjusted to be commensurate with the expanded scope.

Term. The term of the Agreement shall commence on November 18, 2018 and continue through
December 31, 2019. The ferm of the Agreement may be mutually extended, in writing, through
the agreement of the parties. Notwithstanding the foregeing, the Agreement may be terminated
by sither party upen five {5) days written notice to the other party.
_ Compensation, As compensaticn for its services the Consultant will receive a monthly retalner of
Seven Thousand Doliars ($7,000.00). Services will not commence until the first month’s firorate
atgl ' iaht Hundred Dollars (52,800,003 is. received. Subssquently, the

Consuitant will submit a monthly invoive for its services to the Client and payment is due by the
1¢t of each morith. Regardless of the termination date, the minimum compensation due for the
Agreement is Twenty One Thousand Déllars ($21,000.00). In addition, the Client shall reimburse
the Consultant for all reasonable out-of-poicket tosts and expanses incurrad by the Consultant in
connection with the provision of the servicss, ingluding without limitation, all lobbying registration
fees, fong distance telephone, facsimlle, messenger, photocopying, travel, postage and other
reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses; provided, however that all expenditures In excess
of $200 must be approved in writing and in advance by Client, Such disbursements.will be bilied
by the Consultant, at cost, on a monthly basis.

Legal Fees, Should It become appropriate, either during or after the term of thils Agreement, for

the Consultant to engage. the servicés of any atiormey to represent its interast, for collection of

fees due pursuant to this Agreement or respending to Inquides from governmental agencies to the "
Client, or subpoenas or other judicial process or proceedings, relating to thegervlces,haqeungg;h _ xg%%’i %'le

the Client shall, upof demand, reimburse Consultant for any such reéasonable EOEtE > mtn, o
. ok L g&?@k ¥
oFF e O
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Capalino+Company

Fovernment & Conumunity Relations Strateglats

Acknowledgments.  The Client acknowledges that the Consultant has not made any
representations concerning the potential success or failure of the matters to be undertaken by the
Constltant on the Cliant's behalf.

The Client acknowledges and agrees that it will comply with all federal, state and local law in itg
dealings with the. Consultant and-the Consultant’s employees, including but not imited to laws
regarding harassment and discrimination, and that the fallure to comply with such faws may also
be grounds for immediate termination of the Consultant's relationship with the Client. The
Consultant, In pérdorming services hereunder, shall comply with all applicable laws, including but
not Imited to all Stete and local ordinances pertaining 1o lobbyist ragistration and ethics, The
Congultant shall defend, Indemnify and hold Client harmless from any third-party claims drising
out of or relating to the Consultant’s breach of its obligations under this paragraph.

Proprietary Information.  Any proprietary information regarding, but not imited to, both parties’
services and products will remain confidential unless otherwise agrsed to by the Client and the
Consultant in wiiting. Consultant acknowledges that certaln of Client's valuable, confidential and
proprietary information may come into its pussassion. Accordingly, Consuitant agrees that all such
information fumished will remain the exclusive properiy of Client, and Consultant agrees 1o hold
all informatior: it obtains fram or about Clisnt in strictest confidence. Consultant also will not
communicate Client's information in any form to any third party witheut Client's prior written
consent. Without limiting the foregeoing, the parfies agree that the Confidentiality and Non-
Disclosure Agreement ftha "NDA") exectited by the parlfes is Incorporated hercin by referenca.

Entire Agreement; Modification. The Agreemant completely and exclusively states the agreement
of the parties ragarding ifs subject matter, It supersedes, and its terms govern, all pilor proposals,
agreements or other communications between the parties, oral or written, regarding such subject
matter. The Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument signad by sach of the pariies
herato,

Counterparts, The Agreement may be executed in counterparts, conveyed electronically or by
facsimile, each of which will be an original copy of the Agreement, with the same effect as if the
original signatures were upon the sams instrument.

Lobbying Requirements. Pursuant to the requirements of the New York Clty Adminlstrative Code,
Information regarding our engagement under the Agreement, and a copy of the Agreement ftsalf,
will be registered with the Lobbying Bureau of the Office of the City Clark of the Ciy of New York
{the "Lobkbying Bureau”®).

In order for the Consultant to begin obbying on the Client's behalf, the Client is required o snroll
in' the e-Lobbyist system of the Lobbying Bureau. Enrollment should be completed by the Client
within & days of the start date above in order for the GCongultant to register the Client within the
timeframe wllowad by law, If the Consultant is unable to register the Client on ime due fo the
Client's late enroliment, any late fees incurred by the Consultant will be reimbursed by the Client.
The Lobbying Bureau imposes a fine of $25 per day for gach day the registration is late,

As a registered lobbying client, the Client is required to file an Annual Report with the Lobbying
Bureau. The Annual Report must be filed on-line by January 15th for the prevmus year. The
Client's failure to comply with the New York City lobbying reqmrements will result in fines that are
the responsibility of the Client.

Addiflonalty; the Cilent may be registered as lobbylng client with the New York State Joint
Commisslon on Public Ethics. If so, the Client will be required to fle semi-annual reparts o the
State which must be submitted by July 15th of the curent year for the January fo June period
AND by the: 15th day of January for the previous year's July to December petiod. Failure to comply

Tha Wooblverth Bididing = 233 Emadway, Sulte 710 = Mow York, NY 10278 « T 242.616.5810 « Fr 2i2.818.5830 Weay eapaling oam



Yo . &
Capalino+Company
Govermment & Comuomnity Relations Suategists
with the New York State Joint Commission on Public Ethics' iohbying requirements will result in

fines that are the responsibility ofthe Client. The Consultant wilt givee the Client all the information
necessary in order to comply-with the lobbying client requirements in a timely fashion.

if you are in agresment with the above terms and condltions for the provision of the services,
please sign in the space below whereupon the Agreement shall become binding.

Sincerely,
James F. Capaline & Assoclates. Inc. Tyler Technologies Inc.

By: - e ,.; By: - (B
gﬁ;ifs(;f;gﬂng Ofilcer Name: Mf' @»ZMF\;'@%
o Title: ‘7§xe&@véf' t{ 5?’%\"%
Date: . “‘/ [%[ i_ | Date: .o icf{*?‘f ﬁ‘:"@
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CAPALINO+COMPANY

New York $tate Joint Commission on Public Ethics
540 Broadway
Albany, NY 12207

New York City Office of the City Clerk
Lobbying Bureau

141 Worth Strest
New York, NY 10013

Please be advised that the Agreement batween James F. Capalino & Associates, Inc. and Tyler
Technologles Inc, dated November 16, 2018 has been amended as follows:

The Client name lsted on the retainer is amended from “Tyler Technologles inc.” to
“Tyler Technologies, Ing”

Al other terms of the Agreement remain in full force and effect.

Sincerely,

James F, Capalino & Associates, Inc.  Tyler Technologies, Inc.

By: j,,,w : e By: %Lﬂ’{ %‘“MJ‘L ,
grrz;?gggﬁng Officer Name: ﬁ"‘w ez ﬁnfmvw%* )
Title: ,a&f{{,ﬂﬁféﬁ .f?_’”‘p Leﬁ?d&( f?oﬁéﬁwl-!s
Date: “!2 %fl & Date: ___{{ (@? ﬂf 18

The Woolworth Building » 233 Broadway, Suite 710 » New York, NY 10279 + T 2126165810 + F: 212.616.5850 + www.capalino.com



Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into
consideration the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the
County, offers the best value to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The
questionnaire shall be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm,
corporation or partnership submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is "none" or “not-applicable.“ No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date: 11/20/2020

1) Proposer's Legal Name: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

2) Address of Place of Business: 5101 Tennyson Parkway
City: Plano | State/Province/Territory: TX , Zip/PostaI' Code: 75024 .
Country: US

3) Mailing Address (if different):

City: Stjdte/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:

Country:

Phone:

Does the business own or rent its facilities? Own If other, please provide details:

4) Dun and Bradstreet number:. 041089293

5) Federal 1.D. Number: 752303920

8) The proposer is a: _Corporation {Describe)

7) Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
YES | | NO [ X ] Ifyes, please provide details:

8) Does this business control one or more other businesses?
YES X | NO If yes, please provide details:

Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC - whoily owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
Socrata, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Micropact Holdings, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, [nc.

Tyler Foundation - non-profit charitable-organization funded by Tyler Technologies, Inc.
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10)

11)

12)

13)

14)

Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?
YES [ X |NO | | If yes, please provide details:

Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
Socrata, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Micropact Holdings, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Foundation - non-profit charitable organization funded by Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any

other government entity terminated?
YES NO If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond
and reason for such cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract).

| Please see attached file titled Tyler Technologies Terminafions.

1 File(s) Uploaded: Tyler Technologies Terminations.docx

Has the proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt?
YES NO X | If yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets

In the past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business,
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency? And/or, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated
business been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or
local prosecuting or investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or
on behalf of an affiliated business.

YES [ | NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the

circumstances and correctiva action taken.

In the past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies, for matters pertaining to that individual's position at or relationship to an affiliated
business. '

YES [ |NO I yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

=

Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before
or during such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that
allegedly occurred during the fime of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the
conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?

YES NO X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.
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b) Any misdemeanor charge pending?
YES [ |NO [ X | lfyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

¢) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony andfor any other crime, an
element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

5

) In the past & years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide details for each such lnves‘ugatlon an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.— -

r

e) In the past 5 years, been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?

YES NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.
L

15)  In the past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license
held?

YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

16)  For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable
federal, state or local faxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all
questions checked "YES'. If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the
guestionnaire.

17 Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly
state "No conflict exists."
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a conflict
of interest or the appearance of a conilict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County,

[ No conflict exists.
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b)

(i) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may
create a conflict of mterest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau
County.

| No conflict exists.

(iii) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a
conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No contflict exists.

Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of
interest would not exist for your firm in the future.

| Please see attached Tyler Technologies' Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

1 File(s) Uploaded: Code of Business Conduct & Ethics.pdf

‘Include a resume or detailed descripticn of the Proposer's professiohalﬁqualifica{ioﬁs. demohstréﬁng extensive

experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be
identified.

Have vou previously uploaded the below information under in the Document Vault?
YES NO

Is the proposer an individual?
YES NO [ X | Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i)

i)

Date of formation;
| 03/14/1990 B

Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including
sharehaolders, members, general or limited partner. 1If none, explain.

| Please see attached file titled Stockholder Information 112020.

No individuals with a financial interest in the company have been aitached..

iif)

1 File(s) Uploaded: Stockholder Information 112020.pdf

Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.

| Please see attached file titled Directors and Officers (11.1.20)-

No officers and directors from this company have been aftached.

iv)

v)

vi}

1 File(s) Uploaded: Directors and Officers (11.1.20).docx

| State of incorporation (if applicable);
DE |

The number of employees in the firm;

| 5500 ]

Annual revenue of firm; -
[ 1086427000 |
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vii) Summary of relevant accomplishments
| Please see attached files titled Tyler Technologies Accomplishments and 2019 Annual Report.

2 File(s) Uploaded: 2019 Annual Report.pdf, Tyler Technologies Accomplishments.docx
viii)  Copies of all state and local licenses and permits.

1 File(s) Uploaded: State of New York Business Filing.pdf

B. Indicate number of years in business.
[ 30
C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer's capacity

and reliability to perform these services,

[ Please see attached file titled 2019 Annual Report.

1 File(s) Uploaded: 2019 Annual Report.pdf

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar
services or who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer's capability to perform this work.

Company Wayne County, New York

Contact Person Michael Jankowski, County Clerk

Address 9 Pearl St., PO Box 608

City Lyons State/Province/Territory  NY
Country us

Telephone (315) 946-7470

Fax #

E-Mail Address mjankowski@co.wayne.ny.us

Company City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Contact Person James Leonard, Commissioner

Address 1400 John F. Kennedy Boulevard

City Philadelphia - State/Province/Territory  PA
Country Us

Telephone (215) 686-2261

Fax #

E-Mail Address James.leonard@phila.gov

Company Wayne County, Michigan

Contact Person Bernie Youngbleod, Register of Deeds

Address 2 Woodward Avenue,

City Detroit State/ProvincefTerritory M|
Country Us

Telephone (313) 224-5856

Fax #

E-Mail Address _byoungb@gco.wayne.mi.us
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|, | Abigail Diaz | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, | Abigail Diaz |, hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after
the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information

and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to
enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Name of submitting business: Tvler Technologies, Inc.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Chief Legal Officer

Title
11/20/2020 11:54:49 AM

Date
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On average, Tyler Technologies adds eleven (11) new clients each week and has a ninety-eight percent
{98%) client retention rate.

Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division has in the past five (5) years had zero (0) Appraisal & Tax

Division software clients opt to terminate their relationship with Tyler Technologies for reasons other
than non-appropriation or non-renewal.

In the past five (5) years, five {5) New World Public Safety clients have opted to terminate their
relationship with Tyler for reasons other than non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was

mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party admitting liability. Those clients, and the year in which
the termination took effect, are:

s 2016 ) ' ' )

o Great Falls, MT (remains an EnerGov & NWERP Cuétomer)
o OFallon, IL (remains a Tyler Customer on other software)

o Clayton County, GA {remains a Brazos, e-Filing, Munis and A&T Client)
o Anthony, NM (remains an LGD Customer)

o Sacramento Regional Public Safety Communications Center, CA
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ngular focus has been providing

~ software and technology services to
the public sector. While this remains
our focus, 2019 was a year that
highlighted and amplified the multiple
dimensions of our growing company.

We serve multiple levels of public sector clients,
from local to national. The 2019 acquisition of
MicroPact added federal clients such as NASA
and the Department of Justice to our extensive
roster of municipalities, counties, states and other
government entities.

We engage with multiple levels of technology, from
back-office systems of record that feed, access,
and aggregate data, to process integration with
workflows across systems, to the applications that
provide better access 1o government for community
residents. We provide end-to-end software and
services options designed to accommodate each
client's unique situation, whether they’re moving
from manual processes or already engaged in
advanced digital workflow.

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ARNUAL REPORT 2019 1



We deliver solutions in multiple ways. From

locally installed, client-hosted systems to secure,
reliable cloud-based offerings, we facilitate hosting
environments that work best for our clients,

We envision a dynamic future. Our vision of helping
our clients create connected communities — where
data, processes, and people work together to make
communities safer, smarter, and more responsive

— Is multilayered, with a long-term roadmap

for connecting data between departments and
agencies and across jurisdictions and geographical
boundaries.

Finally, we are accountable to multiple stakeholders,
including public servants, community residents,

our employees, and our shareholders, and we take
our responsibilities to each of these groups very
seriously. :

We empower the people who serve the
public in multiple ways every day. -
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A MESSAGE FROM PRESIDENT & CEO LYNN MOORE JR.

In 2019, Tyler Technologies achieved another year of
double-digit growth and strong financial results, with
significant acquisiticns, powerful research and development
investments, and the major mitestone of realizing more
than $1 billion in revenues for the first time. Cur continued
success validates our strategy of a singular focus of serving
the mission-critical needs of the public sector, backed by a
strong balance sheet and strategic investments that bolster
our market leadership. This singular focus is executed
through multiple dimensions of products and services,

technologies, and markets served.

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2610



Becoming a Billion Dollar Company

In 2019, Tyler achieved fotal GAAP revenues of $1.086 billion, an

- increase of 16.2% from 2018, The fourth quarter of 2019 was cur 33rd
;fué‘;:hcr:l;?g?tu::;m consecutive guarter of double-digit revenue growth. Non-GAAP revenue
increased to $1.091 billion, a 16.1% increase. In addition, organic growth
accelerated in each of the last three quarters of the year.

GAAP net Income for 2019 was $146.5 million, or $3.65 per diluted
" % share, down 0.6%. The decline is primarily due to higher amoriization of
werozse in intangible assets related to acquisitions, Non-GAAP net income for the year
RED investment was $212.6 million, or $5.30 per diluted share, a 10.3% increase.

fn 2019, cash provided from operations rose 1.8% from 2018 o0 $254.7
million; free cash flow declined 4.5%. Our backlog at year's end was
$1.46 billicn, up 18.9% from the previous year's record level. -

cash provided Strong Wm Rates
hy operations
Win rates in 2019 were solrd across aII our solution suites. One notable win

was the largest contract in Tyler hrstory a 10 -year software-as-a-service
(SaaS) arrangement with the state of North Carolina for our Odyssey®
courts stite and e-filing services; valued at approximately $85 million
. and our 1510 statewide Odyssey Contract Anocther major Odyssey SaaS
c subscrrptson with Bexar County, Texas ‘was valued at $20 million.

" Other promrnent 2019 W|ns include:

44 -
ﬁoo\gno’tahto_w '.[.'_Crty of Stockton, California

* A $9.9 millicn contract with Tyler solutions, including Munis® ERP,
' f_-_f Tyter EAM““ {Enterprise Asset Management), ExecuTime™, and Socrata®

EE -'{”:t'.,;DlSti‘ICt of Columbia
- A'$7.7 million Sea$ arrangement for Odyssey court case management

Guilford County, North Carolina
A %5 miliion contract for Munis ERP

Union County Public Schools, North Carolina
A $4.3 million SaaS arrangement for Munis ERP




Minneapolis, Minnesota
A $3.3 million Saa$S contract for iasWorld Tax™

Berks County, Pennsylvania
A $2.9 million contract for iasWorld Tax

Cleveland, Ohio, Municipal Courts
A $2.8 million arrangement for Cdyssey court case management

Ramsay County, Minnesota
A $2.5 million contract with Tyler solutions, including iasWorld Tax and
iasWorld Public Access™ |

Broken Arrow, Oklahoma

A $1.8 million deal with Tyler solutions, including Munis, Tyler EAM,
ExecuTime, and Socraia Open Finance™

The Shift to the Cloud

As the landmark North Carolina and Bexar County contracts mentioned
above suggest, we are seeing a continuing shift to preferencas for our Saas
model as opposed to our licensed, cn-premises model.

In 2019, for the first time, subscription-based arrangements made up
a majority of our new software contract value — 63%. Of our software
revenue, $296 million was from subscriptions and $531 million from
license and maintenance arrangements.

Although the ongoing shift to subscription arrangements creates a near-
term headwind to revenue growth, it provides a long-term opportunity for
significantly higher revenues over the life of a client reiationship. Bookings
growth in 2019 of 32.3% was strong, as we signed 1,109 new software
contracts in 2019, with 54% being subscription arrangements.

Going forward, Tyler remains commitied to meeting our clients” software
needs, whether their preference is for Saa$ or on-premises solutions.

e
“In 2019, for
the first time,
sihscription-based
arrangements made
up a majority of
our new software
coniract values”
hoy

i
=

SOFTWARE REVENUES

subscription
revenue

$531IM

license &
maintenance revenue

NEW CLOUD CONTRACTS

of total contract value of
new software arrangements,
upirom 1% in 2018




Accelerating Our Move to the Cloud Through a New Strategic Parinership

To mere efficiently accommodate our public sector clients who desire
public-cloud-based solutions, Tyler entered into a strategic collaboration
agreement with Amazon Web Services (AWS) in the fourth quarter of 2019,
The agreement deepens our existing relationship, leveraging the AWS cloud
to lay the groundwork for the future of cloud services for the public sector,
As Tyler continues to evolve its applications in response to our clients’
needs, this collaberation will allow clients to deliver better experiences for
citizens and further enable governments to use data as a strategic asset in
the design, management and delivery of programs.

'REVENUE BY

- SOLUTION AREA Strategic Acquisitions

As our 11 acquisitions in the past three years
demonstrate, Tyler is always ready to buiid value

by oppertunistically acquiring strategic assets that
broaden our capabilities, strengthen our competitive
position, and expand our addressable market,

2019 acquisitions include:

MicroPact, which augments cur product solutions
with a versatile, low-code development platform,
positions us in new practice areas, and presents
opportunities to expand across new markets,
including the federal space.

MyCivic™, which elevates our citizen-facing solutions by

® ERP/Financial 445 enabling clients to provide a single app for citizens to
& Courts & ]usﬁ'ce_ 7% interact with their local government in multiple ways.

‘@ Public Safety: 11%

& Appraisal & Tax: 9%

@ Platform Technologies®: §%
& K12 Schools: 4%

& Civic Services: 4%

& Land & Vital Records: 3%

Courthouse Technologies, which enhances our
existing offerings for courts with a SaaS jury
management systems sclution.

*Ingludes Socrata and MicroPact revenue




Growth-Focused Research and Development

In 2019, we saw our second consecutive year of increasing R&D investrment.
Our total R&D spend in 2019 grew by 28.6% to $81.3 millior. We devoted
our increased R&D dollars broadly across our solutions suites, adding new
features and applications that will mest the evolving needs of our clients,
solidify our market leadership, and drive future growth.

Though our increased R&D invastment has created a short-term headwind
to margin expansion, we believe the long-tarm results that new and
enhanced products will realize in the market in the years ahead will
strengthen our ability to compete and succeed, As we move into 2020,

we will continue to invest strategically as opportunities arise; however, we
expect R&D growth to moderate over time, expanding more in line with
revenue growth.

Maintaining a Strong Balance Sheet

We finished 2019 with an extracrdinarily strong balance sheet, giving

us tremendous flexibility to take advantage of cppertunities to build
shareholder value — whethar through internal investments, acquisitions, ot
stock repurchases. As of December 31, 2019, Tyler Technologies had zero
debt, $314 million in cash and investments, and $400 million in available
liguidity from our new revolving credit facility.

Looking Ahead

As | complete my first full year as Tyler's CEQ, I'm honored to work each day
with such a talented and dedicated team. This was a year of milestones for

Tyler, and we pause here to celebrate them — and the Tyler team members '
who make these milestones possible — as we remain focused on finding new
ways to serve the public sector even more effectively n the years ahead. .

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

President & Chief Executive Officer
February 18, 2020

debt

in cash and investments

in available liquidity
from our new revolving
credit facility













Tyler Technologies is the largest software company

focused exclusively on serving the public sector.
Our financial strength, deep expertise, and breadth
of solutions have provided the foundation for steady

growth and market leadership.

TYLER TECHHOGLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2019

11






Dimensions of Experience

With decades of experience exclusively focused con the public sector, Tyleris a
stable presence in a fragmented market. The fact is, we know the public sector
like no one else, ' '

Of our 5,500+ team members, 1 out of 3 has worked.in the public sector.
Tyler has successfully completed 26K+ implementations, across 10K+ locations.

We have public sector clients in all 50 states plus Canada, the Caribbean,
Australia, Europe, and other International locations.

Moreaver, Tyler offers the widest range of sclutions for the public sector, including:

- Appraisal & Tax + Health & Human Services

» Civic Services - Land & Official Records

- Corrections - Public Safety .
« Courts & Justice - Regulatory

- Cybersecurity - Scnoel Financial

- Data & Insights + Student Infarmation

- ERP Financial « Student Transportation

Clients appreciate both the depth of cur exparience and the breadth of our
solutions. Indeed, our client retention rate is 98%.

Tyler Corporate Officers and Operational Leadership

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2019 13



100 fravel-sized toiletry hags were made out
of a recycled banner from the Tyler Connect
2018 user conference, filled with essentials
tonated by employess, and donated to the
Genesis Women's Shelter in Dallas.

14

The Human Dimension

Tyler cares ahout our people.

We were voted a Best Place to Work at locations around the couniry in 2019,
including in the State of Maine, in Troy, Michigan, and in Washington, D.C.
Also in 2019, Tyler was named to Forbes Best Midsized Emplayers list and to
Forbes Best Employers for Diversity as well.

Qur people care about their communities.

Tyler employeas support many local community efforts. Examples include
supporting families in need, feeding the hungty, and funding STEM aducation
for at-risk children, :

In 2019, our employess volunteered 4,000+ hours in community service,
and fundraised ovar $30,000,

Tyler employees alsc donated:
- 10,000+ palrs of socks for the homeless
+ 1,000+ pounds of non-perishable food for low-incame, homeless
or other in-need individuals
- 500+ pounds of dog food for pets in need
+ Hundreds of holiday gifis for underprivileged youths
- Hundreds of meais for low income, homeless ar other in-need individuals

As a company, Tyler supports community causes.

Over the past five years, Tyler Foundation charitable contributions have
totaled $1.27M.

In 2019, the company's efforts included Tyler Foundation's $372,500 in
monetary donations, Including disaster relief.

Also in 2019, Tyler donated both software and time to Boih Ends Belisving,
Tyler's nonprofit partner benefiting children in institutional care.
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Tyler’'s market leadership puts us in a unigue position to take

a long-term view on how to serve our public sector clients in
better and broader ways in the years ahead, while we continue
to grow. Tyler builds shareholder value through investments in
research and development that allow us to improve and expand
our solutions; through strategic acquisitions that broaden our
capabilities and expand our addressable markets; and by the

opportunistic repurchasing of Tyler stock.



Deepening Our Capabilities Through Acquisitions

2018 Acquisitions

Socrata

Sage Data Security
CaseloadPRO™
MobileEyes™
SceneDoc™

2019 Acquisition Details

2019 Acquisitions
MicroPact

MyCivic

Courthouse Technologies

B a

R TG TEY

BOURTHOUSER@sS o
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Developing New Dimensions Through R&D

R&D [nvestment

iz
Bkl

963N (+34%)

$81M (+29%)

2nd consecutive year of racord R&D investment

Tyler's 2019 R&D investment was:

- Focused across all product suites

- Oriented toward long-term growth

- Improving existing products

- Developing new products

- Integrating preducts from acquired companies
- Broadening our addrassable market




Tylar's R&D investmenis
R&D Impact Snapshot span alf our sclutions,

including these optimized for
schools and public safety.

Tyler acquires New World Systems, a public safety
solutions provider 1o mid-market clients

Significant R&D devoted to product roadmap strategy,

support for positioning to compete in larger jurisdictions, and
integration with cther Tyler solutions, including jails, court case
management, and a-citations

Adding featuras and functicnality in computer dispatch, record
management, and mobility solutions

Product enhancements lead te larger contracts and higher win rates

Crlando, Florida, first Tier 1 client (1 million+- 911 calls per year),
goes live with New World public safety solution

TYLER TECHHOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ].9






Our vision is to help create connected communities that
use technology to seamlessly connect data, people, and
processes across department and geographic boundaries.
Realizing this vision depends on a digital infrastructure

of multi-layered, cloud-based solutions, and requires

state-of-the-art security, systems, and protocols.

!

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2].



Connecting Through Technology

We have continued work on Tyler's citizen portal, a single point for digital services
for community residents from their local governments. Using a single login

and a shared profile provided by Tyler Identity™, citizens receive personalized
experiences that span jurisdictional and geographic koundaries, either from the
web or a mobile device. Citizens can sign up to receive notifications via SMS

or email when bills are due or licenses need renewing, when imgportant events
are happening in their city, or when issues are impacting their nelghborhood. A
shared shopping cart and checkout experience make it easy to securely transact
businass with their local government,

Tyler's Virtual Court™ application will help ¢itizens stay connected to their
government on thelr schedule. Rather than go to the courthouse to deal with &
traffic ticket, constituents can now have their case adjudicated online from the
comfort of their home or business. Using integrated video conferencing and
document sharing, defendants can work with a judge and clerk in real time,
onling, from the web or a mobile device. Any resulting fines and fees can be pald
immediately using the online payment system provided by the application.

The Tyler Nexus™ initiative simplifies processes comimonly executed by local
governments by connecting related business funciions required in public
administration. By sharing data and streamlining processes across previously
silced departments, clients are able to more efficiently manage important
services that citizens expect. The Nexus initiative has brought focus and
improved connections between Munis, EnerGov™, and Tyler EAM, offering
seamless connacticns In critical processes such as streamlined citizen
engagement, integrated asset management, and comprehensive collections
functions, Additicnally, the Nexus initiative has prioritized development efforts
that support the land development process by bringing together recording, tax,
and planning and permiiting to support data sharing in typically distinct areas
of city and county government. In additicn to streamlining woriflow across
Tyler products, the Nexus inftiatives continue to drive innovation and new
development efforts such as Tyler Hub™, Tyler ldentity and Socrata applications,
zll designed to enhanca usability and unify client experience across products.



The Tyler Alliance™ initiative continues to make progress on cur ‘dispatch-
to-disposition” goals for data and process sharing. Investments in Tyler
Corrections™ provide a link between the New World public safety suite of
dispatch and records applications and Tyler Supervision™ and Odyssey
applications, seamlessly sharing data and business processes across these
typically siloed departments and domains.

Tyler is also investing in connecting data and insights products with ail Tyler
solution areas, creating analytical capzbilities across public safety, appraisal

and tax, and ERP domains that help precmote better data-driven decision
making. Built on the Socrata platform, these out-of-the-box solutions can be
deployed quickly and easily and provide users with a data- and visualization-rich
experience that helps them focus on improved cutcomes in policing, property
taxes, and financial management areas, '

In addition to a company-wide developmeant effort supporting cur Cannected
Communities vision, developars continue to engineer and enhance our core
applications. These include features to help clients manage assets, optimize
performance, and improve the user experience. We also continue to better
position our products for cloud-friendly implementations.

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Forming Powerful Partnerships

Cloud-based solutions can provide a number of benefits for public sector clients,
including always up-to-date technology, continuous delivery, and business
continuity in the event of natural disaster or other unexpected svents.

As we see a clear trend in increasing client preference for cloud solutions,
Tyler's cloud strategy continues to evolve in response to market forces and
client needs.

To support cloud-based public sector solutions going forward, Tyler announced
olur strategic collaboration with Amazon Web Services (AWS) in 2019.

Qur agreement with AWS provides an enhanced framework for cngoing aWS partner
development, training and collaboration. We will be able to provide even stronger 7 network
sarvice to our clients, as we support next-generation applications with superior

scalability, resiliency and security.

I their gaernment.
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Supporting Security

Ransomware, cyberattacks and other security threats are on the rise
for the public sector.

In 2019, to better address growing public sector security needs, we introduced
Tyler Cybersecurity™, formerly Sage Data Security (acquired in 2018).

Tyler Cybersecurity offers the public sector:

« Tyler Detect™, our managed threat detection service
« Program development

- Education and tralning

- Technology testing and assessment

- Advisory services

+ Digital forensics

Securing Qur Solulions

With a constantly changing landscape of cybersecurity
challenges, Tyler takes a continual improvement
approach to managing product security, including

its cloud-based applications, Tyler has a full-time
application security team dedicated to confinuously
raviewing and enhancing the security posture of Tyler's
products. Tyler uses enterprise-level dynamic and
static security scanning tools as part of our sofiware
development lifecycle. in addition to scanning toals,
Tyler's application security team executes manual
assessments on Tyler products using a testing
methodology based upon the OWASP (Open Web
Application Security Project) Testing Framework.

26



Focusing Our Efforts

Tyler consolidated its security efforts under a newly organized [nformation
Security Office in 2019 to monitor internal security Infrastructure, improve
processes, and consult with product security teams.

Security measures can be organized into four major categeries of control:

1. Administrative Information security begins when a company organizes itself
to emphasize security and ensure human resource processes are in place to
help facilitate security. Tyler's human resource praciices are designed and
implemented to support the security of company and client data.

2. Physical Access The time-tested basics of locked doors and physically secure
facilities should not be overlooked in faver of relying only on technology. Tyler
invests in secure data centers and associated praclices.

3. Logical Access Tyler’s software is designed and built with authentication,
authorization, and accountability in mind. The software includes robust
controls to secure access to cllent data.

4. Secure Architecture Tyler's secure network architecture hosts solutions that
are secured through a layered series of barriers and monitoring tools that
are designed to detect and defeat unauthorized attempts to reach client
data. Tyler administers multiple conirols through secure portals for clients,
managed coding praciices, source code controls, applied industry standards,
and continual review and monitoring.

Applying Standards

Local governments are increasingly adopting more rigorous security standards
such as FedRAMP, even though FedRAMP standards were developed by and for
federal implementations. Two Tyler solutions meet stringent FedRAMP federal
security assessment, authorization, and continuous monitoring standards for
cloud products used by federal agencies:

- Socrata, a data and insights sojution

- Entellitrak, a case management solution

While FedRAMP requirements were intended for federal contracts, both of these

Tyler products are available to clients at all levels of government.

Tyler is vigilant abeut security in all areas of our business.

TYLER TECHHOLBGLIES ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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For Tyler, our most important
partnership is with our public sector
clients, allowing us to work together
to make government more responsive
to citizens everywhere,

We never waver from our singular
focus on serving the public sector.

We continually look to deepen
the muitiple dimensions we use
to empower the people who serve
the public. o







Recenciliation of GAAP to NON-GAAP Financial Measures (Unaudited)

{fn thousands, except per share data}

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

RECONGCILIATION OF NON-GARP TOTAL REVENUES
GAAP total revenues $935,282 $340,89% $759,880 $591,022
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Add: Write-downs of acquisition-related deferred revenue 4,000 663 15,083 3,186

Add: Amortization of acquired leases 426 434 444 37
Non-GAAP total revenues $939,708 $842,006 $775,387 $594,245
REGONGILIATION OF NON-GARP GROSS PROFIT AND MARGIN
GAAP gross profit $439,578 $399,377 $359,188 $277,187
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Add: Write-downs of acquisition-related deferrad revenue 4,000 663 15,063 3,186

Add: Amortization of acquired leases 426 a4 444 37

Add: Share-based compensation expense included in cost of revenues 13,088 9,415 6,548 3,380

Add: Amortization of acquired software 22,972 21,686 22,235 4,440
Non-GAAP gross profit $430,564 $431,585 $403478 $288,230
GAAP gross margin 47.0% 47.5% 47.3% 16.9%
Non-GAAP gross margin 51.1% 51.3% 52.0% 48.5%
RECONCILIATION OF NOM-GAAP OPERATING INCOME AND MARGEN
GAAP operating income $152,492 $ 162,758 $137,655 $108,043
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Add: Write-downs of acquisition-refated deferred revenue 4,000 663 15,063 3,186

Add: Amortization of acquired leases 426 444 A44 37

Add: Share-based compensation expanse 52,740 37,348 29,747 20,182

Add: Employer portion of payrall tax refated to employee stock transactions 1,412 1,102 1,001 1,508

Add: Acquisition-related costs - - - 5,875

Add: Amattization of acquired seftware 22472 71,686 22235 4,440

Add: Amartization of custemer and trade name intangiblas 16,217 13,381 13,202 5,905
Mon-GAAP adjuskments subtotal $ 97,767 $ 74,624 $ 81692 $ 41,131
Hon-GAAP operating income $250,259 $237,382 $219,348 $149,174
GAAP operating. margin 16.3% 19.4% 18.1% 18.3%
Non-GARP operating margin 2646% 28.2% 28.3% 25.1%
REGOMEILIATION OF NON-GAAP NET INCOME AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
GAAP st income $147.462 $ 169,571 $113,701 $ 64,869
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Add: Total non-GAAP adjustments to operating income 97,767 74,624 81,692 41,131

Less: Tax impact related te non-GAAP adjusiments (52,464) (89,440 {56,045) {13,318)
Non-GAAP net income $192,765 $154,755 $135348 § 92,682
GARP earnings per diluted share $ 368 $ 43 $ 29 $ 177
Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share $ 480 P 3w $ 358 $ 254
DETAIL OF SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE
Cost of software sarvices, maintenance and subscriptions $ 13,588 $ 9415 $ 6548 $ 3,380
Selling, general and administrative expenses 39,152 27,933 23,199 16,802
Total share-hased compensation expense $ 52740 $ 37348 $ 29,747 $ 20,182
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- Stock Market Data

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Fxchange under the symbot “TYL.” At December 31, 2019, we had approximately 1,216

shareholders of record, Most of our shareholders hold their shares in street name; therefore, there are substantially more than 1,215 beneficial
owners of our common stock,

The following table shows, for the calendar periods indicated, the high and low sales price per share of our comman stock as reported on the
New York Stock Exchange.

High Low

2018 First Quarter $214.33 $176.93

Second Quarter 240.35 20191

Third Quatter 25247 219,59

Fourth Quarter 246,62 173.26
2019 First Quarter

Second Quarter

Thizd Ouarter

Fourth Guarter

We did not pay any cash dividends In 2013 or 2018, Our bank credit agreement contains restrictions on the payment of cash dividends. We intend
to relain earings for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foresseable future.
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Selaected Financial Data

Years Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2077 kel 2016w 2013

{In theusands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues

$ 935,282 $ 840,899 $ 759,880 $ 591,022
Cost and expensas:

Cost of revenues 485,704 441,522 400,692 313,835
Selling, general and administrative axpenses 207,605 175,914 165,176 133,317
Research and development expense 63,264 47,324 43,154 29,922
Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles 16,217 13,381 13,202 5,905
(Opeyating income 152,452 162,758 137,656 108,043
QOther income, nat 31378 698 {1,998) 381
Income befare income faxes 155,870 163,456 135,658 108,424
Income tax {benefit) provision {¢) $ 8408 $ 6115 $ 21957 § 43,555
Net income 147,462 169,571 113,701 64,869
Met earnings per diluted share $ 368 $ 43 $ 2% $ L7
Weighted average diluted shares 40123 39,246 38,961 36,552

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS DATA:

Cash flows provided by aperating activities $ 250,203 $ 195755 $ 191,859 $ 134327

Cash flows used by investing activities (238,255) (85,395) (50,7280 (398,459)
Cash flows {used) provided by financing activities (63,595) 35415 138,075 91,052
BALANGE SHEET DATA:

Total assefs $1,790,963 $1,611,351 $1,378,507 $1,356,570

Revolving line of credit

— — 10,000 56,000
1,324,846 1,191,738 534,540 858,857

Shareiolders® equity

{a) Reflects the impact of the adoption of Accounting Standards Update {"ASU") ASU Na. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842") in fiscal year 2019. Refer to Note - 1
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for further discussion.

(bY Refiects the impact of the adoption of ASU No. 2014-03, Revenue from Contracts with Customers in fiscal year 2018,

¢} 2017 includes the significant impact of the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jabs Act {*Tax Acl”}. The most significant impact of the Tax Act to us is the reduction in
the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. The impact of the rate reduction on our 2017 income tax provision is a $26.0 million tax benefit due to
the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, -
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result_s of Operations

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical informatien, this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, The forward-looking statements are made in
reliance upan safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigetion Reform Act of 1995, The forward-looking statements are subject o
cettain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materlally from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. Readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management's opinion only as of the date hereof,
We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-locking statements, Readers should
carefully review the risk factors described in documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission,

When used in this Annual Report, the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “foresees,” "forecasts," "estimates,” “plans,” “intends,”
“continues," “may,” "will," “should,” “projects,” "might,” “could” or other similar words or phrases are intended to identify forward-looking
staterments, Similarly, statements that describe cur business strategy, outlock, objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are forward-looking
staternents.

non

OVERVIEW
General

We provide integrated information management scluticns 2nd services for the public sector, with a focus on local governments, We develop and
market a broad line of software products and services to address the IT needs of cities, counties, schools and other local government entities. In
addition, we provide professional IT services to our clients, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training and for certain
clients, product modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support for clients using our systems. We also provide subscription-
based services such as software as a service {"5aaS"), which primarily utilize the Tyler private cloud, and electronic document filing solutions
{"e-filing"}, which simplify the filing and management of court related documents. Revenues for e-filing are derived from transaction fees and, in
some cases, fixed fee arrangements. Other transaction-based fees primary relate to online payment services. We also pravide property appraisal
outscurcing services for taxing jurisdictions,

Our products generally automate eight major functionai areas: (1) financial management and education, {2) courts and justice, (3) public safety,
(4) property appraisal and tax, (5) planning, regulatory and maintenance, (6) land and vital records imanagement, (7} data and insights and (8)
case management and business process management, We report our results in two segments. The Enterptise Software (“€5") segment provides
public sector entities with software systems and services to meet thair information technology and automation needs for mission-critical “back-
office” functions such as: financial management and education, courts and justice, public safety, planning, regulatory and maintenance, land
and vital records management, data and insights and case management and business management processes. The Appraisal and Tax ("A&T"}
segment provides systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal properly as well as property appraisal
outsourcing services for [ocal governments and taxing authorities, Property appraisal outsourcing services include: the physical Inspection

of commercial and residential properties; data collection and processing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of tax rolls;
comimunity education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction.

Our total employee count increased to 5,368 at Dacember 31, 2019, from 4,525 at December 31, 2018.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, tofal revenues increased 16% compared to the prior year. Excluding the impact of
acquisitions, total revenues increased 8% compared to prior year, Revenues from acquisitions contributed 8% of growth for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2019,

Subscriptions revenue grew 34% for the twelve months ended Dacember 31, 2019, due {o a gradual shift toward cloud-hased, software as a
service business, as well as continued strong growth in our e-filing revenues from courts and other iransaction-based revenues. Fxcluding the
impact of acquisitions, subscriptions revenue increased 26% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019,

Qur backlog at December 31, 2019 was $1.45 billion, a 17% increase from last year.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Recent Acquisitions

On October 30, 2019, we acquired certaln assets of Courthouse Technologies, Ltd (“CHT"}, an industry-leading provider of jury management
systems that offers a fully Integrated, end-to-end software-as-a-service (SaaS) solution to manage all facets of juror management, from source
list generation to jurer processing and payment, The total purchase prica was approximately $20.5 million of which $19.1 million was paid in
cash and approximately $1.4 million was accrued for working capital and indeminity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments,

On February 28, 2019, we acquirad ali of the capital stock of MP Holdings Parent, Inc. dba MicroPact {"MicroPact™), a leading provider of
commercial off-the-shelf ("COTS") solutions, including Entellitrak, a low-code application develepment platform for case management and
businiess process management used extensively in the public sector. The tofal purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.0 million, was
approximately $202.2 million consisting of $198.2 million paid In cash and accrued contingent consideration of $6.0 million, sublect to the
achievement of certain financial performance cbjectives,

On February 1, 2019, we acquired all the assets of Civic, LLC ("MyClvic"), & company that provides software soluticns to connect communities,
The total purchase price was $3.7 million in cash.

As of December 31, 2019, the purchase price allocations for MicroPact and MyCivic are complete. As of December 31, 2019, the purchase
price allocation for CHT is not yet complete, therefore the preliminary valuation estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisition date mcludmg
intangible assets, receivables and deferred ravenue are subject to change as the valuation is finalized.

The operating results of all 2019 acquisitions are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since their date

of acquisition. Revenues from MicroPact included in Tyler's resulis of operations totaled approximately $63.0 million and the net loss was
approximately $98,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019. The impact of the MyCivic and CHT acguisitions, individually and in
the aggregate, on our operating results, assets and liabilities is not material.

Out balance sheet as of December 31, 2019, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired based on their fair valua at the
date of each acquisition. The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level lll, unobservable inputs that are
supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

We monitor and analyze several key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating
performance. These indicators include the following:

Revenues — We derive our revenues from five primary sources; sale of software licenses and royatties; subscription-based arrangemants;
software services; mainienance; and appraisal services, Subscriptiens and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources and
comptrised approximately 67% of our revenue in 2019, The number of new Saa$ clients and the number of existing clients who convert from
our traditional software arrangements to cur SaaS model are a significant driver to our business, together with new software ticense sales
and maintenance rate increases. In addition, we also moniter eur custormer base and churn as we historically have experienced very low
customer turnover. During 2019, based on our number of customers, urnover was approximately 2%.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins — Our primary cost component is personnel expenses in cannection with providing software
implementation, subscription-based services, maintenance and support, and appraisal services to our clients. We can improve gross margins
by controlling headcount and related costs and by expanding our revenue base, especially from those products and services that produce
incremental revenue with minimal incremental cost, such as software ficenses and royalties, subscription-based services, and maintenance
and support, Qur appraisal projects are cyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short-ferm basis to coincide with
the life of a project. As of December 31, 2019, our total employee count Increased to 5,368 from 4,525 at December 31, 2018,

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A™} Expenses —— The primary components of SG&A expenses are administrative and

sales personnel salaries and commissions, share-based compensation expense, marketing expense, rent and professional fees. Sales
commissions typically fluctuate with revenues and share-based compensation expense generally increases as the market price of our stock
increases. Other administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than revenues.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Liquidity and Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flows is net income. Uses of cash inciude acquisitions, capital investments in
propeﬁy and eguipment and discretionary purchases of treasury stock. Cur working capital needs are fairly stable throughout the year with
the significant components of cash outflows being payment of personnel expenses offset by cash inflows representing collection of accounts
receivable and cash receipts from clients in advance of revenue being eared. In recent years, we have also receivad significant amounts of
cash fram employees exercising stock options and contributing to cur Employee Stock Purchase Plan,

Balance Sheet — Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and deferred revenue balances are important indicators of our
business, '

Adoption of New Lease Accounting Standard

We adopted Topic 842 using the transition method that allows us to initially apply the guidance at the adoption date of January 1, 2019,

and recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of refained earnings in the period of adoption. We used the package

of practical expedients that allows us to not reassess: (1) |ease classification for any expired ar existing leases and (2) initial direct costs for

any expired or existing leases. We did not elect to use the hindsight application for evaluating the life of lease arrangements. The impact of
adoption is reflected in the financial informaticn herein. For additional details, see Note 1 - "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our
consolidated financial statements in this report.

The impact of Topic 842 on cur consolidated balance sheet beginning January 1, 2019, included the recognition of righi-of-use (*ROU*Y assets
and lease liabilities for operating leases, while oui accounting for finance leases remained substantially unchanged. We had no flnance leases
prior ta the adoption of Topic 842 and currently do not have any.

Recent Accounting Guidance net yet Adopted

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, ("ASU 2016-13"}. ASU 2016-13 changes the impairmeant
mode! for most financial assets and certain other instruments, including trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities and loans,
and reguires entities to use a new forward-locking expected [oss model that will result in the earlier recognition of allowance for losses. This
update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted for a fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that fiscal year. Entities will apply the standard's
provisions as a cumulative-effact adjustmant to refained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is
adopted. We will adopt the new standard in the first quarter of 2020 and believa the impact on our consolidated financial stataments and results
of operations will not be material.

Qutlook

The local government software market continues to be active, and our backlog at December 31, 2019 reached $1.46 billion, a 17% increase
from last year. We expect fo continue to achieve solid growth in revenue and earnings. With our strong financial position and cash flow, we plan
to continue to make significant investrents in product development to better position us to continue to expand our addressable market and
strengthen our competitive position in the public sector software market over the jong term.

CRITICAL AEGOUNTING POLIGIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and resulls of aperations is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAFPY). The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial staternents,
the reparted amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and expenses during the raporting period, and related disclosure of contingancies. The
Netes fo the Financial Statements included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting pelicies used in the preparation of
the financial statements. Significant tems subject to such estimates and assumptions include the application of the progress toward completion
methods of revenue recognition, estimated standalone seliing price (*SSP") for distinet performance obligations, the carrying amount and
estimated useful lives of intangible assets, determination of share-based compensation expense and valuation allowance for receivables. We
base our estimates on histoiical experience and cn varlous other assumpticns that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabllities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions ar conditions.



Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We believe the following critical accounting policies require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statemants,

Revenue Recognition. We earn revenue from software licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software services, post-contract customer
support ("PCS" or "maintenance”), hardware, and appraisal services, Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised preducts

or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. We
determine revenue recagnition through the following steps:

+ Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

+ |dentification of the performance obligations in the contract

« Determination of the transaction price

+ Allocation of the transaction price to the performance cbligations in the contract
+ Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Most of our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses, installation,
training, and consuling to software modification and customization to meet specific custormer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. for these
contracts, we account for individual performance otligations separately when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate performance
abligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one performance obligation. Arrangements that include software services, such as
training or installation, are evajuated to determine whether the customer can benefit from the services either on their own or together with other
resources readily available to the customer and whather the services are separately identifiabie from other promises in the contract. Many of

our software arrangaments involve “off-the-shelf” sofiware.-We recognize the revenue allocable to "off-the-shelf” software licenses and specified
upgrades at a point in time when contral of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software Is not considered distinct, We
consider off-the-shelf software to b distinct when it can be added to an arrangemenit with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used
by the customer for the customer's purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent
or highly interrelated to the product’s functionality,

For arrangements that invalve significant producticn, modification or customization of the software, or where software services are otherwise
nat considered distinct, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarlly
using labor houss incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control fo the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These
arrangements are often implemented over an extended pericd and occasionally require Us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized
in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changss to
total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded
in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent. When scftwars services are distinct, the fee allocable to the service elemant is
recogrized over the time we perform the services and is billed cn a time and material or milesiones basis.

Subscription-based services consist of ravenues derived from 5aaS arrangements, which primarily utilize the Tyler private cloud, and electronic
filing transactions, Revenue from subscription-based services is generally racognized over ime on a ratable basis over the contract term,
beginning on the date that cur service is made available to the customer, For Saa$ arrangemants, we evaluate whether the customer has the
contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without significant penalty and whether the custornar
can feasibly maintain the software on the customer’s hardware or enter into ancther arrangement with a third-party to host the software, We
allocate contract value o each performance obligation of the arrangement that qualtfies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated
SSP We recognize Saa$ arrangements ratably over the term of the arrangement, which range from one to ten but are typically for a period of
three to five years. For software services associated with certain Saa$ arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and
we recognize the revenue ratably cver the remaining contractual period once we have provided the custormer access to the software. We record
amounts that have heen invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue racognition
criteria have been met.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performanca obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall
pricing objectives, taking Into consideration maiket canditions and cther factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold,
customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our coniracts. We use a range of amountis to estimate SSP when we sell
each of the preducis and services separately and naed to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the
various products and services. [n instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service separately,
we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes
collected from customers, which are subseguently remitied to governmental autharities.
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Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise 1o variable consideraticn, However, in those instances whereby variable
consideration exists, we include in our estimates additicnal revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the
amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

We maintain allowances for doubfful accounts, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized. Since most of our customers are
domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resufting from credit risk associated with the inability of a customer to make requirad
payments. Events or changes in circurmnstances that indicate that the carrying amount for the allowances for doubtful accounts may require
revision include, but are not limited to, deterioration of a customer’s financial condition, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding
the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software products. The allowance for
doubtful accounts reflects our best estimate of probable losses inberent in the aceounts receivable balance. We determine the allowance based
on known troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently available evidence.

In connection with certain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisiing of costs and estimated
profit in excess of billings as of the balance sheet date. Many of the contracts which give tise to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet
date are subject to billings in the subsequent accounting period. We review unbilled receivables and related coniract provisions to ensure

we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to billing the customer and that we have objective evidence which allows us to recognize such
revenue. In addition, we have a sizable amount of deferred revenue, which represents hillings in excess of revenue earned. The majority of

this liability consists of maintenance billings for which payments are made in advance and the revenue is ratably earned over the maintenance
period, generally one year, We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we receive a depesit and the conditions in which to
record revenue for the service or product have not been met. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred
revenue to ensure our accounting remains apprepriate.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill. Our business acquisitions typically result in the creation of goodwill and cther intangible asset balances, and
these balances affect the amount and timing of future peried amortization expense, as well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an
impairment charge. The cost of acquired companies is allccated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets based on estimated fair valua, with
the excess allocated to goodwlll. Accordingly, we have a significant balance of acquisition date intangible assets, inciuding software, custormer
related intangibles, trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangible assets (other than goodwill) are amortized over their estimated usaful
fives, We currently have na intangible assets with indefinite lives other than goodwill,

We assess goadwill for impairment annually as of April 1st, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its
carrying value may not be racoverable. We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's

fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment described below. When testing goodwilt for impairment
quantitatively, we first compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unil exceeds
its fair value, a second step is performed to measure the amount of potential impairment. In the second step, we compare tha implied falr value
of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill. if the carrying amount of reporiing unit goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are defermined using
discounted cash flow models involving several assumptions. The assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical
marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates oh assumptions we believe to be reaschable’

but that are unpredictable and inharently uncertain, We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by
comparing the total of the falr value of ali of our reporting units to our total market capitalization. Cur annual goodwill impairment analysis, which
we performed qualitatively during the second quarter of 2019, did not result in an impairment charge. During 2019, we did not identify any
triggering events that would require an update to our annual impairment review,

All intangible assets (other than goodwill} are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable, Recoverability of other intangible assets is measured hy comparison of the carrying amount to
estimated undiscounted future cash flows. The assessment of recoverability or of the estimated useful life for amortization purpeses will be
affected if the timing or the amount of estimated future operating cash fiows is not achieved. Such indicators may include, among others: a
significant decline in expected future cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market capitalization; a significant adverse
change in legal factors or in the business climate; unanticipated competition; and reductions in growth rates. In addition, products, capabilities,
or technelogies develeped by others may render our software products obsclete or non-competitive. Any adverse change in these factors could
have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or other intangible assets. During 2019, we did not identify any triggering events that
would indicate that the carrving amount of our intangible assets may not be recoverable.
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Share-Based Compensation. We have a stock incentive plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units and performance
stock units to key employees, directors and non-employee consuliants, We estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant.
Share-based compensation expense includes the estimated effects of forfeltures, which will be adjusted over the requisite service period to the
extent actual forfeitures differ or are expected to differ ftom such estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognized in the period of change
and will also impact the amount of expense to be recognized In future perlods. Forfeitute rate assumptions are derived from historical data.

We estimate stock price volatility at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our common steck. Estimated option life is determined
using the weighted-average period the stock options are expected to be cutstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting ferms, remaining
contractual life and the employees’ expected exercise based on historical patterns. Determining the appropriate fairvalue model and calculating
the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date requires considerable judgment, including estimating steck price volatility, expected
option life and forfeiture rates.

ANRLYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER

The fallowing discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017:

Percentage of Total Revenuas

Years Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Revenues
Software licenses and royalties 10.0% 10.3%
Subscriptions 236 205
Software services 205 215
Maintenance 411 12.6
Appraisal services 23 30
Hardwara and other 25 2.1
Tatal revenues: 100.0 100.0
(perating expenses:
Cost of seftware licenses, royalties and acquired software: 29 30
Cost of software services, maintenance and subscriptions 8.9 46.1
GCost of appraisal services 15 19
Cost of hardware and other 17 1.5
Selling, generai and administrative expenses 222 20.8
Research and development expense 68 56
Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles 1.7 1.6
Operating income 163 184
Other inceme, nat 0.4 0.1
Income before inceme taxes 16.7 195
tncome tax {benefit} provision 49 0.7}
Net income 158% 202%
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2019 COMPARED TO 2018
Revenues

On February 28, 2019, we acquired all of the capital stock of MicroPact, a leading provider of COTS solutions, including Entellitrak, a low-code
application development platform for case management and business process management used extensively in the public sector. The following
table details revenue for MicroPact for the period presented as of December 31, 2019, which is included in our consolidated statements of
income from the date of acquisition:

2019

Revenues

Software licenses and royalties:

Subscriptions

Software semvices

Maintenance

Appraisal services

Hardware and cther

Total revenues:

M,V L8

On October 30, 2019, we acguired certain assets of CHT, an industry-leading provider of jury management systems that offers a fully integrated
end-to-end SaaS solution to manage all facets of juror management, from source list generation to juror processing and payment. On February
1, 2019, we acquired ali the assets of MyCivic, a company that provides software solutions to connect communities, The impact of the CHT
and MyCivic acquisitions on our operating rasults is not considered materlal, individually and in the aggregate, and is not included in the table
ahove. The results of the MicroPact, CHT and MyCivic acquisitions are included with the operating results of the ES segment from their dates
of acquisition. For comparative purposes, we have provided explanations for changes in operations to exclude resutts of eperations for these
acquisitions noting the exclusion.

Software licenses and royalties,

The following table sefs forth a comparisen of our software licenses and royalties revenue for the years ended Dacember 31:

Change
($ in thousands) 2018 $ %
ES 483,735 $ 8,832 1%
AT 9,706 - - (2,068) 21}
Total software licenses and royalties revenue $93,441 $ 6,764 7%

Excluding the impact of acquisitions, software licenses and royaliies revenue decreased 2% compared to prior year. The decline was primarily
due to a shift in the mix of new software contracts teward more subscription agreements compared 1o the prior year, Our total new contract
value mix in 2019, was approximately 37% perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 63% subscription-based arrangaments
compared to total new contract value mix in 2G18, of approximately 59% perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 41%
subsecription-hased arrangements,

Although the mix of new contracis between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from quarter to quarter and year
to year, we expect our longer-term software license growth rate to be negatively impacted by a growing number of customers choosing cur
subscription-based options, rather than purchasing the software under a traditional perpetual software license arrangement. Subscription-hased
arrangements resultin lower software license revenue in the initial year as compared fo perpetual software license arrangemenis but generate
higher overall revenue aver the ferm of the coniract.
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Subscriptions.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
( in thousands) 2019 2018 $ %
ES $ 210,740 $74,352 35%
AKT 9,807 1,453 15
Total subseription revenue $ 220,547 $75,805 34%

Subscription-based revenue primarily consists of revenue darived from our SaaS arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private
cloud. As part of our subscription-based sarvices, we also provide electrenic document filing solutions (“e-filing"} that simplify the filing and
management of court related documents for courts and law offices. E-fillng revenue is derived from fransaction fees and fixed fee arrangements.

Excluding the results of acquisitions, subscription-based revenue increased 26% compared to 2018, New SaaS clients as well as existing
clients who converted to cur Saa$S model provided the majority of the subscription revenue increase, In 2019, we added 596 new Saas clients
and 78 existing clients elected to convert to our Saa$ model. Also, e-filing services contributed approximately $7.0 million of the subseription
revenue increase in 2019, The increase in e-flling revenue is attributed to new e-filing clients, as well as increased volumes as the result of
several existing clients mandating e-filing,

Software services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software services revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
(§ in thousands) 2018 2018 $ %
ES $ 166,921 $18,971 11%
AT 24,348 2,821 12
Total software services revenue $ 191,269 $21,792 11%

Saftware services revenue primarily consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our software, converting client
data, training client personnel, custom development activities and consulting. New clients who purchase our proprietary software licenses or
subscriptions generally alse contract with us to provide for the related software services, Existing clients also periodically purchase additional
training, consulting and minor programming services. Excluding the results of acquisitions, software services ravenue grew 0.4% compared
to the prior year period. The slight increase is due to higher new contract volume and the addition of professional services staff to grow our
capacity to deliver backlog. Excluding emplcyees added with acquisitions, cur implementation and support staff has grown by 232 employees
since December 31, 2018,

Maintenance.

The following table sets forth a comparison of aur malntenance revenue for the years ended December 31:

Ghangs
{§ in thousands) 2018 $ %
ES $ 359,904 $ 45,159 13%
A&T 24,817 638 3
Total maintenance revenue $ 384,521 $45,797 12%
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We provide maintenance and support services for our software products and certaln third-party software. Excluding the results of acquisitions,
maintenance revenue grew 4% compared to the prior year, Maintenance and support revenue increased mainly due to growth In our instalied
customer base from new software license sales as well as annual maintenance rate increases, partially offset by clients converting from on-
premises license arrangements to SaaS.

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services ravenue for the years ended December 31;

Change
($ in thousands) - 2019 2018 $ %
ES $ — $ — —%
AT 21,846 1,633 7
Total appraisal services revenue $ 21,346 $ 1,633 7%

In 2019, appraisal services revenue increased 7% compared to the prior year primarily due to the addition of several new revaluation contracts
started during the second quarter of 2019. The appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation
cycles in various states.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenuas for the years ended December 31:

Change

{$ in thausands) 2019 218 3 %
Software licenses and royalties $ 3802 136 4%
Acquired software 22972 1610 33
Software services, maintenance and subseriptions 138,923 63,215 14
Appraisal services 14,299 1,038 7
Hardware and other 15,708 1,764 11

Total cost of revenues $495704 $ 73,82 15%

The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by ravenue type for the years ended December 31:

Gross margin percentage 2019 2018 Change
Software licenses, royalties and acquired software 3% {5.8)%
Software services, maintenance and subscriptiens 449 L7
Appraisal services 34.5 0.2
Harchware and other 334 {9.,5)
QOverall gross margin 47.0% 0.6 %
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Software licenses, royalties and acquired software. Cost of software licenses, royalties and acquired software is primarily comprised of
amortization expense for acquired software and third-party software costs. We do not have any direct costs associated with royalties, The gross
margin decrease of 5.8% is due to an increase in amortization expense for acguired software resulting from acquisitions completed in the last
haif of 2018 and in 2019,

Software services, maintenance and subscriptions. Cost of software services, maintenance and subscriptions primarily consists of personngl
costs related to installation of our software, conversion of client data, fraining client personnel and support activities and various other services
such as customn client development and on-going operaticn of Saas and efiling arrangements. In 2019, the software services, malntenance and
subscriptions gross margin increased 1.7% compared to the prier year, Excluding employees added through acquisitions, our implementation
and support staff has grown by 232 emplcyees since December 31, 2018 as we accelerated hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to
deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business, Costs related to maintenance and various other services such as Saa$S and e-filng
typically grow at a slower rate than related revenue due fo leverage in the utilization of support and maintenance staff and ecanomies of scale,

Appraisal services, Appraisal services revenue comprised aprroximately 2.2% of total revenue. The appraisal services gross margin increased
0.2% compared to 2018 due to ramp up of several new revaltuation projects during second quaiter 201S.

Our 2019 blended gross margin slightly increased 0.6% compared to 2018. Our overall gross margin increase is attributed to a higher revenue
mix for subscription revenues compared to the prior year pericd resuiting in an Increase in incremental margin related to software services,
maintenance and subscriptions. Costs related to maintenance and various other services such as SaaS and e-filing typically grow at a slower
rate than related revenue due to leverage in the utilization of support and maintenance staff and economies of scale. The increase in overall
margins are partially offset by lower margins from software licenses, in part due to lower sofiware license revenue and higher amortization
expense for acquired software resulting from acquisitions,

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A™) expenses consist primarily of saleries, employee benefits, travel, share-based compensation
expense, commissions and related overhead costs for administrative and sales and marketing emplovees, as well as, professional fees, trade
show activities, advertising costs and other marketing related costs, The following table sets forth a comparison of our SG&A expenses for the
years ended December 31:

Change

(§ in thousands} 2018 2018 $ %

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 207,605 $50,141 4%

SG&A as a percentage of revenue was 23.7% in 201G compared to 22.2% In 2018. S3G&A expense increased approximately 24% comparad
to the pror year perod. In 2018, our operating results include $19.9 million of SG&A expenses for MicroPact from the date of acquisition. The
remaining SG&A expense increase is mainly due to compensation cost refated to increased staff levels, higher stock compensation expense
and increased commission expense as a result of higher sales. Excluding employeas added with acquisitions, we added 81 employeés malnly
to our sales and finance teams since December 31, 2018. In addition, our 2019 stock compensation expense rose $5.8 million, mainky due to
increases in our stock price over recent years,
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Research and Development Expense

Research and developm‘ent expense consisis primarily of salarles, employee benefits and related overhead costs associated with new product
development. The following table sets forth a comparison of our research and development expense for the years ended December 31:

Change
{$ in thousands) 2019 2018 $ %

Research and development expense $63,264 $18,078 29%

Research and development expense increased 29% in 2019 compared to the prior year period, mainly due to a number of new Tyler
product development initiatives across our product suites, including increased investments in research and development at recently acquired
businesses. To support these inittatives, our research and development staff has grown by 153 since December 31, 2018.

Amortization of Customer and Trade Name Intangibles

Acquisition intangibles are comprised of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired that is allecated

to acquired software, leases and customer and trade name intangibles. The remaining excess purchase price is allocated to geodwill that is

not subject to amortization. Amaortization expense related to acquired software is included with cost of revenues, while amortization expense of
customer and trade name intangibles is recarded as operating expense. The estimated useful lives of both customer and trade name intangibles
range from five to 25 years, The following table sets forth a comparison of amortization of customer and trade name intangibles for the years
ended December 31:

Changa
2018 $ %

{$ in thousands)

fmortization of customer and trade name intangibles $ 16,217 $5228 32%

Amortization of customer and trade name irtangibles increased due to the impact of intangibles added with several acquisitions completed in

2018 and 2018.

Estimated annual amortization expense relating 1o customer and trade name acquisition Intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the
amortization expense is recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five years and thereafier is as follows (in thousands):

2020 - : $ 21,357
2021 21,237
2022 20,747
2023 20,673
2024 20,121
Thereafter 135,264

Amortization expense relating to acquired leases will be recorded as a reduction to hardware and other revenue and is expected to be $525,000
in 2020, $525,000 in 2021, $525,000 In 2022, $525,000 in 2023, $525,000 in 2024 and $512,000 thereafier,
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Other

The following table sets forth a comparison of cther income, net for the years ended December 31:

Change
¢§ inthousands) 2019 2018 b %

Other income, net $3378 $93 3%

Other income is comprised of interest income from invested cash net of interest expense and non-usage and oiher fees associated with our
revolving credit agreement, Other income, net, increased compared to the prior period due fo increased interest income from higher levels of
cash and investments resulting from cash generated In the cutrent year offset by increased interest expense from new debt cutstanding during
the current year under our credit agreement.

Income Tax Provision

The following table sets forth a comparison of our Income tax provision for the years ended December 31:

Ehange
2018 % %

($ in thousands}

Income tax provision {benefit)

$8.408 $4,903 58%
54%

Effective income tax rate

The increase In the Tncome tax provision and the effective income {ax rate in 2019 compared to the prior year is primarily due to lower excess
tax berefits from stock option exercises in 2019, Stock option exercise activity in 2019 generated excess tax benefits of $29.8 million, while
stock option exercise activity in 2018 generated $32.5 miliion excess tax henefits. In addition, the 2018 income tax pravision contains a tax
benefit of $1.8 million resulting from the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities associated with the enactment of the 2017 Tax Act
which reduced the siatutory U.S. federal corperate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. Excluding the impact of the excess tax benefits and the
Tax Act, our income tax provision and effective tax rate in 2019 would have besn $43.1 million and 27.0% and in 2018, would have been $42.6
million and 27.4%, respectively.

The effective income tax rates in both 2019 and 2018 differed from the Unlted States federal statutory corporate income tax rate of 21%
due to state income taxes, the research tax credit, non-deductible share-based compensation expense, disqualifying incentive stock option
dispositions, and other non-deductible business expenses.
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2018 COMPARED T0 2017
Revenues
Software licenses and royaities.

The following table sets forth @ comparlson of our software licenses and royalties revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
($ in thousands) 2018 2017 $ %
ES $ 83,135 $78,338 $5,:347 7%
A&T §,706 7,854 1,852 24
Total software licenses and royalties revenue $93 441 $85,242 §7,199 8%

Software license and royalties revenue increased 8% compared to the prior year, The majority of this growth was due to an active marketplace
as the result of generally positive local government economic cenditions, as well as our increasingly strong competitive position, which we
attribute in part to our investment in product development in recant years, An increase in the number of larger contracts related to cur planning,
regulatory and maintenance solutions and public safety solutions also contributed to the growth in license revenue,

Although the mix of new contracts between subscripticn-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from quarter to quarter and year
ta year, we expect our longer-term software license growth rate to be negatively impacted by a growing number of customers choosing our
subscription-based options, rather than purchasing the software under a traditional perpetual software license arrangement. Subscription-based
arrangements result in lower software license revenue in the initial year as compared to perpetual software license arrangements but generate
higher overall revenue over the term of the contract, Our new client mix in 2018 was approximalely 47% selecting perpetual software license
arrangements and approximately 53% selecting subscription-based arrangements compared to a client mix in 2017 of approximately 53%
selecting perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 47% selecting subscription-based arrangements.

Subscriptions.

The following table sets forth & comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
{$ in thousands) 2018 811 $ %
ES $210,140 $164,317 446,423 28%
A&T ’ ‘ 9,807 . 7,859 1,948 25
Total subscriptions revenie $220,547 $172,176 $48,371 28%

Subscription-based revenue primarily consists of revenue derived from our Saa$ arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private

cloud. As part of our subscription-based services, we also provide electronic document filing solutions {“e-filing”} that simplify the flling and
management of court related documents for courts and law offices. E-filing revenue is derived from transaction fees and fixed fee arrangements.
Excluding the results of acquisitions, suliscription-based revenue increased 21% compared to 2017,

New Saa$ clients as well as existing clients who converted to our SaaS model provided the majority of the subscription revenue increase,

In 2018, we added 410 new SaaS clients and 97 existing clients elected to convert to our SaaS model. Also, e-filing services contributed
approximately $6.2 million of the subscription revenue increase n 2018. The increase in e-filing revenue is attributed to new e-flling clients,
as well as increased volumes as the result of several existing clients mandating e-filing. The acquisition of Socrata, which primarily has a
subscription revenue model, also contributed to the increase in subscription revenues.
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Software services,

The following table sels forth a comparison of our software sarvices revenue for the years ended December 31:

Ghangs
(4 in thousands) 2018 . 2017 $ . %
£S $166,921 $161,245 $ 5,676 4%
A&T 24,348 19,215 5,133 27
Total software services revenue $191,260 $180,460 $ 10,809 6%

Software services revenue primarily consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our software, converting client data,
training client personnel, customn development activities and consulting. New clients who purchase our proprietary software licenses generally
also contract with us to provide for the related software services. Existing clients also periodically purchase additicnal training, consulting and
minor programming services. Excluding the results of acquisitions, software services revenue grew 3% compared to the prior year pericd. This
growth is due to a higher levei of new software sales, through both our license and subscription models.

Maintenance.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended December 31:

Ghange
(6 in thousands) 2018 2017 % %
ES $359,904 $337,700 $ 22,203 7%
AXT 24 617 21,618 2,999 14
Total maintenance revenue $384,521 $359,319 $ 25,202 7%

We provide maintenance and support services for our software praducts and ceriain third-party sofiware. Maintenance revenue grew 7%
compared to the prior year. Maintenance and support revenue increased mainly due to growth in our installed customer base from new sofiware
license sales as well as annual mainienance rate incieases.

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
($ in thousands} 2018 2017 4 %
ES § o § — $ — — %
A&T 21,846 25,023 {3,11h {13}
Total appraisal services revenue $ 21,846. $ 25,023 $ @3N (131%

in 2018, appraisal services revenue decreased 13% compared to the pricr year primarily due to the successful completion of saveral large
revaluation projects in mid-2017. The appraisal services business Is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revalusation cycles in
varlous states
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COST OF REVENUES AND GROSS MARGINS

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenues for the years ended December 31:

Change

(§ in thousands} 2018 2017 3 %
Software licenses and royalties . $ 33802 3321 $ a8l 4%
Acquired software 229712 21,686 1,286 6
Software services, maintenance and subscriptions 438,923 387,634 51,289 13
Appraisal services 14,299 16,286 (1,987} (12
Hardware and other 15,708 12,595 3113 75

Total cost of revenues $495,704 $441 522 $ 54,182 124

The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended December 31,

Gross margin percentage 2018 2017 Ghangs
Softwara licenses, royalties and acquired softwars 713% 71.0% 0.3 %
Software seivices, maintenance and subscriptions 449 45,6 0,7
Apyraisal services 345 349 0.4
Hardware and cther 336 288 48
Overall gross margin 41.0% 47.5% {0.5)%

Software licenses, royalties and acquired software, Cost of software licenses, royaities and acquired software is primarily comprisad of
amprtization expense for acquired software and third-party software costs. We da nat have any direct costs associated with royalties, The
grass margin increase of 0,3% is due 1o higher scftware license revenues offset by an increase in amortization expense for acquired software
attributed to new acquisitions completed in 2018,

Software services, maintenance and subscriptions. Cost of software services, maintenance and subseriptions primarily consists of personnel
costs related to installation of cur software, conversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities and various other services
such as custorn client development and on-going operaticn of SaaS and e-filing arrangements. [n 2018, the soflware services, maintenance and
subscriptions gross margin decreased 0,7% compared to the prior year, Excluding employees added through acquisitions, our implementation
and support staff grew by 57 employees in 2018 as we accelerated hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog

and anticipated new business. Recognition of acquisition-related deferred revenue associated with subscriptions and maintenance also resulted
in lower gross margins.

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 2.3% of total revenue. The appraisal services gross margin decreased
0.4% compared to 2017 due to the reduction in higher margin projects substantially complete by early 2017 and lower volume of revenues in
the current period to cover relatively fixed costs.

QOur 2018 blended gross margin slightly decreased by 0.5% compared to 2017. Qur overall gross margin decrease is mainly attributed to additions
to our implementation staff and lower margin revenues from appraisal services, offset by improved margin on revenues from softwate ficenses.
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Selling, Generat and Administrative Expenses
The following table sets forth a comparison of selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31:

Change

(% in thousands) 2018 2011 $ %

Selling, general and administrative expenses $207,605 $175,914 $ 31,601 18%

SG&A as a parcentage of revenus was 22.2% in 2018 compared to 20.9% in 2017. SG&A expense increased approximately 18% compared

to the prior year period. In 2018, our operating results include $2.1 miliion of SG&A expenses for Socrata from the date of acquisition. The
ramaining SG&A expense ncrease is mainly due to compensation cost related to increased staff levels, higher stock compensation expanse and
increased commission expense as a result of higher sales. Excluding employzses added with acquisitions, we added 47 employees mainly to our
sales and finance teams since in 2018, In addition, our 2018 stock compensation expense rose $11.2 million, mainly due to increases in our
stock price over the last faw years.

Research and Development, Expense

The following table sets forth a comparison of cur research and development expense for the years ended December 31:

Change

(% in thousands} 2018 2017 $ %

Research and development expense 463,264 $47.324 $15,940 3%

Research and development expense increased 34% in 2018 compared fo the prior year period, mainly due to a number of new Tyler
product development initiatives across out product suites, including increased investments in research and development at recently acquired
businesses. To support these initiatives, our research and developiment staff grew by 159 in 2018.

Amortization of Customer and Trade Name Intangibles

The following table sets forth a compatison of amortization of customer and trade name intangibles for the years ended December 31:

Change

(% in thousands) 2018 2017 $ %

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles $16,217 $13,381 $ 2,836 21%

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles increased due to the impact of intangibles added with several acquisitions completed in
2017 and 2018. ‘
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Other
The following table sets forth a comparison of other income, net for the years ended December 31:

Change
{§ in thousands) 2018 2017 $ %

Other income, net 43378 $ 698 $ 2,680 384%

Other income Is comprised of interest income from invested cash net of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with our
revoiving credit agreement. Other income, net, increased compared to the prior period due to increased interest income from significantly higher
levels of cash and investments resulting from cash generated in the last year, We had no debt in 2018, as we repaid all borrowings under the
revolving line of credit in January 2017,

Incoma Tax Provision (Benefit)

The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provislon for the years ended December 31:

Ghange
($ in thousands} 2018 2017 $ %

Income tax provision (benefit) $ 8,408 $46,115) $14,523 (231%
Effective income fax rate 54% (3.7Y%

The increase in the income tax provision in 2018 is primarily due tc the one-time tax benefit of $26.0 million recognized in the fourth quarter
of 2017 resulting from the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities associated with the enactment of the Tax Act which reduced
the statutory U.S, federal corporate income tax rale from 35% to 21%. The Increase is somewhat offset by the decrease in statutory U.S.
federal corporate income tax rate for 2018, In addition, excess tax benefits from stock option exercises were lower in 2018 as compared to the
prior period, Stock option exercise activity in 2018 generated excess tax benefits of $32.5 million, while stock option exercise activity in 2017
generated $40.6 million excess tax benefits.

The increase in the effective income tax rate in 2018 compared to 2017 is also primarily attributable to the one-time tax benefit associated with the
Tax Act recognized in 2017 and the decrease in excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises realized, offsei by the decrease in statutory
L1.S. federal corporate income tax rate for 2018. Excluding the impact of the Tax Act and the excess tax benefits, our income tax provision and
effective tax rate in 2018 would have been $42.6 million and 27.4% and in 2017, would have been $60.5 millon and 37.0%, respectively.

The effective income tax rates in both 2018 and 2017 differed from the statufory United States federal corporate income tax rate of 21%
and 35%, respectively, due to state income taxes, the research tax credit, non-deductible share-based compensation expense, disqualifying
incentive stock option dispesitions, and other non-deductible business expenses, and in 2017, the domestic production activities deduction.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIGUIDITY

As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $232.7 million compared to $134.3 million at December 31, 2018, We also
had $81.6 millien invested in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2019
compared to $37.7 million at Decembar 31, 2018. These investments mature between 2020 through 2023 and we intend to hold these
investments until maturity, Cash and cash eguivalents consist of cash on deposit with several domestic banks and money market funds, As of
December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding botrowings and no outstanding letters of credit. We believe our revolving line of credit, cash from
operaling activities, cash on hand and access to the credit markets provide us with sufficient flexibility to meet our long-term financial needs.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31:.

{$ in thousands) 018 2017

Gash flows provided (used) by:
Operating activities

$ 250,203 $ 195,755
(238,255) {85,395)
{63,535) 35,415

$ {51,647) $ 148,775

Investing activities

Financing activities

Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Net cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of funds {o finance operating needs and capital expenditures.
Other potential capital rescurces include cash on hand, public and private issuances of debt or equity securities, and baik borrowings, |t
is possibke that our ability to access the capital and credit markets in the future may be limited hy economic conditions or other factors,
We currently believe that cash provided by operating activities, cash on hand and available credit are sufficient to fund our werking capital
requirements, capital expendituras, income tax obligatiéns, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve months.

In 2019, operating activities provided cash of $254.7 million compared to $25C.2 millior in 2018. Operating activities that provided cash were
primarily comprised of net income of $1456,5 million, non-cash depreciation and amartization charges of $76.7 million and non-cash shere-
based compensation expense of $60.0 million. Working capital, excluding cash, increased approximately $35.5 million due to higher accounts
recelvable resulting from an increase in unbilled receivables atiributed {o revenues recognized prior fo billings, higher accounts receivable
related to annual maintenance and subscription billings, timing of income tax payments, and the deferred taxes associated with stock option
activity during the period. These increases were offset by the growth in deferred revenue balances and timing of payments of payroll related
taxes and vendor invoices.

In general, changes in the balance of deferred revenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing of our maintenance and subscription
billings. Our renewal dates oceur throughoui the year, but our largest maintenance renewal cycles accur in the second and fourth quarters.

Days sales ocutstanding in accounts receivable were 117 days at December 31, 2019, compared to 111 days at December 31, 2018. The increase
in aur DSO is mainly due to an increase in unhilled receivables attributed to the increase in software license revenue for which we have recognized
revenue at the point in time when the software is made available to the customer, but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer.

An increase in softlware services contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion method of revenue racognition in which the services are
performed in one accounting period, but the billing normally cccurs subsequantly in another accounting period also contributed ta the increase in
DSO. Furthermore, our maintenance hilling cycle typically peaks at its highest level in June and second highest level in December of each year and
is followed by collections in he subseguent quarter. DSO Is calculated based on quarter-end accounts receivable (excluding long-term receivables
but including unbilled receivables) divided by the quctient of annualized quarterly revenues divided by 360 days.

Investing activities used cash of $245.0 million in 2019 compared to $238.3 million in 2018. We invested $54.7 million and received $70.8
million in proceeds from investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities with maturity dates ranging from
2020 through 2023. Cn February 28, 2019, we acquired all of the capital stock of MicroPact. The Total purchase price, net of cash acquired
of $2.0 million, was approximately $202.2 million, including $198.2 million paid in cash and accrued contingent consideration of $6.0 million
at December 31, 2019, On February 1, 2019, we acquired all the assets of MyCivic for the total purchase price of $3.7 million paid in cash.
On October 30, 2019, we acquired certain assets of GHT. The total purchase price was approximately $20.5 million of which $19,1 million was
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paid in cash and approximately $1.4 million accrued for working capital and indemnity heldbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.
Approximately $37.2 million was invested in property and equipment, including $20.8 million related to real estate, In adldition, approximately
$4.8 million of software development was capitalized in 2019. The remaining additions were for computer equipment and furniture and fixtures
in support of internal growth, particularly with respect t¢ data centers supporting growth in our cloud-based offerings. These expenditures were
funded from cash genarated from operations,

In 2018, we invested $115,6 million and received $81.2 millien in proceeds from investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and
asset-backed securities, Approximately $27.4 million was invested in property and equipment, prirmarily for computer equipment, furniture and
fixtures in support of internal growth, particularly with respect to our cloud-based offerings. We paid $2.2 millien for the expansion of existing
buildings. On December 7, 2018, we acquired certaln assets and intellectual property of SceneDoc, Inc., a company that provides mobite-first,
Saa$ field reporting for law enforcemnent agencies. The total purchase price was approximately $6.2 million in cash. On October 1, 2018, we
acquired all of the equity interasts of MobileEyes, a company that develops software 1o improve public safety by supporting fire pravention and
suppression, emergancy response, and structural safety, The total purchase price was approximately $5.3 million in cash. On August 31, 2018,
we acquired all of the assels of CaseloadPRO, a company that provides a fully featured probation case management system. The purchase price
of $9.3 million was paid in cash. On April 30, 2018, we acquired ali of the capital stock of Socrata, a company that provides open data and”
data-as-a-service solutions including cloud-based data integration, visualization, analysis, and reporting solutions for state and local government
agencies. The purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, was $147.6 million paid in cash, On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the
equity interests of Sage, a cybersecurity company offering a suite of services that supports an entire cybersecurily lifecycle, including program
development, education and training, technical testing, advisory services, and digital forensics, The total purchase price was $11.6 million paid
in cash. These expenditures wers funded from cash generated from operations,

Financing activities provided cash of $&8.7 million in 2019 compared to cash used of $63.6 millien in 2018, Financing activities in 2019 were
primarily comprised of collections of $106.5 million from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan activity. We also purchased
approximately 72,000 shares of our commen stock for an aggregate purchase price of $14.3 million,

Financing activities used cash of $63.6 million in 2018 compared to cash provided of $39.4 million in 2017. Financing activities in 2018 were
primarily comprised of collections of $83.0 million from stock option exerclses and employee stock purchase plan activity. We also purchased
approximately 781,000 shares of our common stack for an aggregate purchase price of $150.1 million, of which $3.5 million was accrued as of
December 31, 2018,

In February 2019, cur beard of directors autherized the repurchase of an additional 1.5 million shares of Tyler common stock. The repurchase
program, which was approved by our board of directors, was announced in October 2002, and was amended at various times from 2003
through 2019, As of February 19, 2020, we had remaining authorization to repurchase up to 2.6 million additional shares of our common steck.
Our share repurchase program allows us to repurchase shares at our discration, Market conditions influence the timing of the buybacks and

the number of shares repurchased, as well as the volume of employee stock option exercises. Shara repurchases are generally funded using
our existing cash balances and horrowings under cur credit facilily and may occur through open markel purchases and transactions siructured
through investment banking institutions, privately negotiated transactions and/ar other mechanisms, There is no expiration date specified for the
authorization and we Intend to repurchase stock under the plan from time to time.

On September 30, 2019, we entered into a $400.0 million credit agreement (the “Credit Facility”) with the various lenders party thereta

and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asscciation, as Administrative Agent. The Credit Facility provides for an unsecured revolving credit line of

up to $400.0 million, including a $25.0 million sublimit for letters of credit. The Credit Facility matures on September 30, 2024, Borrowings
under the Credit Facility may be used for general corporate purpeses, including working capital requirements, acquisitions and share
repurchases. Borrowings under the Credit Facllity bear interest at a rate of eithér (1) Wells Farge Bank’s prime rate {(subject to certain higher
rate determinations) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or {2) the 30, 6C, 90 or 180 day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1,125% to 1.75%. As
of December 31, 2019, our interest rate was 4.88% under the prime rate option or approximately 2.89% under the 30-day LIBOR option,
The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our assets. The Credit Facility requires us te maintain certain financial ratios and other
financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional
indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with those covenants.



Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As of December 31, 2019, we had no cutstanding borrowings and had unused borrowing capacity of $400.0 million under the Credit Facility.
We paid interest of $1,750,000in 2019, $770,000 in 2018, and $804,000 in 2017,

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $21.3 million In 2019, $6.8 million In 2018, and $36.0 million In 2017, In 2019, we
experienced significant stock option exercise activity thai generated net tax benefits of $28.8 millien and reduced tax payments accordingly. In
2018 and 2017, excess tax benefits were $32.5 million 2nd $40.6 million, respectively.

We anticipate that 2020 capital spending will be between $36 million and $38 rillior, Including approximately $9 milfion related to real estate
and approximately $7 million of capitalized software development. We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist of computer
equipment and software for infrastructure replacements and expansion. Capital spending is expected to be funded from existing cash balances
and cash flows from operations.

From time to time we engage in discussions with potential acquisition candidates. In crder to pursue such opportunities, which could require
significant commitments of capital, we may be reguired to incur debt or fo issue additional patentially dilutive securities in the future. No
assurance can be given as to our future acquisition epportunitiss and how such opportunities wilt be financed. We lease office facilities for use
in our operaiions, as well as transportation and other equipment. Mest of our leases are non-cancetable operating lease agreements and they
expire from ane year to eight years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to 10 years,

Summarized in the table below are our obligations to make future payments under the Credit Facility and lease cbligations at December 31,
2019 (in thousands}:

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereaftar Total
Revolving line of credit $ — 5 — $ — $} — $ — § —
Lease abligations 6,244 3,960 2,923 2478 2,042 25333
Total future payment obligations $6,248 $ 3,960 $2923 $2,478 $ 2,042 $ 25,333

As of December 31, 2019, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, guarantees to third-parties or material purchase commitments.

CAPFTALIZATION

At December 31, 2019, our capitalization cansisted of no outstanding borrowings and $1.6 billion of shareholders’ equity.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABDUT MARKET RISK.
Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due to adverse changes in financial market prices and interest rates.

In 2019, our effective average interest rate for borrowings was 3.84%. As of December 31, 2019, our interest rate was 4.88% under the ptime
rate oplion or approximately 2.89% under the 30-day LIBCR option. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest, at Tyler's option, at a per
annuim rake of either (1) Wells Fargo Bank's prime rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or {2}
the one-, two-, three-, or six-menth LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1,75%. .

As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and therefore are not subject to any interest risk.
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Management’s Discussicn and Analysis. of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures — We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act) designed to provide reascnable assurance that the information required fo be disclosed by us in the reports we file

of submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, procassed, summarized and reporied within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and
forms. These include controls and procedures designed fo ensure that this informatien is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including cur chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Management, with the participation of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2019, Based on this evaluaticn, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedurss were effective as of Dacember 31, 2019,

Management's Report on internal Control Over Financial Reperting — Tyler's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting as dafined in Securlties Exchange Act Rule 13a-15{f). Tyler's internal control over financial
reparting is designed to provide reasonable assuranca to Tyler's management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair
presentation of published financial statements.

Because of its Inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Tyler's internal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework} {the
COSO0 criteria). Based on our assessment, we concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, Tyler’s intemal conirol over financial reporting was
effective based on those criteria.

Management's assessment of and conciusion on the effeciiveness of internal control over financlal reporting did not include the internal controls
of MicroPact, which is included in our 2019 consolidated financial statements and constituted 11.5% of total assets as of December 31, 2019
and 5.8% of revenues for the year then ended.

Tyler's internal centrol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered
public accounting firm who &lso audited Tyler's financial statemeants. Ernst & Young's attestation report on Tyler's intemal contrel over financial
reporting appears on page 57 heredf,

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — During the quarter ended December 31, 2019, there were no changes in our internal
contral aver financial reporting, as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), that materially affecied, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal contrel over financial reporting. -



Report of Independant Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholdets and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tyler Technologies, Inc, {the Company} as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes {collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Cempany at Decermber 31, 2019 and 2018,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the pericd ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S.
generally acceptad accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accerdance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAQB), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Grganizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framewark) and our report dated February
19, 2020 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon,

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAQB and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Secuiities and
Exchange Cormmission and the PCACB.

We conducied our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
ohtain reasonable assurance about whether the financia! statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to ertor or fraud. Our audis
Included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, Qur audits also included avaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We helieve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters comimunicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be cormmunicatad to the audit commities and that: (1} relate to accounts ar disclosures that are material to the
financial staternents and (2} involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters
does not altar in any way our epinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical
audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate,

Estimation of hours for certain progress-{o-completion (POC) arrangements
Description of the Matter

As described in Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial statements under “Revenue Recognition,”
many of the Company's software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. For arrangements that involve significant production,
modification or customization of the software, or where sofiware services are otherwise not considered distinct, the Company recognizes revenue
over time based on a measuremeant of progress-to-completion (PGC). The Company measures POC primatily using labor hours incurred,
believing it best depicts the pattern of transfer of control to the customer, which occurs as the Company incurs costs on jts confracts, Estimates
of budgeted total hours for these arrangements requires management judgment,
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Auditing management's estimates of total budgeted contract hours required additional audit effort due to the exisience of management
judgment required to make these estimates for arrangements that are completed over an extended period. These estimales require ongoing
monitoring by management and may require revision over time,

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company's process to review
contract progress-to-date and total budgsted hours, inclusive of executed contract amendments and change orders.

To test the appropriateness of management's assessment of contract progress-to-date, our audit procedures included, among cthers, obtaining
an understanding of any increase or decrease to budgeted hours via contract amendments or change orders, observing quarterly POC meetings
where the Company discussed contract progress-to-date and evaluated the apprepriateness of contract estimated hours to complete, reviewing
signed Company attestations as to the contracts’ progress toward completion, performing a sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of changes
to the budgeted hours on the amount of revenue recognized, and performing an analysis of completed contracts to compare actual hours
incurred upon completion to the original btdget.

Accounting for the acquisition of MP Holdings Parent, Inc.
Description of the Matter

As described in Mote 2 "Acquisitions” to the consolidated financial statements, the Company completed three acquisitions during 2019 for net
consideration of $226.5 million. The most significant of these was the acguisition of MP Holdings Parent, Inc. (MicroPact) for net consideration
of $202.2 million. The transactions were accounted for as business combinations.

Auditing the Company's accounting for the MicroPact acquisition was more complex due to the significant estimations used by management

in determining the fair values of asseis acquired and liabilities assumed, in particular the fair values of igentified intangible assets of $136.1
miilien, the most significant of which consisted of custemer relationships and develeped technology, both of which utilize prospective financial
information, The Company valued customer relationships using the multi-period excess earnings model, The significant assumptions used

in this model included the attrition rate, weighted average cost of capital and existing customer growth. The Company valued the developed
techinology using the relief-from-royalty method. The significant assumptions used in this method included the obsolescence rate and weighted
average cost of capital, The significant assumptions used in the valuation of the intangible assets are forward-looking and could be affected by
future economic and market conditions.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company's confrols over its accounting
for the MicroPact acquisition. For example, we tested conirols over the recognition and measurement of consideration transferred, as well as
management’s review of the valuation methods and significant underlying assumptions for each identified intangible asset.

To test the estimated fair values of the acquired customer relationships and developed technology, we performed audit procedures that
included, amang cthers, evaluzating the Company's selection of the valuation methodology, evaluating the significant assumptions used in the
Company’s valuation calculations and evaluating the completeneass and accuracy of the underlying data supporting tha significant assumptions.
We invalved our valuation specialists to assist with our evaluation of the methedology used by the Company and significant assumptions
included in the fair value estimates. Additionally, we performed sensitivity analyses and compared significant assumptions to forecasts, the
assumptions used to value similar assets in other acquisitions and to histerical financial results of both the Company and the acquiree, among
cther procedures. We also evaluated the Company’s acquisition and related purchase accounting disclosures included in Note 2 “Acquisitions”.

Samet ¥ MLL?’

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1966.

Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2020



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Boatd of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc,
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reparting

We have audited Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s Internal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Cemmitiee of Sponsaring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {2013 framework)
{the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Tyler Technologies, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all matetial respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Report on Internat Control Over Financial Reporting, management's assessment of and
conclusion on the effectivenass of internal control over financizal reporting did not inciude the internal controls of MP Holdings Parent, Inc.
(MicroPact), which is included in the 2019 consolidated finarcial statemants of the Company and constifuied 11.5% of total assets as of
December 31, 2019 and 5.8% of total revenue for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company
also did not include an evaluation of the internal contral aver financial reporting of MicroPact.

We alsa have audited, In accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive
incame, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and our
report dated February 19, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsisle for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Qver Financial
Reporting, Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial repoiting based on our audit. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAQR,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCACRB, Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reparting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such cther
pracedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting Is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reporting includes those pelicies and proceduras that (1) periain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonahle detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements In accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expencditures of the company are being made only in accordance with autharizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reascnable assurance regaiding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, infernal control over financial repoiting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject 1o the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

St ¥ MLLP

Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2020
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Consaolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Software licenses and royalties $ 93,441 $ 86,242
Subscriptions 220,547 172,176
Software services 191,269 180,450
Maiutenance 384,521 354,319
Appraisal services 21,846 25,023
Hardware and other 23,658 17,679
Total revenues 935,282 840,899
Cost of revenues:
Software licenses and royaltiss 3,802 3,32
ficquired software 22972 21,686
Software setvices, maintenance and subscriptions 438,923 387,634
Appraisal services 14,299 16,286
Hardware and other 15,708 12,595
Total cost of revenues 495,704 441,522
Gross profit 433,578 399,377
Selling, general and administrative expenses 207,805 175,814
Research and development expense 63,264 47 324
Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles 16,217 13,381
Operating income 152,492 162,758
QOther income, net 3,378 698
Income hefers income taxes 155,870 163,456
income tax provision (benefit) 8,408 {6,115
Met income $ 147 462 $ 169,571
.Earnings per comman share: .
Basic $ 384 $ 455
Diluted $ 368 $ 432
See accompanying notes.



Consolidated Balance Sheets -

December 31,

2018 2018

(In thousands, except par value and share ameunts)

ASSETS
Cunent Assets:
CGash and cash equivalents

$ 134279

Accounts receivable (less allowance for josses and sales adjustments of $5,738 in 2019 and $4,647 in 2018) 298,912
Short-term investments 44,306
Prepaid expenses 33,258
Income tax receivable 4,657
Other current assets 3,406
Total current assets 518,858
Accounis Teceivable, long-term 16,020
Operating lease right-of-use assets —_
Property and equipment, net 165,177
Othar assets:
Goodwill 153,718
Other intangibles, net 276,852
Non-cureent investments and other assets 70,338
$ 1,790,963
LIABILITIES ARD SHAREHOLDERS' EQGUITY
Curzent liahilities:
Accounts payable $§ 6310
Acerued fiabilities 66,430
Operating lease liabilities —
Defarred ravenue 350,512
Total current liabilities 423,902
Revalving line of credit —
Deferrad revenus, long-term 424
Deferred income taxes 41,781
Operating lease liabilities, long-term —_—
Commitments and cantingencies
Sharehalders'equity:
Preferred stock, $£0.00 par valug; 1,000,000 shares autherized, nong issued —
Commion stack, $0.01 pat value; 100,000,000 shares autherized; 48,147,969 shares issued in 201% and 2018 481
Additional paid-in capital 731,435
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (46
Retained earnings 171,925
Treasury slock, at cost; 8,839,352 and 9,872,505 sheres in 2019 and 2018, respectively {178,949)
Total shareholders’ equity 1,324,848
$ 1,790,963

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(In theusands}
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 147462 $ 169,571
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operations:
Depreciation and amortization 61,759 53,395
Share-based compensation expense 52,740 37348
Provision for losses and sales adjustments - accounts receivable (569) 2,031
Operating lease right-of-use assets - non cash — —
Deferred income tax benefit (5,069) (33,664)
Changes in operating assets and liakilities, exclusive of effects of acquired companies:
Accounts receivahle (50,916) {33,091)
Income fax receivable 6,642 (8.444)
Prepaid expenses and other current assats (588) (6,958)
Accaunts payable (2,416} 378
QOperating lease liahilities — —
Accrued liabilities (2,445) 6,050
Deferred revenue 43,603 8,639
Net cash provided by operating activities 250,203 195,755
Cash flows fram investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment {27,424) {43,057)
Purchase of marketable security investments (115,625) {09,779
Proceeds from marketable security investments 81,205 28,786
Capitalized software development cests — —
Cast of acquisitions, net of cash acquired {178,093) (11,344)
{Increase) decrease in ather 1,682 (1
Met cash used by investing activities (238,255) (85,395)
Cash flows from financing activitias:
Decrease in net borrowings on revelving line of credit — (10,000
Purchase of treasury shares {146,553 (7.474)
Proceeds from exercise of stock sptions 14,907 49,845
Contributions from emplayee stock purchase plan 8,051 7,044
Net cash provided {used) by financing activities (63,555) 39,415
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (51,647} 149,775
Gash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 185,926 36,151
Gash and cash equivalents at end of pericd $ 134,279 $ 185,926

Ses accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Accumulated
Common Stack Addltional Other . Treasury stock Total
Paid-in  Comprehetsive Retained Shareholders’
Shares Amount Gapital  income {Loss) Earnings Shares Amount Equity

{In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2016 48148 § 481 $556,663 % (46} $ 454,852 (11,38%)  § (77449 § 934541
Net income — — — —  $169571 — —  $ 169,571
[ssuance of shares pursuant to stock

compensation plan — — 28,174 — — 1,113 21,671 49,845
Stock compensation — — 37,348 — — —_ — 37,348
Issuance of shares pursuant to employae

stock purchase plan — — 4,682 — — 51 2,362 7,044
Treasury stock purchases — — — —-— s (44) (6,613) (6,613}

Balance at December 31, 2017 48,148 481 626,867 (46) 624,463 (10,262} (60,029 1,191,736
Met income — — — — 147,462 — — 147,462
Issuance of shares pursuant to stock

compensation plan — — 44,458 — — 1,126 30,449 74,507
Stack compensation ' -— — 52,740 — — — — 52,740
1ssuance of shares pursuant to employze

stock purchase plan — — 1,370 — — 45 681 8,051
Treasury stock purchases — — — — — (781) {150,050) {150,050

Balance at December 31, 2018

Net income

24,346

8

Retained earnings adjustment-adoption

of Topic 342 Leases, net of taxes

Exarcise of stack options and vesting of
testricted stock units

Employee taxes paid for withheld shares

for taxes upon equity awaid

Stock compensation

[ssuance of shares pursuant to employee

stock purchase plan

Treasury stack purchases

Balance at December 31, 2019

See accompanying notes.

TYLER TEXHHROLOGIES ANNUAL REFORT 2019

61



62

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{Tables in thousands, except per share data)

{1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

"DESCRIPTIGN OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated software systems and related services for the public sector, with a focus on local gevernments. We develop and market

a broad line of software solutions and services to address the informaticn technology {“1T") needs primarily of cities, counties, schools and

other local government entities. In addition, we provide professional IT services, including software and hardware installation, data conversion,
training, and for certain customers, product modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support for customers using our systems.
We also provide subscription-based services such as software as a service ("Saa3”) arrangerments, which primarlly utilize the Tyler private cioud,
and electrenic document filing solutions ("e-filing"). In addition, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions,

PRINCIPLES GF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include our parent company and sixteen subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned, Al significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been aliminated in censalidation. Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity
of a business enterprise during a period from fransactions, and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources and includes 3!l
compenents of net income {loss} and other comprehensive income {loss}. We had no items of ather comprehensive income {loss) during the
years ended Decemnber 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,

CASH AND CASH EDUVALENTS

Cash in excess of that necessary for operating requirements is invested In short-term, highly liguid, income-producing investments. Investments
with otiginal maturities of three months or less are classified as cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash on deposit with
several banks and money market funds, Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value,

REVENUE RECOGNITION
MNature of Products and Services

We earn revenue from software licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software services, post-contract customer support {*PCS”

or “maintenance”), hardware, and appraisal services. Revenue Is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to
customers in an amount that reflacts the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. We determine revenue
recognitien through the following steps:

[dentification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
- |dentification of the performance ohligations in the contract
- Determination of the transaction price
- Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
» Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance ohligation

Most of our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses, installation,
training, and consulting to software medification and customization to meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these
contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately when they are distinct, We evaluate whether separate performance
obligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one performance obligation. Arrangements that include software services, such as
training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether those setvices are highly interdependent or interrelated to the product’s functionality.
The transaction price is allocated to the distinct performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price (“SSP”) basis. We determine

the SSP based on our averall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our
contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts. Revenue is recognized net of
allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remiited to governmental authorities.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Software Arrangements:
Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “off-the-shelf” software licenses

and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered
distinct. We consider off-the-shelf software to be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code,
it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upen installation, and remaining services such as training are not considersd highly
interdependent or interrelated to the product’s functionality,

For arrangements that involve significant production, medification or customization of the software, or where software services are otherwise

not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-fo-completion primarily
using labor hours incurred as It best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These
arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us fo revise iotal cost estimates, Amounts recognized in
revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total
estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the perod they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the
period In which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms, Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access 1o the software license
is made available to the custemer and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the coniract. We record amounts that
have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have
been met.

We recognize royally revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements, Currently, our third-party royalties
are fecognized on an estimated basis and are trued up when we recelve notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice
of royalty revenues we are entitled to and billed on a quarierly basis in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period.

Software Services

As noted above, some of our software arrangements include services considered highiy inferdependent or highly interrelated or require
significant customization to meet the customer's desired functionality. For these software arrangements, both the sofiware licenses and related
software services revenue are not distinct and are recognized over time using the progress-to-completion method. We measure progress-to-
completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which ocours as we incur costs on our
contracts, Coniract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms. We record amounts that have been invoiced in
accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met. When software
services are distinct, the fee allocable fo the service element Is recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed on a time and
material basis.

Post-Contract Customer Suppett

Our customars generally enter into PCS agreements when thay purchase our software licenses. PCS includes telephone support, bug fixes, and
rights to upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. PCS is considered distinct when purchased with our scftware licenses. Our PCS agreements
are fypically renewable annually. PCS is recognized over time on a straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided, Al significant costs
and expenses associated with PCS are expensed as incurred.

Computer Hardware Equipment

Revenue allocable to computer hardware equipment is recognized at a point in time when control of the equipment is ansferred to
the customer.
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Subscription-Based Services:

Subscription-based services consist primarlly of revenues derived from SaaS arrangements, typically utilizing the Tyler private cloud, and
electronic filing transactions, Revenue from subscription-based services is generally recognized over time on a ratable basis over the contract
term, beginning on the date that our service is made available to the customar. Our subscription contracts are generally three to five years or
longer in length, bitled annually in advance, and noin-cancelable.

For $aa$ arrangements, we evaluate whether the customer has the contraciual right to take possession of our software af any time during the
hosting period without significant penaity and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software on the customer's hardware or enter

into another arrangement with a third-party to host the software. We allocate contract value to each performance obligation of the arrangemant
that gualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize Saa$S arrangements services ratably aver the term of the
arrangement, which range from one to ten years, but are typically for a period of three 1o five years. For software services associated with certain
Saa$ arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual
peried once we have provided the customer access to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts recelvable and in
deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Electronic filing transaction fees primarily pertain fo documents filed with the courts by attorneys and other third-parties via our e-filing services
and retrieval of filed documents via our access services. For each document filed with a court, the filer generally pays a transaction fae and a
court filing fee to us and we remit a porticn of the transaction fee and the filing fee fo the court. We record as revenue the transaction fee, while
the portion of the fransaction fee remitted to the courts is recorded as cost of revenues as we are acling as a principal in the arrangement,
Court filing fees collected on behalf of the courts and remitled to the courts are recorded on a net basis and thus do not affect the statement of
comprehensive income.

Other fransaction-based fees primary relate to online payment services, which are offered with the assistance of third-party vendors, In general,
when we are the principal in a transaction based on the faciors identified in ASC 606-10-55-36 through 55-40, we record the revenue and
related costs on a gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue assoclated with the service against the gross revenue (amount billed to the
customer) and record the net amount as revenue.

For e-filing transaction fees and other transaction-based revenues, we have the right to charge the customer an amount that directly
corresponds with the value fo the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services aver time based on
the amount billable to the customer In accordance with the ‘as invoiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-65-18. In some cases, we are paid
on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period,

Costs of performing services under subscription-based arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for certain direct and incremental
contract origination and set-up costs asscciated with SaaS arrangements. Such direct and incremental costs are capitalized and amartized
ratably over the useful life.

Appraisal Services:

For our property appraisal projects, we recognize revenue using the progress-to-campletion method since many of these projects are

executed over one to three-year periods and consist of verious unigue activities. Appraisal services require a significant level of infegration

and interdependency with various individual service components; therefore, the service components are not cansidered distinet, Appraisal
services are recognized over time by measuring progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of
contral to the customer which sccurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangernents are often executed over an extended period

and occaslonally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion
measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the
period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded In the period in which we first determine that a loss is
apparent. Cantract fees are typically bifled on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms. We record amounts that have been invoiced in
accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been mef.
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Significant Judgments:

Qur contracts with customers often include multicle performance obligations to a customer, When a software arrangement {license or
subscription) includes both software licenses and software services, judgment is required to determine whether the software license is
considered distinct and accounted for separately, or not distinct and accounted for together with the software services and recognized over time.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate perfermance obligations on a relative SSP basis, We determine the SSP based on our overall
pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and cther factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications soid,
customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts, We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell
each of the products and services separately and naed to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the refative SSP of the
various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as whett we do not sell the product or service separately,
we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.

For arrangements that invelve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where software services otherwise
cannot be considered distinet, we recognize revenue as control is fransferred to the customer over time using progress-to-completion
methods. Depending on the contract, we measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred, or value added. The progress-
to-completion method generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the life of a contract because we

can provide reasonably dependable estimates of contract billings and cantract cosis. We use the jevel of profit margin that is most likely to
ocour on a contract, If the most likely profit margin cannot be precisely determined, the lowest probable level of profit margin in the range of
estimates is used until the results can be estimated mere precisely. These arrangements are often implemented over an exiended time perlod
and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates, Amounts recegnized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion
measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates, Changes to tolal estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the
periad they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is
apparent.

Typically, the structure of cur arrangements doas not give rise to variable consideration, However, in those instances whereby variable
cansideration exists, we include in our estimates additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the
amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

Refer to Note 15 — “Disaggregation of Revenue” for further information, including the economic faciors that affect the nature, amount, timing,
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows of our various revenue caiegories.

Contract Balances:
Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of inveicing to customers, We record an unbilled receivable when revenue is
recagnized prior to Involcing, or deferred ravenue when revenue is recognized subsequent to invoicing. For multi-year agreaments, we generally
invoice customers annually at the beginning of each annual coverage period, We racord an unbilled receivable related to revenue recognized for
on-premises licenses as we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future related to those licenses.

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized, Since most of our customers are
domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulting from credit risk associated with the inability of a customer to make required
payments, Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for doubtful accounts may require revision
inciude, but are not limited to, deterioration of a customer’s financial conditlon, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the
scope of the services to be deliverad, and defects or errors in hew versions or enhancements of our software products.
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The following table summarizes the changes in the allowances for doubtful accotnts and sales adjustments (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Balance at heginning of year $ 5427 $3,396
Provisions for losses and sales adjustments - accounts receivable (589) 2,031
Callection of accounts previously written off (211) ‘ —
Balance at end of year $ 4,647 $ 5427

The allowance for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments reflects our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable
balance. We determine the allowance based on known troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently available evidence.

In connection with our appraisal services contracts and certain software services coniracts, we may perform work prior to when the scfiware
and services are billable andfor payable pursuant to the contract. Unbillad revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable
over the remaining life of tha contract through billings made in accordance with contractual agreements. The termination clauses in most of our
contracts provide for the payment for the value of products delivered or services performed in the event of early termination. We have historically
recorded such unbilled receivables {costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) property appraisal services contracts
accaunted for using progress-fo-completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion

in which the services are performed in one accounting period but the billing normally occurs subsequently and may span another sccounting
period; (2) software services contracts accounted for using pregress-fo-completion method of revenue recognition using labor howrs as a
measure of progress towards completion in which the services are perfarmed in one accounting period hut the billing for the software element
of the arrangement may be based upan the specific phase of the Implementation; (3) software revenue for which we have recognized revenue
at the point In time when the software is made availablz to the customer but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer; (4) some
of our contracts which provide for an amount to be withheld from a progress hilling (generally between 5% and 20% retention} until final and
satisfactory project completion is achleved; and (5} in a limited number of cases, extended payment terms, which may be granted to cusfomers
with whom we generally have a long-term relationship and favorable collection history.

As of Decembar 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, fotal current and long-tarm accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts,
was $396.5 million and $314.9 million, raspectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $134,0 million and $104.2 million at December
31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, respactively. Included in unhilled receivables are retention receivables of $13.1 milkon and $12.2 mitlion
at December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, respectively, which become payable upon the completion of the contract or completion of
our fieldwork and forrmal hearings. Unbilled recelvables expected to be collected within one year have been included with accounts receivable,
current portion in the accompanying consolidatad balance sheets, Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collected past
one year have been included with accounts recelvable, long-term pertion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a reguirement of payment within 30 10 90 days. In
instances where the timing of ravenue recagnition differs from the timing of Inveicing, we have determined our contracts generally do not
include a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable
ways of purchasing our products and servicas, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide custemers with financing. Examples
include invoicing at the beginning of a subscription term with revenue recognized ratably over the contract peried, and multi-year on-premises
termn licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront.



Notes to Consolidated Financial: Staterments -

Deferred Revenue

The majority of deferred revenue consists of deferred maintenance revenue that has been billed based on contractual terms in the underlying
arrangement, with the remaining balance consisting of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under software licensing,
subscription-based services, software and appraisal services and hardware installation. Refer to Note 16 — "Deferred Revenue and Performance
Obligations” for further information, including deferred revenue by segment and changes In deferred revenue during the period.

Deferred Commissions

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customar, Sales
commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of benefit that we have determined

fo be three to seven years, We utilized the “porifolic approach” practical expedient in ASC 606-10-10-4, which allows entities to apply the
guidance to a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics because the effects on the financial statements of this approach woutd not differ
materially from applying the guidance to individual contracts. Using the *portfolic approach’, we determined the peried of benefit by taking

into cansideration our customer contracts, our technoiogy life-cycle and other factors. Sales commissions for renewal contracts are generaily
not paid in cennection with the renewal of a contract. In the small number of instances where a commission is paid on a renewal, it is not
comrmensurate with the commission paid on the initial sale and Is recognized over the term of renewal, which is generally one year, Amortization
expense related to deferred commissions is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated
stafements of incame. Refer to Note 17 —~ “Deferred Commissions” for further information,

Prepaid expenses and cther current assets include direct and incremental costs such as commissions associated with arrangements for which
revenue recoghition has heen deferred. Such costs are expensed at tha time the related revenue is recognized.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States {*GAAP"} requires
us fo make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiliies and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financlal statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reparting perlod. Significant items subject
to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the nature and timing of safisfaction of performance obligations,
determmining the SSP of performance obligations, variable consideration, and other obligations such as returns and refunds; lass contingancies;
the estimated useful life of deferred commissions; the carrying amount and estimated useful fives of intangible assets; the carrying amount

of operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease labilities; determining share-based compensation expense; the valuation allowance

far recelvables; and determining the potential cutcome of future tax consequences of events that have heen recognized on our consolidated
financial staternents or tax returns. Aciual results could differ from estimates.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPHIENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased software are recorded at original cost and increased by the cost of any significant improvements after
purchase. We expense maintenance and repairs when incurred. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over
the shorter of the asset's estimated useful Iife or the term of the lease in the case of leasehold impravements. For income tax purposes, we Use
accelerated depreciation methods as allowed by tax laws.

RESEARCH AWD BEVELOPMENT COSTS

We expensed research and development expense of $81.3 million in 2019, $63.3 million in 2018, and $47.3 million in 2017,
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INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between financial
staternent accounting and tax accounting, known as “temporary differences”, We record the tax effect of these temporary differences as
"deferred tax assets” (generally items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in the future pericds) and “deferred tax liabilities” (generally
items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not yet been recorded In the income statement). The deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rules and laws that are expected tc be in effect when the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
seftled. A valuation allowance would be established to reduce deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset wil! nct be
“realized.” On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cufs and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) was enacted into law. The Tax Act amends the Internal Revenua
Code to reduce tax rates and modify policies, credits and deductions for individuals and businesses. For businesses, the Tax Act reduces the
carporate U.S. federal tax rate from a maximum of 35% to a flat 21% rate and transitions from a woridwide tax system to a territorial tax systam.
Under ASC 740 Income Taxes, the effects of changes in tax rates and laws are recognized in the period in which the new legislation is enacted.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units, and performance share units to key
emgloyees, directors and non-employee consuliants. Stock options generally vest after three to six years of continuous service from the date of
grant and have a contractual term of 10 years, Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous servica
from the date of grant. Each petformance share unit reprasents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement
of certain financial performance targets during applicable performance pericds. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair
value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation. See Note 9 — “Share-Based Compensation” far further information.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, in
connection with our business combinations. Upon acquisition, goodwll is assigned to the reporting unit that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination, which is the reporting unit to which the related acquired technology is assigned. A reporting unit is the
operating segment, or a business unit one level below that operating segment, for which discrete financial information is prepared and regularly
reviewed by executive management.

We assess goodwill for impalrment annually as of April 1st, or more freqguently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its
carrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair
value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantilative assessment described below, If it is determined through the evaluation of
events or circumstances that the carrying value may not be recoverable, we perform a comparison of the estimated fair vaiue of the reporting
unit fo which the geodwill has been assigned to the sum of the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of that unit. If the sum of the carrying
value of the assets and Habilities of a reperting unit exceeds the estimated fair value of that reporting unit, the carrying value of the reporiing
unit's goodwill Is reduced to fis fair value through an adjustment to the goodwill balance, resulting in an impairment charge, The fair values
calculated in our impairment fests are determined using discounted cash flow models invelving several assumptions. The assumptions that are
used are based upan what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. We evaluate the reasonablenass
of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market
capitalization. Our annual goodwill impairment analysis, which we performed qualiiatively during the second quarter of 2019, did not result in an
impairment charge.

There have heen no impairments of intangible assets in any of the pericds presented. See Note 4 - "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” for
additional information.

Other Intangible Assets

We make judgments about the recoverability of purchasad intangible assets other than goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that an impairment may exist. Customer base and acquired software each comprise approximately half of our purchased intangible
assets other than goodwill. We review our customer turnover each vear for indications of impairment. Our customer turnover has historically
been very low. If indications of impairment are determined fo exist, we measure the recoverability of assets by a comparison of the carrying
amount of the asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, If the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge Is recegnized for the amount hy which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets. There have been no impairments of intangible assets in any of the periods presented.
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IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We perlodically evaluate whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and equipment of other long-
lived assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, we measurg the recoverability of assets
to be held and used by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or appropriata grouping of assets and the astimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an
impairment chargs is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assels exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to b
disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sel!
and would no longer be depreciated, The assets and liabilities of a disposed group or classified as held for sale would be presented separately
in the appropriate asset and Yability sections of the balance sheet. There have been ne significant impairments of long-lived assels in any of the
perlods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize software development costs upon the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for
general release to customers. Sofiware development cests primarily consist of personnel costs and rent for related office space, We capifalized
approximately $4.8 million of software development cests in 2019, We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for general
release to customers, Amortization expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis over the
product’s remaining estimated economic life of, generally, five years. Amortization of software development costs was approximately $296,000 in
2019, and Is included in cost of softwars license revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income, We have not
capitalized any internal use scftware development costs in any of the periods presented.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERATIGN

Contingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in the deterrination
of the acquisition date purchase price. Subseguent changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are recognized in eamings
it tha period that the change aceurs.,

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cash and cash eguivalents, accounts recelvables, accounts payabies, short-term obligations and certain ather assets at cost approximate
fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. The fair value of our revolving line of credit would approximate book value as
of December 31, 2019, because our interest rates reset approximately every 30 days or less. See Note 6 — “Revolving Line of Credit” for
further discussion.

As of Decemnber 31, 2019, we have $81.6 million in investmeant grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities with
maturity dates ranging from 2020 through 2023. We infend to hold these bonds to maturity and have classified them as such. We believe
_cost appraximates fair value. The fair values of these securities are considered Leval |l as they are based on inputs from quoted prices in
markets that are not active or from other ohservable market data. These investmenis are included in shott-term investments and non-current
investments and cther assets.

As of December 31, 2019, we have $15.0 million invested in canvertible preferred stock rapresenting a 20% interest in Record Holdings

Pty Limited, a privately held Australian company specislizing in digitizing the spoken word in cousrt and legal proceedings. The investment in
convertible preferred stock is accounted under the cost method because we do not have the ahility to exercise significant influence over the
investee and the securities do not have readily determinable fair values, Cur investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-cowns, Our
cost method Investments are assessed annually for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value of cost method investments if there are no
identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of the investments. There has been no
impairment of our cost method investment for the pericds presented, This investment is included in non-current investments and other assets in
the accompanying consolidated baiance sheets.
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CONGENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable from frade customers, and Invastments in marketable securities, Qur cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of
operating account balances and monsy market funds, which are maintained 2t several major domestic financial institutions and the balances
often exceed insured amounts. As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $232.7 million. We perform periodic
evaluations of the credit standing of these financial institutions,

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to recaivables are limited due to the size and geocgraphical diversity of our customer base, Historically, our
crodit losses have not been significant, As a result, we do not balieve we have any significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2019.

We malntain allowances for doubtful accounts, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized. Since most of our customers are
domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulting from the inabifity of a customer to make required payments. Evenis or changes
in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances far doubtfisl accounts may require revision include, but are nat limited
to, deterioration of a customer's financial condition, failure to manage our customer’s éxpectations regarding the scope of the services to be
delivered, and defects or errors In naw versions or enhancements of our software products.

LEASES

We determine if an arrangament is & lease at inception. Oparating leases are Included in operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets, and
operating lease liahilities, current and leng-term, on our consolidated balance sheets. We currently do not have any finance lease arrangements.

Operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the fulure minimum Jease payments
over the lease term at commencement date. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate

nased on the information availzble at commencement date of the lease in determining the present valua of future payments. The operating
lezsa ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives and inifial direct costs incurred. Our lease terms may
include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option, Lease expense for minimum lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initiai term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the
balance sheet; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term, We have lease agreements with lease
and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for as a single lease component,

IHDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agreements indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon the intellectual property
rights of a third-party. These agreements typically provide that in such event we will eithet modify or replace the software so that it becomes non-
infringing o procure for the customer the right to use the software. We have recorded no liability associated with these indemnifications, as we
are not aware of any pending or threatened infringement actions that are possible losses, We believe the estimated fair vaiue of these intellectual
proparty indemnification clauses is minimal.

We have also agreed to indemnify our officers and board members if they are named or threatened to be named as a parly to any proceeding by
reason of the fact that they acted in such capacity. We maintain directors’ and officers’ fiability insurance coverage to protect against any such
losses. We have recorded no liability associated with these indemnifications. Because of our insurance coverage, we believe the estimated fair
value of these indemnification agreements is minimal.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation,
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RECENTLY ADOPTED ACEOUNTING PRGNOUNCEMENTS

Leases, We adoptad ASU No. 2016-02, Leases ("Topic 842"} using the transition method that allows us to initially apply the guidance at the
adoption date of January 1, 2019, and recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of
adoption. We used the package of practical expedients that allows us to not reassess: (1} lease classification for any expired or existing leases
and (2) initial direct costs for any expired or existing leases, We did not elect to use the hindsight application for evaluating the lifz of the lease
arrangement, The impact of adoption Is reflected in the financlal informaticn herein, For additional details, see Note 11 to our consolidated
financial statements.

The impact of Topic 842 on our cansolidated balance sheet beginning January 1, 2019, included the recognition of ROU assets and operating
lease liahilities, while our accounting for finance leases remained substantially unchanged. We had no finance leases prior to the adeption of
Topic 842 and continue to have none as of December 31, 2019.

Amounts recognized at January 1, 2019, for operating leases were as foHoWs:

In thousands

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Operating lease liabilities
QOperating lease liabifities, long-term

Retained eamings

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNGEMENTS

In June 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2018-13, Financial instruments - Credit Losses, {*ASU 2016-13"), ASU 2016-13 changes the impalrment
model for most financial assets and certain other instruments, including trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities and loans,
and requires entities to use a new forward-icoking expected loss model that will result in the earlier recognition of allowance for losses, This
update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including inferim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted for a fiscal year beginning after Decamber 15, 2018, including interim periods within that fiscal year. Entities will apply the standard’s
provisions as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is
adopted, We will adopt the new standard in the first quarter of 2020, We have evaluated the impact of this standatd on our consolidated
financial statements, including accounting policies, processes and systems. Based on the nature of the Company’s customer base and historical
nature of losses, we do not expect the impact to be materiat upon adoption.

{2} ACQUISITIONS

2619

On Oclober 30, 2019, we acquired certaln assets of Courthouse Technologles, Lid ("CHT™), an industry-leading provider of jury management
systems that offers a fully integrated, end-to-end Saa$ solution to manage ali facets of juror management, from source list generation to juror
pracessing and payment. The total purchase price was approximately $20.5 million of which $19.1 million was paid in cash and approximately
$1.4 million was accrued for working capital and indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustrents.

On February 28, 2019, we acquired all of the capilal stock of MP Holdings Parent, Inc. dba MicroPact (“MicroPact"), a leading provider
of commercial off-the-shelf {(“COTS") solutions, including Entellitrak, a low-code application development platform for case management
and husiness process management used extensively in the public sector. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.0 million,
was approximately $202.2 million consisting of $198.2 million paid in cash and accrued consideration of $6.0 million contingent upon ihe
achievernent of certain financial performance objectives.
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We have performed a valuation analysis of the fair market value of MicroPact’s assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the final
allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:

In thousands

Cash
Accounts receivable

QOther current assets

(Other noncurrent assets

[dentifiable intangible assets
Goodwill
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Other noncurrent Jiabilities

Deferred revenue

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Total consideration

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $31.9 miflion and assumed liabilities of approximately $27.3 million.
We recorded geadwill of $76.3 million, nene of which is expectad to be deductible for tax purpeses, and cther Identifiable intangible assets of
approximately $136.1 million. The $1356.1 million of intangible assets are attributable to custamer relationships, acquired software, trade name
and favorable fair value of an operating lease and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 11 years. We recorded
daferred tax liahilities of $13.1 million related to estimated fair valug allocations.

The acquisition of MicroPact augments our product solutions, positions us in new practice areas such as health and human services, and
presents opportunities to expand our business across new and complementary markets. We intend to expand our total addressable market
through MicroPact's strong presence in the federal market. Therefore, the goodwill of $76.3 million arising from this acquisition is primarily
attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. In 2019,
we recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to changes in accounts receivahle, deferred revenue, customer
relationships, accrued expenses, working capital holdback and related deferred taxes resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately
$5.7 million.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated operating results information has been prepated as if the MicroPact acquisition had ccecurred at
January 1, 2018, after giving effect to ceraln adjustments, including amortization of intangibles, interest, transaction costs and tax effects.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, unaudited 2013 2018

Revenues $1,009,427
Het income 146,998
Basic arnings per share $ 3.82
Dilutes carmings per share $ 3.66
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The pro forma information above daes nof include acquisitions that are not considered material to our results of operations. The pro forma
information does not purport to represent what our results of operations actually would have been had such transaction occurred on the date
specified or to project our results of operations for any future period,

Cn February 1, 2019, we acguired all the assets of Civic, LLC ("MyCivic"), a company that provides software solutions to connect communities.
The total purchase price was $3.7 million in cash,

As of Decemnber 31, 2019, the purchase price allocations for MicroPact and MyClvic are complete. As of Decemnber 31, 2019, the purchase
price allocation for CHT is not yet complete; therefore, the preliminary valuation estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisiion date for
intangible assets, receivables and deferred revenue and related deferred taxes are subject to change as valuations are finalized.

The operating results of all 2019 acquisitions are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since their date

of acquisition. Revenues from MicroPact included in Tyler's results of operations totaled approximately $63.0 million and the net loss was
approximately $98,000 from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2619. The impact of the MyCivic and CHT acquisitions, individually and
in the aggregate, onh our operating results, assefs and lizbilities is not material. In 2012, we incurred fees of approximately $1.1 million for financial
advisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation and other various services necessary to complete these acquisitions. These fees were expensed
in 2019 and are included in seling, general and administrative expanses on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Our balance sheet as of December 31, 2019, reflects the aliocaticn of the purchase price to the assets acquired based on their fair value at the
date of each acquisition. The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level I)l, unohservable inputs that are
supported by litile or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assels or liabilities.

At December 31, 2019, the maximum aggregate amount of rematning contingent cash payments associated with our acquisitions is $5.0 million
and are payable in fiscal year 2020.

2018

On December 7, 2018, we acquired certain assets and intellectual property of SceneDoc, Inc., a company that pravides mobile-first, Saa$ field
reporting for taw enforcement agencies, The total purchase price was approximately $6.2 million in cash.

On Cctober 1, 2018, we acauired all of the equity interests of TradeMaster, Inc. dba MobileEyes, a company that davelops SaaS software to
improve public safety by supporting fire prevention and suppression, emergency response, and structural safety, The tofal purchase price was
approximately $5.3 million in cash.

On August 31, 2018, we acquired all of the assets of CaseloadFRO, L. P., a company that provides a fully featured SaaS probation case
management system. The purchase price of $9.3 million was paid in cash.

On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the capital stock of Socrata, Inc.("Socrata”™), a company that provides open data and data-as-a-service
solutions including cloud-based data integration, visualization, analysis, and reporting solutions for state and local government agencies, The:
purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, was $147.6 million paid in cash.

On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the equity interests of Sage Data Security, LLC, a cybersecurity company offering a sulte of services that
supports an entire cybersecurity [fecycle, including program davelopment, education and training, technical testing, advisory services, and
digital forensics. The total purchase price was $11.6 million paid in cash.

The operaiing results of these acquisition are includad in our results of operations of the Enlerprise Sofiware segment from their respective dates
of acquisition.
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On November 29, 2017, we acquired audio and digital two-way radic communications technology and related assets from Radio 10-33, LLC,
The total purchase price was $1.4 million, all of which was paid in cash,

On August 2, 2017, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain labilities of Digital Health Department, Inc., a2 company that
provides environmental health software, offering a Saa$ solution for public health compliance and inspections processes. The total purchase
price, net of debt assumed, was $3.9 million, all of which was paid in cash.

On May 30, 2017, we acquired ali of the capital stock of Modria.com, Inc., a company that speclalizes in online dispute resciution for
government and commercial entities. Tha total purchase price, net of debt assumed, was $6.1 million, all of which was paid in cash,

The operating results of these acquisition are included in our results of operations of the Enterprise Software segment from their respective dates
of acquisition.

{3) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consists of the foilowing at December 31:

Useful lives (years) 2019 2018
Land ‘ — $ 9958
Building and leasehald improvements 5-3% 122,241
Gomputer equipment and purchased scftware 3-5 84,649
Furniture and fixtures 5 27,238
Transportation equipment 5 438
244,524
Accumulated depreciation and amortization {89,347)
Property and equipment, net $ 185,177

Depreciation expense was $23.4 million in 2019, $21.2 million in 2018, and $17.3 million in 2017.
We paid $20.8 million and $2.2 miltion for real estate and the expansion of existing huildings in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

[n 2017, we purchased an office building in Latham, New York for approximately $2.9 million and paid $2.1 million for improvements to that
building. We also paid $19.4 milfion for construction to expand our office building in Yarmouth, Maine.

{4) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Enterprise Appraisal
Software and Tax Total
Balance as of 12/31/2017 $ 651,434 $ 6,557 $ 657,987
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of Socrata 75,657 — 75,657
Goodwill acguired related to other acquisitions 20,074 — 20,074

Balance as of 12/31/2018
Goodwill acquired related fo the purchase of MicroPact

Goadwill acquirad related to other acquisitions
Balance as of 12/31/201%
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Other intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consists of the following at December 31:

2019 2018

Gross carrying amount of other intangibles:

Gustomer related intangibles $ 238,219
Acquired software 202,416
Trade names 16,505
Capitalized software development costs —
Leases acquired 3,694
461,234
Accumulated amortization (134,382)
Total ather intangibles, net $ 276,852

Amortization expense for acquired software and capitalized software development costs are recorded to cost of revenues. Amortization expense
for customer relationships and trade names are recorded to selling, general and administrative expenses. Total amortization expense for other
intangibles was $52.8 millien in 2019, $39.6 million in 2018, and $35.5 million in 2017,

The amortization periods of other intangible assets are summarized in the following table:

Dacember 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Weighted Weighted
Gross Averagn Gross Average
Carrying Amortization  Accumulated Garrying Amortization  Accumslated

Amaunt . Period Amortization Amount Periot Amartization

Non-amortizable intangibles:

Goodwill $753,718 — L
Amortizable intangibles:

Customer related intangibles 238,219 15 years 78,120

Acquired software 202,416 T years 99,772

Trade names 16,305 11 years 5139

Capitalized software development costs 4 — — b J—

|.eases acquired 3,694 10 years 1,351

Estimated annual amortization expense related to acquired leases will be recorded as a reduction to hardware and other revenue and is
axpected to be $525,000 in 2020, $525,000 in 2021, $525,000 in 2022, $525,000 (n 2023, $525,000 in 2024, and $512,000 thereafter.

Estimated annual amortization expense related to other intangbles, Including customer relationships, acquired software, trade names and
capitalized software development costs is as follows:

2020 $ 54,045
2021 h3,687
2022 49,589
2023 31,838
2024 31,213
Thereaftsr $ 155,005
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(5) AGGRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

2018
Accrued wages, honuses and commissions $40,100
Other accrued liabilities 26,380

{66,480

{6) REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT

On September 30, 2019, we entered into a $400 million credit agreement (the “Credit Facility") with the various lenders party thereto and

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent. The Credit Agreement provides for an unsecured revolving credit facility in

an aggregate principal amount of up to $400.0 million, including a $25.0 million sublimit for letters of credit, The Credit Facility matures cn
September 30, 2024. Borrowings under the Credit Facility may be used for general corporate purposes, including working capital reguirements,
acguisitions and share repurchases.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate of either (1) Wells Fargo Bank's prime rate (subject to certain higher rate
determinations) plus a margin of 0,125% to 0.75% or {2) the 30, 60, 20 or 180-day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1,75%. Asaf
December 31, 2019, our interest rate was 4.88% under the prime rate optlon or approximately 2.89% under the 30-day LIBOR option. The
Credit Facility requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments,
advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional Indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2019, we ware in
compliance with those covenants.

As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings and had unused borrowing capacity of $400 million under the Credit Facility, In
addition, as of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding letter of credit.

We paid interest of $1,750,000 in 2019, $770,000 in 2018, and $804,000C in 2017,
{7 INCOME TAX

The Income tax provision {(benefit) an income from operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Current:
Federal $ 9,110 $22,883
State 4,367 4,668
13,471 27,549
Deferred (5,069) {33,664)

$ 8408 $ (6,115
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Reconciiation of the U.S. statutory incorne tax rate to our effective income fax expense rate for operations follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2019 2018 207
Federal income tax expense at statutory rate $32,733 $ 57,209
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 7953 4,754
Domestic production activities deduction _— {2610
Excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises (32,487) (40,524)
Tax Act adjustments (1,756 {25,892
Tax credits (3,715} (3,578
Non-deductibie business expenses 5,655 4,573
Other, net 19 160

$ 8408 $ (5,115)

The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:
2019 2018

Deferred income tax assets:

Operating expenses not carrently deductible $ 8988
Stock option and other employee benefit plans 19,496
Loss and credit carryforwards 17,999
Total deferred income tax assets 46,484
Valuation allowance (1,049
Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance 45435
Deferred income tax liahilities:
[ntangible assets {70,752)
Property and equipment {8,455
Prepaid expenses {4,079)
Deferred revenue (3,940
Total deferred income tax liahilities (87,226}
Net deferred income tay liahilities $(41,791

As of December 31, 2019, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximaltely $85.2 million, after-fax state net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $3.1 miflion, and tax credit carnyforwards of approximately $4.8 millior., The federal net operating loss

carryforward will begin to expire in 2G32 if not utilized, and a portion of the state net operating loss and tax credit camryforwards begin explring in
2020 if not utilized,

The acquired carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation but are expected to be realized with the exception of certain state net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. The valuation allowance disclosed in the table abave relates to state net operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards that are likely to expire before utilization, We believe it is mare likely than not that all other deferred tax assets will he realized,
However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considerad realizable could be adjusted in the future if esimates of reversing taxable temporary
differences are revised.

In connection with the acquisition of Socrala in 2018, we recorded a $1.9 miltion liability for an unceitain tax position associated with acquired
tax credit carryforwards. The unrecognized tax benefits are Included in deferred income taxes in our consolidated balance sheets. The entire
amount, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. There was no change in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits during 2019.

Based on the information currently available, we do not anticipate a significant increase or decrease to our tax centingencies for these issues for
the next 12 months.
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We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax of multiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions, We are routinely subject to
income tax examinations by these taxing Jurisclictions, but we do not have a history of, nor do we expect any material adjustments as a result of
these examinations. With few exceptions, major U.S, federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer subject 1o examination for years
before 2015, As of February 19, 202C, no significant adjustments have been proposed by any taxing jurisdiction,

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $21.3 million in 2019, $&.8 million in 2018, and $36.0 million in 2017.
{8} SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The following table details activity in our common stock:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 7
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Stock optien exercises 1,126 $ 74,907 1,113 $49,845
Purchases of common stock (781) (150,050) (a4 16,613)
Employee stock plan purchase 45 8,051 41 7,044

Employee stock plan purchase

As of February 19, 2020, we had authorization from our board of directors lo repurchase up to 2.6 million additional shares of our common steck.

{9) SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-Based Compensation Plan

in May 2018, shareholders approved the Tyler Technalegies, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan ("the 2018 Plan") which amended and restated the
existing Tyler Technologles, Inc, 2010 Stock Option Plan ("the 2010 Plan”). Upon shareholdet approval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares
avallable for grant under the 201C Plan were added to the shares authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan. Additionally, any awards previously
granted under the 2010 Plan thet expire unexercised or ars forfeited are added to the shares authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan.

During fiscal year 2019, we granted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options, restricted stock units and performance
share units. Stock options generally vest after three o six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of
10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can purchase shares of our common stock at the market price on the date we
granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the date of grant.
Each performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of certain financial
performance targets during applicable performance periods. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition
pursuant ta ASC 718, Stack Compensation. '

As of December 31, 2019, there were 3.1 million shares available for future grants under the plan from the 22.9 million shares previously
approved by the shareholders.
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Determining Fair Value of Stock Compensatien

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.
For restricted stock unit and performance stock unit awards, we amortize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service perfods, which are generally the vesting periods,

Expected Life. The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The expected
life represents the weighted-average perlod the stock options are expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms,
remaining contractual life and the employees’ expacted exercise based on historical patterns.

Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation meodel, we estimate the volatility of our comman stock at the date of grant based
on the historical volatility of our common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes opticn valuation modal on the implied yield currently
available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent ramaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock in mare than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foresecable future. Consequently, we use an expacted dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation modal,

Expected Forfeitures. We use historical data tc estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures. We record share-based compensation only for those
awards that are expected to vest.

The following weighted average as;umptions were used for options granted:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2018 2017
Expected life (in years) 6.0 6.0
Expected volatility 76.1% 28.1%
Risk-free interest rate 2.1% 2.0%
Expected forfeiture rate 3 e

Share-Based Award Activity

The following table sumimarizes restricted stock unit and performance steck unit activity during fiscal year 2019 (shares in thousands):

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair
Number Value par
of Shares Share
Unvested at January 1, 2018 — 3 —
Granted 336 221,29
Yested — —_
Forfeited
Unvested at December 31, 2018
Granted
Yested
Forfeited

Unvested at December 31, 2019
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Options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Ramaining Aggregale
Number Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
of Shares Price Life (Years} Valug
Qutstanding at December 31, 2018 5,156 $ 83.64
Granted 824 176.26
Exercised {1,113} 44,80
Forfeited (50) 13483
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 4,817 107.91
Granted 432 208.21
Exercised {1,126) 66.53
Forfaited (31) 158.80
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Forfaited

Qutstanding at December 31, 2019
Exercisable at December 31, 2019

We had unvested options to purchase 1.2 million shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $188.48 as of December 31, 2019,
and unvested aptions to purchase 1.7 million shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $169.24 as of December 31, 2018,

Other informaticn pertaining te option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2019 2018 2017

Weighted average grant-tate fair valug of steck options granted
Total intrinsic value of stack options exercised

$ 6652 $ 5558
$ 176,716 $ 137,69¢

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which Is recorded in the consolidated
staternents of comprehansive income: ’

Years Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Cast of softwate setvices, maintenance and subseriptions $13,588 $ 9415
Selling, general and administrative expanses 39,152 27933
Total share-based compensation sxpenses 52,740 37.348
Excess tax benefit (32,487 (40,624)
Net decrease {fncrease) in net income $20,253 $ (3,276}

As of December 31, 2019, we had $148.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options and restricted stock
units, net of expected forfeitures, which is expected to be amottized over a weighted average amortization period of 2.5 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"} participants may contribute up to 15% of their annual compensation to purchase commen

shares of Tyler. The purchase price of the shares is equal to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering
period. As of December 31, 2019, there were 702,000 shares avallable for future issuances the ESPP from the 2.0 million shares previously

approved by the shareholders,
{10) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Baslc earnings and diluted earnings per share data were computed as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2018 2018 2017
Numerator for basic and diluted eamings per share:
Net income $147 462 $169,571
Denaminator:
Weighted-average basic comman shares outstanding 38,445 37,213
Assumed conversion of dilutive securities:
Stock options 1,678 1,973
Denominator for diluted earnings per share — Adjusted weighted-average shares 40,123 39,246
Earnings per common Share:
Basic § 38 $ A55
Diluted $ 368 b oam

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase comimen stock of 633,000 shares in 2019, 888,000 shares in 2018, and 1,343,000 shares

in 2017 were net included In the computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect.
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(11} LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transporiation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable
operating lease agreements and they expire in one year to eight years, Some of these leases include options to extend for up to 10 years. We
had no finance leases and no related party lease agreements as of December 31, 2019. Operating lease costs were approximately $3.9 million
in 2019, $7.4 million in 2018, and $6.9 million in 2017,

The components of operating lease expense were as follows {in thousands):

Lease Costs Financial Statement Elassification For the year ended 2019
Operating lease cost Selling, peneral and administrative expenses
Short-term lease cost Selling, general and administrative expenses
Variable lease cost Sefling, genera} and administrative expenses

Net lease cost

As of December 31, 2019, ROU lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases were recorded in the conselidated balance sheet as
fallows (in thousands):

December 31, 2019

Assets:

Operating Yease right-of-use assets
Liabilities:

Operating leases, short-term

Operating leases, long-term

Total lease liabilities

Supplemental information refated to leases was as follows:

Other Information For the year ended 2019

Cash Flows (in thousands):

Cash paid amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases
Right-of-use assats obtained in exchange for lease obligations (nen-cash):

Operating leases

|.ease Term and Biscount Rate:

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Waighted average discount rate

&2
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As of December 31, 2019, maturities of lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands}):

Years Ending December 31, Amount
2020 $ 7,68
221 6,246
2022 3,960
2023 2523
2024 2418
Thereafter 2,042
Total lease payments 25,333
Less: Interest {2,124}
Present value of operating lease liabilities 323,209

As of December 31, 2018, the future minimum lease commitments related to lease agreements under Topic 840, the predecessor of Topic 842,
were as follows (in thousands}:

Years Ending December 31, Amount
2019 $ 59%
2026 5,146
2021 3,976
2022 1,925
2023 1,164
Thereafter 2,132
Total $20,337

Rental Income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Troy, Michigan; Latham, New York; and
Moraine, Ohio. We lease space in sorme of these buildings to third-party tenants. The property we lease to others under operating leases conslsts
primarily of specific facilities where one fenant cbtains substantially al! of the economic benefit from the asset and has the right 1o direct the use
of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire between 2020 and 2025, some of which have options to exiend the lease for up to five years.
We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lessee to purchase the leased asset.

Rental income from {hird~party tepants was $1.1 million in 2012, $1.2 million in 2018, and $1.5 million in 2017. Rental income is includad in
Hardware and cther revenue on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Future minimum operating rental income based on
contractual agreements is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31, )  Amount
2020 $1,341
2021 1372
2022 1,402
2023 1,432
2024 1,462
Thereafter 857
Total $7,865

As of December 31, 2019, we had no additicnal significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.
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{12) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can

‘contribute up to 30% of their current compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 3% of

an employee’s compensation to the plan. We made contributions to the plan and charged operating results $11.5 million in 2019, $2.3 million
in 2018, and $7.9 million in 2017.

{13} COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Other than routine litigation incidental to our business, there are no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of
our properties are subject,

{(14) SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local governments.
We provide our software systemns and services and appraisal services through six business units, which focus on the following products:

« financial management, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance sofiware solutions; . -

+ financial management, municlpal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance, and land and vital records management software solutions;
+ courts and justice and public safety software soiutions;

+ data and insights solutions;

+ case management and business management solutions; and

+ appraisal and tax software sclutions and property appraisal services.

In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reparting, the financial managament, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance software
solutions unit; financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance, and land and vital records management software
solutions unit; courts and justice and public safety software solutions unit; the data and insights solutions unit; and case management and
business managament solutions unit meet the criteria for aggregation and are presented in one reportable segment, Enterprise Scftware (“ES").
The ES segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to meet their information technelogy and automation needs
for mission-critical “back-office” functions such as: financial management and education, courts and justice, public safety, planning, regulatory
and maintenance, land and vital records management, data and insights and case management and business management processes, The
Appralsal and Tax (*A&T") segment provides systems and scftware that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property
as well as property appraisal outsourcing services for local governments and taxing autherities. Property appraisal outsourcing services include:
the physical inspection of commercial and residential properties; data collection and processing; computer analysis for property valuation;
preparation of tax rolls; community education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We define
segment operating income for our business units &s income bafore noncash amertization of intangible assets associated with their acguisition,
interest expense and income taxes. Segment operating income includes intercompany transactions. The majority of intercompany fransactions
relate to contracts involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual arrangement. Segment operating income for corporate
primarity consists of compensation costs for the executive management team and certain accounting and administrative staff and share-

based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also includes revenues and expenses related to a
company-wide user conference, The accounting policles of the reperiable segments are the same as those described in Note 1, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies.”

Segment assets include net accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets and net property and equipment. Corporate assets
consist of cash and investmants, prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, capitalized software development costs, deferred
income taxes and net property and equipment mainly related to unallocated information and technology assets.

ES segment capital expenditures included $12.6 million in 2019 and $2.2 million In 2018 for the expansion of existing buildings and purchases
of buildings and land. A&T segment capital expendituras included $8.2 million tn 2019 for the expansion of existing buildings,
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For the year ended December 31, 2019

Enterprise

Software

Appralsal
and Tax Corporate Totals

Revenues

Software licenses and toyalties
Subscripkions

Softwate services
Maintenance

Appraisal services

Hardware and other
Intercompany

Tolak revenues

Depreciation and amostization expense
Segment operating income

Capital expenditures

Segment assets

Enterprise Appraisal

For the year ended December 31, 2018 Software and Tax Gorporate Tolals
Revenues

Software licenses an royakties $ 83738 & 9,708 $ —_ $ 93,441
Subscriptions 210,740 9,807 — 220,547
Software services 166,921 24,348 — 191,265
Maintenance 359,904 24,617 —_ 384,521
Appraisal services — 21,846 — 21,846
Hardware and othar 18,745 32 4,881 23,658
Intercompany 13,155 — (13,155} —
Total revenues $853,200 $ 90,355 $ @©2m $ 935,282
Deprectation and amortization expense 50,130 914 10,?15 61,759
Segment operating income 237,158 23,094 (68,572) 191,681
Capital expenditures 13,973 782 10,377 25132
Segment assets _ $556,100 $ 63,670 $1,171,193 $1,790,963

Enterprise Appraisal

For the year ended December 31, 2017 Software and Tax Gorporate Totals
Revenues

Software licenses and royalties $ 78388 $ 7,854 § — $ 86,242
Subscriptions 614,317 7,859 e 172,176
Software services 161,245 19,215 — . 180,450
Maintenance 337,761 21,618 — 359,319
Appraisal services — 25,023 — 25,023
Hardware ani other 13,057 10 4,612 17,479
Intercompany 10,425 — (10,425) —
Total revenues $765,133 $ 81,579 $ (5,813 $ 840,899
Depreciation and amortization expense 43,987 760 8,648 53,359
Segment operating income 229,001 20,788 (51,964) 197,825
Capital expenditures 28,096 1,181 16,341 45,518
Segment assets $365,736 $ 16,279 $1,109,338 $1,611,351

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPGRT 2019
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Years Ended December 31,

Reconciliation of reportable segment aperating income to the Company's consolidated totals: 2019 2018 2017

Total segment operating income $191,681 $197,875
hmortization of acquired software (22,912 {21,686)
Amartization of customer and trade name intangibles (18,217) (13,381)
Other income (expense), net 3,378 698
Income before income Eaxes $155,870 $163,458

(15} DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disagaregation of revenue info categorles that reflect how econemic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and

uncartainty of revenue and cash flows.
Timing of Revenue Recognition

Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the peried is as follows:

Preducts
and Services Products
Transferred  and Services
ata Poini Transferred
Far the year ended December 31, 2019 in Time Over Time Tatal

Revenues

Software licenses and royalties

Subscriptions

Software services

Maintenance

Appraisal services

Hardware and other

Total
Products
and Services Products
Transferred  and Services
at a Point Transferred
For the year ended December 31, 2018 in Time Over Time Total
Revenues
Software licenses and royalties $ 75,188 $ 18,253 $ 93441
Subscriptions — 220,547 220,547
Software services — 191,269 191,265
Maintenance — 384,521 384,521
Appraisal services — 21,846 21,846
Hardware and other 23,658 — 23,658
Total $ 98,846 $836,436 $935,282
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Products
and Services Products
Transferred  and Services
al a Point Transferred

For the year ended December 31, 2017 in Time Qver Time Total

Revenues
Software licenses and royalties $ 69,167 $ 17,075 $ 86,242
Subseriptions — 172176 172,178
Software services — 180,460 180,460
Maintenance — 359,319 359,319
Appraisal services . — 25,023 25,023
Hardware and other 17,678 — 17,679

Tatal $ 86,846 $754,053 $840,899

Recurring Revenue

The majority of our revenue is comprised of recuiring revanues from maintenance and subscriptions. Virtually all of our on-premises software
clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which providas us with a significant source of recurring revenue. We generally provide
maintenance and support far our on-premises cliants under annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts, The contract teyms for subscription

arrangements range from one to 10 years bu are typically contracted for (nitial periods of three to five years. Non-recurring revenues are derived
from all other revenue categories.

Recurring revenues and non-recurring revenues recognized during the pertod are as follows:

Enterprise Appraisat
For the year ended December 31, 201% Software ant Tax Corporate Totals

Recumring revenues

Non-recurring revenues

Intercompany

Total revenues

Enterprise Apnpraisal
For the year ended December 31, 2018 Software and Tax Corporate Totals
Recurring revenues $570,645 $ 34,424 | J— $605,069
Non-recurring ravenues 269,400 55,932 4,881 330,213
intercompany 13,155 — (13,155) —
Total revenues $853,200 $ 90,356 $ (8,270 $935,282
. Enterprise Appraisal
For the year ended December 31, 2017 Software and Tax Gorporate Totals
Recurring reventes $ 502,018 $ 29,477 §  — $ 531,495
Non-fecusring revenues 252,690 52,102 4,812 309,404
Intercompany 10,425 — {10,425) —
Tota! revenues $ 756,133 $ 81579 $ (5,813 $ 840,899
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{16) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total deferred revenue, including long-term, by segment is as follows:

December 31, 2018
Enterptise software $ 327,521
Appraisal and tax 20,018
Corporate 3,397
Totals 350,936
Changes in total deferred revenue, including long-term, were as follows:
2019

Balance at beginning of year
Deferral of revenue
Recognition of deferred revenue

Balance at end of year

Transaction Price Allocated %o the Remaining Performance Obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated fo the remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet
been recognized (“Backlog®), which includes deferred revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods.
Backlog as of December 31, 2019 was $1.46 billion, of which we expect to recognize approximately 49% as revenue over the next 12 months
and the remainder thereafter.,

(17) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions earnad by cur sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with & customer. Sales
commissions for initia) contracts are deferred and then amoriized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period

of henefit that we have determined to be three to seven vears, Deferred commissions were $29.8 million, $21.9 million, as of December 31,
2019, and 2018 respectively, Amortization sxpense was $17.8 millien $15.6 million, $11.2 rmillion for the twelve months ended December
31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respactively. There were no indicators of impairment in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented,
Deferred cornmissicns have been included with prepald expenses in the accompanying consolidated batance sheets. Amortization expense
related to deferred commissions is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
comprehensive income,

{18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There ara no material events or transactions that have occurred subsequent to December 31, 2019,
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. (19} QUARTERLY FINANGIAL INFORMATION {UNAUDITED)

The following table contains selectsd financial information from unaudited statements of income for each quarter of 2019 and 2018:

Qnarters Ended

Revenues

Gross profit

Income before income tanes
Net income

Eamings per diluked share

Shares used in compuiing
diluted eagnings per share

2018 2018
DBec. 31 Sept, 30 June 30 Mar. 31 Pec, 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

$241,981 $236,067 $ 236,080 §221,174

115,871 111,626 109,276 102,805

40,107 38,626 37,700 39,437

31,562 38,924 39,161 37.825

$ 079 $ 096 $ 097 $ 085

39,891 40,528 40,224 39,836
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Performance Graph

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the
Standard and Poar's 600 Information Technology Index assuming a $100 investment made on December 31, 2014, Each of the three measures
of cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of dividends, The stock performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of
future price performance.

COMPARISDN OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

$300
$200
$100
$0

2014 2015 2016 2011 2018 2019
—g— 100 159.28 130.46 161.78 169.79 274.14
—— 100 101.38 113.51 138.29 132.23 173.86
ee@ee 100 104.65 140.08 154.48 140.68 196.38

wigrem Tyler Technologies, Inc.
e 5&P 500 Stock [ndex
~o@e- S&P 600 Infarmation Technology Index
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Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division provides systems and software that automate the appraisal
and assessment of real and personal property and the recording of land and vital records. These
activities include record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll
generation, tax statement processing and electronic staie-level reporting. These systems are image and
video-enabled to facilitate the storage of and access to the many property-related and vital record
documents and for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for use in defending values in
protest situations. Other related tax applications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes,
including cities, counties, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These systems

support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various
reporting requirements.

Tyler Technologies' Public Safety Division provides public safety software that is a fully unified and
comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/computer aided dispatch
{“CAD"}, records management, mobile computing, corrections management, Web-based information
sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and
providing full functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient
dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s database.

Please also see attached 2019 Annual Report.
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Division of Corporations

Entity Information

The information contained in this database is current through November 17, 2020.
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DOSID #: 3168959
Initial DOS Filing Date: FEBRUARY 25, 2005
County: ALBANY
Jurisdiction: DELAWARE
Entity Type: FOREIGN BUSINESS CORPORATION

Current Entity Status: ACTIVE

Selected Entity Address Information
- DOS Process (Address to which DOS will mail process if accepted on behalf of the entity)
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
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Chief Executive Officer

JOHN S MARR JR
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PLANO, TEXAS, 75024

Principal Executive Office

TYLER TECHINOLOGIES, INC.
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CAPITOL SERVICES, INC.
1218 CENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 100
ALBANY, NEW YORK, 12205

This office does not record information regarding
the names and addresses of officers, shareholders
or directors of nonprofessional corporations except
the chief executive officer, if provided, which
would be listed above. Professional corporations
must include the name(s) and address(es) of the
initial officers, directors, and shareholders in the
initial certificate of incorporation, however this
information is not recorded and only available by

viewing the certificate. :

*Stock Information

# of Shares Type of Stock $ Value per Share

No Information Available
*Stock information is applicable to domestic business corporations.

Name History

Filing Date Name Type Entity Name
FEB 25, 2005 Actual TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

A Fictitious name must be used when the Actual name of a foreign entity is unavailable for use in
New York State. The entity must use the fictitious name when conducting its activities or business in
New York State.

NOTE: New York State does not issue organizational identification numbers.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
of
Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tyler”) expects all officers, directors, and employees to exercise the
highest degree of prefessional business ethics in all actions they undertake on behalf of Tyler.
Accordingly, Tyler expects its officers, directors, and employees to act at all times in accordance
with the policies outlined herein. These policies apply to all officers, directors, and employees,
including, without limitation, Tyler’'s principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer, and all persons performing similar functions.

Any employee who has questions regarding these policies should contact their human
resources representative or Tyler's chief human resources officer. An employee should
immediately report any violations of these policies to Tyler’s chief human resources officer. The
policies in this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be strictly enforced. Tyler will take
appropriate disciplinary action with respect to those involved in any violations of these policies,
including, where appropriate, dismissal. Tyler will not retaliate against an employee for
reporting violations. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is not intended to affect the
status of any employee or to enhance or diminish any employee’s contract rights or rights
under otherwise applicable law.

Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns

If any employee has any concerns about any accounting, auditing, internal accounting controls,
or related matter, they are encouraged to bring the matter to the attention of Tyler’s audit
committee chairperson. The audit committee is composed of three (3) or more independent
members of Tyler’s board of directors and assists the board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibility to Tyler's stockholders, potential stockholders, the investment community, and
others relating to Tyler's financial statements, financial reporting, and processes. The audit
committee chairperson can be contacted in any of the following ways:

1. By phone at (866) 376-4128
2. By Internet at http;//www.openboard.info/tyl

3. By mail at
Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Board of Directors, Audit Committee Chairperson
5101 Tennyscn Parkway
Plano, TX 75024

Reports regarding accounting, auditing, or related matters will be kept strictly confidential. in
addition, the employee or other person réising the issue is under no obligation o reveal their
identity in connection with the reporting process. Please reference Tyler's Whistleblower
Policy for additional information, including how to maintain anonymity in reporting.

Tyler Technologies October 30, 2020 1



Introduction and Purpose

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and promote the
following:

s Honest and ethical conduct, including ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of
interest between personal and professional relationships;

¢ Avoidance of conflicts of interest, including disclosure to the appropriate person
identified herein of any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could be
expected to give rise to such a conflict;

o Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that
Tyler files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Commission and in other
public communications by Tyler;

¢ Compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations;

* Promptinternal reporting to the appropriate person identified herein of any violations
of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

¢ Accountability for adherence to the policies contained in this Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics.

General Principles for Business Conduct

e Tyler and its employee shall comply with all applicable legal requirements of any
federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business.

e The use of any Tyler assets for any unlawful or improper purpose is strictly
prohibited.

s No undisclosed fund or asset shall be established or maintained for any purpose.

No false or misleading entries shall be made for any reason in Tyler’s books, records, or other
financial documents, or in any materiais prepared for or submitted to Tyler’s accountants or
independent auditors, and no employee shall engage in any arrangement that results in such
prohibited act. In addition, all employees dealing with or providing information or
documentation to Tyler’'s accountants or independent auditors must provide complete and
accurate information, and must immediately report any request, suggestion, or threat that they
do otherwise to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under
“Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Just as Tyler expects all employees to speak henestly to clients, potential clients, and vendors,
Tyler also expects all employees to display the same integrity in anything they write, whether
for internal or external use. Therefore, all internal records, memoranda, and other documents
must be accurate, complete, and truthful and must be maintained in that condition without any
alteration, falsification, omission, or other change that would mislead someone reviewing the
record about its original contents or meaning. Any employee who is asked or directed to
engage in such prohibited conduct should immediately report it to their human resources

Tyler Technologies October 30, 2020 2



representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer, or, if it concerns questionable
accounting or auditing matters, to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined
above under “Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Retaliation against any employee as a result of their bringing forward any questions, concerns,
or complaints about accounting or auditing matters, recording of information, record retention,
or any other matter concerning the honesty and integrity of Tyler’s operations or financial
reporting is strictly prohibited. Similarly, retaliation is prohibited against any employee who
provides accurate information to any law enforcement agency about the commission of any
state or federal offense. Any employee who feels that they have been retaliated against or
threatened with retaliation for these reasons should immediately report it to Tyler’s chief
human resources officer, or, if it concerns questionable accounting or auditing matters, to the
chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under “Anonymous Reporting of
Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

No payment on behalf of Tyler shall be approved without adequate supporting documentation
or made with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for
any purpose other than as described by the documentation supporting the payment.

No Tyler confidential information shall be used or revealed within or outside of Tyler without
proper authorization and purpose.

The use of Tyler employees, materials, or equipment for personal purposes is strictly
prohibited, unless specifically authorized.

Compliance with established internal control procedures is required at all times.

Political Activities and Contributions

Tyler will not make any contribution to or for any political party, committee, or candidate for
any public office. Any employee requested by another employee to contribute Tyler funds to a
political party, committee, or candidate for public office should decline to do so and promptly
notify their human resources representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer of the
details of any such reguest.

Payments to Government Officials and Personnel

Tyler's relationships with governmental agencies and their personnel in any federal, state,
local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business shall be conducted so that full
disclosure of the conduct witl not impugn or jeopardize Tyler’s integrity or reputation.
Accordingly, payments to government perscennel, including gifts of substantial value or lavish
entertainment, is strictly prohibited, whether the payment is made from personal funds or
assets or those of Tyler, and whether made directly or indirectly through consultants, advisors,
suppliers, clients, or other third parties.
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Use of Agents and Others to Assist in Obtaining and Performing Contracts

From time to time, Tyler may elect to use consultants, distributors, representatives, and agents
to assist in obtaining or performing contracts. These representatives must be bona fide
professional individuals or organizations, they must render bona fide services, and their
compensation must be limited to a reasonabie fee for their services. A representative may not
be employed by Tyler if they are connected directly or indirectly to the prospective client or to
an official or agent of a prospective client.

Conflicts of Interest

Tyler expects the undivided loyalty of its employees in the conduct of business. It is important
that employees be free from any financial interests or other relationships that might conflict
with the best interests of Tyler. Accordingly, each employee shall avoid any investment or other
interest in any business that would conflict with the proper performance of their duties or
responsibilities for Tyler, or which might interfere with their independence of judgment with
respect to the transactions between Tyler and such other business.

While it is impossible to enumerate all situations in which possible conflicts might arise, the
following are some examples:

¢ To give or receive gifts of more than token value that are in any way connected with the
business relationship;

e Tolend or borrow money or other assets from individuals or concerns that do business
with or compete against Tyler, except banks and other financial institutions;

e To serve as an officer, director, employee, or consultant of, or receive any income from
any enterprise doing business with or competing against Tyler, or seeking to do so, or to
own an interest in or engage in the management of an organization providing services
or products to Tyler, or to which Tyler sells, or with which Tyler competes, except when
such interest (1) comprises publicly traded securities listed on a national securities
exchange, NASDAQ, or the OTC margin list and (2) is not in excess of 5% of the securities
of such company; '

e To accept compensation from outsiders for services for which the employee is being
paid by Tyler;

e To speculate or deal in materials, equipment, supplies, products, lands, leases, or
praperty purchased or sold by Tyler, or for which negotiations to purchase, acquire, or
sell are pending or may reasonably be anticipated, or to receive {other than from Tyler)
any compensation, bonus, or commission in connection with any transaction relating to
Tyler’s business;

e To knowingly cause, directly or indirectly, Tyler to enter into a business transaction with
a close relative of a Tyler employee or business enterprise of such relative;

¢ To knowingly buy or sell for the employee’s own account or the account of a
relative of a Tyler employee any security or other interest which Tyler may be
considering buying or selling, or has decided to buy or sell, until Tyler’'s decision has
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been completely executed and publicly announced; and/or

+ To transmit any knowledge of any consideration or decisions of any information
that might be prejudicial to the interests of Tyler to any person, except as may be
necessary for the proper discharge of the employee’s responsibilities on behalf of
Tyler.

If an employee finds that they have, or are considering the assumption of, a financial interest or
outside relationship that might involve a conflict of interest, or if the employee has any doubt
as to the proper application of this policy, they should promptly make all facts known to Tyler’s
chief human resources officer and refrain from any exercise of responsibility in any manner
that might reasonably be considered to be affected by such adverse interest.

Protection of Confidential or Proprietary Information

Tyler's confidential and proprietary information is vital to its current operations and future
success. Each employee shall use reasonable care to protect or otherwise prevent the
unauthorized disclosure of such information. In no event shall confidential information be
disclosed or revealed within or outside Tyler without proper authorization or a permitted
purpose. |f an employee is uncertain whether certain information should he treated as
confidential, the employee should presume that such information is confidential and not
disclose it without confirmation that there is proper authorization or a permitted purpose.

By way of example, confidential or proprietary information includes information relating to
Tyler's business methods, business plans, research, development, inventions, databases,
systems, systems designs, technolegy, intellectual property, know-how, management, business
development, operations, products, services, pricing strategies, client sources, employee
records, terms and conditions of arrangements of any business or clients, client lists, methods
of competing, financial statements, financial projections, financing methods, and other
proprietary information.

Prohibition Against Insider Trading

Insider trading is the trading of Tyler stock while in possession of material “inside” or nonpublic
information. This includes the purchase or sale of Tyler stock on the open market through a
stockbroker of your choice or through an online brokerage account, the exercise of stock
options and corresponding sale of the underlying stock, the sale of stock acquired through
Tyler's Employee Stock Purchase Plan {following the applicable holding periods), or the short
sale of Tyler stock. The prohibition against trading other than during the trading window also
encompasses the fulfillment of “limit orders” placed with a broker, and the brokers with whom
any such limit order is placed must be so instructed at the time it is placed. The prohibition does
not, however, include the purchase of stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan pursuant
to previously authorized payroll deductions.

]H

In addition to the prohibition against trading, it is also a violation of the federal securities laws
to disclose (or tip) material nonpublic information to another person who subsequently uses
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that information to their profit.

What is “material nonpublic information?”

In general, information is “material” if its disclosure to the public would affect an investor’s
decision to purchase or sell Tyler stock. It is difficult to describe all the types of material
nonpublic information a Tyler employee may possess that could cause problems with trading or
tipping others to trade Tyler stock. Some examples of material nonpublic information about
Tyler include information or knowledge about the following events:

Tyler’s quarterly or annual earnings or other important financial information;
Changes in previously disclosed financial information, including earnings estimates;
Tyler has suffered, or is about to suffer, extraordinary losses or costs;

Tyler has realized, or is about to realize, extraordinary earnings;

Tyler is making changes in previously disclosed financialinformation;

Tyler has entered into, or is about to enter into, an important contract with a client, or
that such a contract has bean terminated or is about fo be terminated,;

A merger, acquisition, or takeover;

Acquisition or sale of a company, a division, or a significant amount of assets;

Tyler plans to declare stock splits, stock dividends, or cash dividends;

Tyler becomes a party to major litigation;

Tyler is making significant changes in management;

Tyler plans to make significant changes in operations; and/or

Tyler has achieved a milestone. .

In most cases, employees should presume that information concerning any of these events is
material. If an employee has any questions about what information is material, or whether the
information has been disclosed to the public, they should contact Tyler’s chief legal officer,

General Trading Limitations
All employees, officers, and directors must comply with the following restrictions:

1.

They may not buy or sell Tyler stock during the period beginning on the first business
day after the end of each fiscal quarter through the close of trading on the second full
business day after release of the quarter’s operating results to the public. This blackout
period is intended to remove any appearance that you may have traded based on
material nonpublic information concerning the financial results.

If, during times other than the blackout period referred to above, they possess material
information (good or bad) that is unknown to the general public (in other words,
information that they have not read in the newspaper, Tyler’s press releases, or annual
or quarterly reports, or seen publicly displayed on the bulletin boards around Tyler’s
facilities), then they are prohibited from buying or selling Tyler stock until after the close
of trading on the second full business day after such material information has been
released to the public.

3. They are prohibited from sharing material nonpublic information with others (friends,
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family, stockbrokers, strangers) that buy or seli our stock or recommending that they
trade or hold Tyler stock based on the material nonpublic information or at any time
when the employee, officer, or director possesses material nonpublic information.

4. They may not give material honpublic information to others, even if they are not buying
or selling Tyler stock, without Tyler’s permission. In other words, they may not give this
information except where it is required in the performance of duties as an employee,
officer, or director of Tyler and they have permission to do so.

These restrictions also apply to family members and others living in the household of the
employee, officer, or director.

These general trading limitations are based upon U.S. securities laws. Compliance with these
general rules should mean compliance with applicable U.S. laws, as well as the regulations of
the New York Stock Exchange.

Property Rights

During and subsequent to employment by Tyler, an employee must disclose to Tyler all ideas,
concepts, inventions, improvements, and discoveries, including those related to software, and
any and all writings including those related to software, regardless of the media that are
conceived, made, or reduced to practice by the employee, provided that such ideas, concepts,
inventions, improvements, and discoveries arise from or relate to work done for or on behalf of
Tyler, relate to Tyler’s business, involve the employee’s use of Tyler equipment, facilities, or
time, or arise out of any information received regarding Tyler’s business. It is each employee’s
responsibility to fully disclose to Tyler as promptly as available all information known or
possessed by the employee concerning these property rights. Where appropriate, ideas or
questions should be directed to Tyler’s chief legal officer for patent, copyright, trademark, or
trade secret protection.

Employee Health and Safety

Creating and maintaining a safe environment for our employees is a priority at Tyler. Asa
company, Tyler makes every effort to comply with all applicable health and safety laws,
enlisting the assistance of employeas to help keep facilities free of hazardous conditions.
Employees should immediately report all work-related accidents or injuries as well as any
hazardous or unsafe conditions. In addition, Tyler will not tolerate any violent behavior in the
workplace.

Equal Employment and Non-Discrimination

Tyler believes it is important to have a diverse workforce and an inclusive workplace, and is
committed to encouraging diversity of background, culture, experiences, insights, and skills in
its workforce. In keeping with Tyler's commitment to the personal dignity of employees, Tyler
supports each individual’s right to be treated with courtesy and respect.

Tyler is an equal opportunity / affirmative action employer and prohibits discrimination and
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promotes equality in its employment policies and practices. Management and supervisory
employees are responsible for making decisions affecting employees without regard to race,
religion, color, gender/sex, gender identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, marital
status, creed, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, age, disability, veteran’s status, and
any other status protected under local, state, or federal laws. This includes decisions regarding
all aspects of the employment relationship, including recruitment, selection, promotion and
transfers, performance appraisals, compensation, and termination.

These policies are implemented in compliance with applicable federal, state and loca!
nondiscrimination and affirmative action laws and regulations.

If an employee believes that they have been subjected to discrimination by employees, officers
or agents for Tyler, they should report the incident to their manager, their human resources
representative, or directly to their division president, who will investigate and attempt to
resolve the matter.

Anti-Harassment Policy

In order to promote a professional and productive work environment in which all employees
are treated with dignity, courtesy, and respect, Tyler has adopted an Anti-Harassment Policy
prohibiting all forms of harassment. Such policy is included in Tyler's Employee Handbook and
has been distributed to all employees.

If at any time an employee feels that they have been subjected to or has observed harassment,
he or she should report the incident to any supervisor or manager. If the employee is not
comfortable taking the complaint to a supervisor or manager, they should contact their human
resources representative, their division president, or the chief human resources officer.
Employees may also make a complaint, anonymous or not, via Tyler’s Whistleblower Hotline
either online or by telephone.

Tyler also prohibits any adverse action or retaliation against an employee who makes a

complaint or otherwise participates in an investigation of discrimination or harassment. Tyler
will take disciplinary action against anyone who attempts to retaliate.
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NYS Department of State

Division of Corporations

Entity Information

The information contained in this database is current through November 17, 2020.

Selected Entity Name: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Selected Entity Status Information

Current Entity Name: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

DOSID #: 3168959
Initial POS Filing Date: FEBRUARY 25, 2005
County: ALBANY
Jurisdiction: DELAWARE
Entity Type: FOREIGN BUSINESS CORPORATION

Current Entity Status: ACTIVE

Selected Entity Address Information
DOS Process (Address to which DOS will mail process if accepted on behalf of the entity)
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY
PLANO, TEXAS, 75024
Chief Executive Officer

JOHN S MARR JR
5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY
PLANO, TEXAS, 75024

Principal Executive Office

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY
PLANO, TEXAS, 75024

Registered Agent



CAPITOL SERVICES, INC.
1218 CENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 100
ALBANY, NEW YORK, 12205

This office does not record information regarding
the names and addresses of officers, shareholders
or directors of nonprofessional corporations except
the chief executive officer, if provided, which
would be listed above. Professional corporations
must include the name(s) and address(es) of the
initial officers, directors, and shareholders in the
imitial certificate of incorporation, however this
information is not recorded and only available by
viewing the certificate,

*Stock Information

# of Shares Type of Stock $ Value per Share

No Information Available
*Stock information is applicable to domestic business corporations.

Name History

Filing Date Name Type Entity Name
FEB 25, 2005 Actual TYLER TECIHNOLOGIES, INC.

A Fictitious name must be used when the Actual name of a foreign entity is unavailable for use in
New York State. The entity must use the fictitious name when conducting its activities or business in
New York State.

NOTE: New York State does not issue organizational identification numbers.

Search Results New Search

Services/Programs | Privacy Policy | Accessibility Policy | Disclaimer | Return to DOS
Homepage | Contact Us




PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
guestionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TQ SUBMIT A COMPLETE
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BIR OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND 1T WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name:  Bryan Proctor

Date of birth: 05/M17/1976

Home address: 1021 Marywood Drive

City: Royal Qak State/Province/Territory: Ml Zip/Postal Code: 48067

Country: us

Business Address: 840 West Long Lake Road

City: - _Troy State/Province/Territory: M| Zip/Postal Code: 48098

Country Uus

Telephone: 2482691000

Other present address(es):

City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:
Country:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbetrs attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each {check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President
(Other)
Type Description Start Date
Other President, Public Safety Division 09/09/2019
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES X |NO If Yes, provide details.

Bryan Proctor owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.47% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by
insiders. Please see attached document.

1 File{s) Uploaded: Stockholder Information 112020.pdf

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES NO X | If Yes, provide details.
r
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5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES NO X if Yes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X If Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
resuit of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5

in which you have been a principal cwner or officer:;
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering inte contracts with that agency?
YES [ ]NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.,

c. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?

YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
|
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [ |NO I yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES NO If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
questionnaire.)

9. ~

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

I

b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES I:h NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken. )
|
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
f.

In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated businass listed
in response to Question 57

YES NO X | lfyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response

to Question 5, heen the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

in the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or adminisfrative proceedings with respect to any professionai
license held?

YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax retumns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circums{ances and corrective action taken.
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l, | Bryan Proctor | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

l, | Bryan Proctor | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement o enter intc a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Bryan Proctor [BRYAN.PROCTOR@TYLERTECH.COM]

President, Public Safety Division

Title

11/20/2020 01:28:00 PM

Date
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need maore space to
answer any question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
guestionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE

QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WilLL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Mark Hawkins

Date of birth: 07/23/1975

Home address: 2125 Stags Leap

City: Celina State/Province/Territory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75009
Country: uUs
Business Address: 5101 Tennyson Parkway

City: Plano State/ProvincefTerritory:  TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country us »

Telepheone: (972) 713-3770

Other present address(es):
City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:
Country:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2, Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President
(Other)
Type Description Stari Date
Other Senior Vice President of Operations, Appraisal | 08/01/2015
& Tax Division
Other President, Appraisal & Tax Division 02/18/2019
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES [ X |NO If Yes, provide details.

Mark Hawkins owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.47% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by
insiders. Please see attached document.

1 File{s) Uploaded: Stockholder Information 112020.pdf

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES |  |NO X | If Yes, provide details.
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5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES NO X | If Yes, provide details.
r

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
' 3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO | X If Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past {5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section &
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
| taken.
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

o

taken.
|
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES [ |NO If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all guestions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
guestionnaire.)

9. :
a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES |__L| NO [ X ] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
l
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I
e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
f. In the past b years, have ou been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO lf ves, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

Page 3 of 5 Rev. 3-2016



10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response
to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory

agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES NO X | lf yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional

license held?
YES NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but nof limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO I X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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I, | Mark Hawkins |, hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

l, | Mark Hawkins | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances ocourring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and ceriified at the date and time indicated by:
Mark Hawkins [MARK.HAWKINS@TYLERTECH.COM]

President, Appraisal & Tax Division

Title

11/20/2020 10:46:04 AM

Date
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
gquestionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1.

Principal Name: John S. Marr, Jr.

Date of birth: 03/07/1960

Home address: 5 Orchard Lane

City: Falmouth State/Province/Territory: ME Zip/Postal Code: 04105
Country: us

Business Address: One Tyler Drive

City: Yarmouth State/Province/Territory: ME Zip/Postal Code: 04096

Country Us

Telephone: (207) 772-2260

Other present address(es):

City: State/Province/Territory:

Country:

Zip/Postal Code:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)

President 07/01/2004 Treasurer

Chairman of Board 01/01/72017 Shareholder

Chief Exec. Officer 07/01/2004 Secretary

Chief Financial Officer Partner

Vice President

(Other)

Type Description Start Date
Other Chief Operating Officer 07/01/2003
Other Executive Chairman of the Board 05/09/2018
Other President of Munis 01/01/1994
Other Director, Board of Directors 05/01/2002

Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES X | NO If Yes, provide details.

insiders. Please see attached document.

John Marr Jr. owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.47% of Tyler Technologies Inc.'s shares are held by

1 File(s) Uploaded: Stockholder Information 112020.pdf

Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any ofher type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES | NO X | If Yes, provide details.
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5. - Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES | X | NO | If Yes, provide details.

Handy Boat (Boat Yard and Restaurant)
215 Foreside Road

Falmouth, ME 04105

Co-Owner with wife, Rebecca Marr

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X | If Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ ]NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
| taken.
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause cn any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
I
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptey proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES E NO if "'Yes', provide detalils for each such instance. {Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
guestionnaire.)

9.

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

|

b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
l
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related io the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
e. In the past b years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past & years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES | NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response

to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES [ |NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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l, | John S. Marr, Jr. , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

|, | John S. Marr, Jr. | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
John 8. Marr, Jr. [JOHN.MARRJR@TYL.LERTECH.COM]

Executive Chairman of the Board

Title

11/20/2020 10:39:25 AM

Date
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
CONSULTANT'S, CONTRACTOR'S AND VENDOR'S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Address: 5101 Tennyson Parkway

City: Plano State/Province/Territory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024

Country: Us

2. Entity's Vendor Identification Number: 752303920

3. Type of Business: _Public Corp (specify)

4, List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable
body, all partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and
officers of limited liability companies (attach additional sheets if necessary}:

1 File(s) uploaded Directors and Officers (11.1.20).docx
No principals have been attached to this form.

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or pariners of the firm. If the shareholder is not an
individual, list the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the
10K in lieu of completing this section.

If none, explain.

1 File(s) uploaded Tyler Technologies 10K (2.19.20}.pdf
No shareholders, members, or partners have been attached to this form.

6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above (if none, enter
"None"). Attach a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the
performance of this contract. Such disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not
previously disclosed that participate in the performance of the contract.

Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
Socrata, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Micropact, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Foundation - non-profit, charitable organization funded by Tyler Technologies, Inc.

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.}. If none, ente
"None." The term "lobbyist" means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any clien
to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, depariment heads,
legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Commitiee and Planning
Commission. Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real
property subject to County regulation, procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, frustee,
employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists involved in this matter?

YES [ |NO

Page 1 of 3



(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):
| None

{b) Describe lobbying activity of each lobbyist. See below for a complete description of lobbying activities.
| None

(c) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New
York State):
| None

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracis.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 11/20/2020 11:12:49 AM

Title: Chief Legal Officer
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County
Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local
legislation or resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any
local legislation or resolution, whether or not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any
determination by an elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of
goods, setvices or construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including by not limited to the
preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a contract or with respect to the
solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any
determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards,
commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory
Committee, the Planning Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property
subject to County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition
by the county of any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the
county, or with respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or
rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any
rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any
determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal,
modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an
officer or employes of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any
determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation,
whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been
formally proposed.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc. Directors as of 11/01/2020

*

Donald R. Brattain — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Glenn A. Carter — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Brenda A. Cline — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

J. Luther King, Jr. = 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Mary Landrieu - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
John S. Marr, Jr. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Danie! M. Pope — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Dustin R. Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414

H. Lynn Moore, Ir. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Tyler Technologies, Inc. Officers as of 11/01/2020

John S. Marr Jr. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Executive Chairman of the Board

Brian K. Miller — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
H. Lynn Moore Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Executive Officer, President

Matthew B. Bieri— 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Information Officer

Samantha B. Croshy — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Senior Strategy Officer

leff Pucketit — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Planc TX 75024

Chief Strategy Officer _

Kelly Shimansky — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Human Resources Officer

W. Michael Smith — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

Brett Cate - 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414

Chief Sales Officer

Abigail Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Legal Officer, Secretary

Jeff Green — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer



Christopher P. Hepburn — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, Enterprise Group

Chris Webster — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP & School Division

Dane Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
President, Local Government Division

Mark Hawkins — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439

President, Appraisal & Tax Division

Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

Rusty Smith - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Courts & Justice Division

Bryan Procter — 840 West Long Lake Rd., Troy M1 48093
President, Public Safety Division

Franklin Williams — 255 South King Street, Suite 1100, Seattle, WA 98104
President, Data & Insights Division

Kris Collo - 5101 Tennysan Parkway, Plang, TX 75024
President, Federal Division



REQUISITION

RQIT21000038 31/MAR/2021
VENDOR: REQUISITIONER:

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC iT DEPARTMENT CF INFOBRMATION TECH

12 GOOSE LN 240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD
S'TH FLOOR

TOLLAND QT 06084~-0000 MINEOLA MY 11501
8.BARNETT/MARY MAHONEY

TEL: (800)273-8605 TELt (516} 571-3159

FAX: (B60)9872-9526 FAX:(516)}571-3918

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY U/M UNIT COST TOTAL

ool 920-45 1.00 LOT 635,250.0000

COMPUTER SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE/SUPPORT

2021 IAS MAINTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2021-12/31/2021 $3432,235,00

2021 ADAPT MAINTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2021-12/31/2021 £293,015,00
ADAPT MATNTENANCE: soocoooomome=
TAX BILLING & COLLECTION £635,250.00

DELINQUENT TAX
APPEALS MANAGEMENT
EDME INTERFACE {TDOC)
INCLUDES: UPGRADES, NEW ENHANCEMENT RELEASES, HOT BUG FIXES/PATCHES
MON-FRI 2:00 AM - 5:00 PM TOLL FREE TELEPHONE SUPPORT,
USER GROUP
BILL TO: I.T. ACCOUNTS PAVABLE
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD 6TH FL
MINEQLA, NY, 11501
EMATY: ITACCOUNTINGENASSAUCOUNTYNY . GOV

L R T T T T T R O N N A T IR T Y TrtTIIAAYAL L Y R Ry

D N T A I T A R I T I T T TS SR e P U T R AR Y s

ESTIMATED TOTAL: 635,250.00

635,250.00



REQUISITION

ROITZ1000038 31/MAR/2021

VENDOR ¢ REQUISITIONER!}
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC IT DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION ‘TECH
12 GOOSE Ly 240 OLL COUNTRY ROAD
6TH FLOOR
TOLLAND ¢ 06084-0000 MINEOLA NY 11501

S.BARNETT/MARY MAHONEY

TEL: (800)273-8605 TEL: (516)571-3159
FAX: (B60)872-9526 FA¥: (516)571-3918
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technologies

Cme Tyler Way
Mmrame, Ohio 45439

F: 800.800.2881
F: 8372783711
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May 1, 2020

Ms. Nancy Stanton

Nassau County Commissioner
Information Technology Department
240 01d Country Road, 6" Floor
Mineola, NY 11501

Dear Ms. Stanton:

Please accept this letter as confirmation that Tyler Technologies, Inc. is the sole provider of the
iasWorld® software (“iasWorld software”). Additionally, Tyler is the only party authorized to
host, support, update or modify iasWorld software.

The iasWorld software products currently in use by Nassau County, NY provides for a single
source of data to perform its business functions. The ability to use a single source of data (i) reduces
the possible need for duplicate data entry, (ii) provides a seamless transition of data from the
valuation office function to the billing and collection office function, and (iii) gives the tax office
function immediate access to changes in valuations. In addition, Tyler Technologies staff are the
foremost users of the Tyler software and have the abilities and access to access the solution in
advanced ways that no other software service provider can.

Tyler is the sole developer and implementer of its proprietary iasWorld® software.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call (800-800-2581), or email me at
kim. frisby@tylertech.com

Sincerely,

Kimberly L. Frisby
Vice President Support Services

KLF:smm:krs



oD Remittance: .
Y @@@} i i % B Tyler Technelogies, Inc. InVOIce
#ﬁ s FEE R (FEIN 75-2303920)
o wle P.Q. Box 203556 Invoice No Page
® " technologies Dallas, TX 75320-3556 070-5109 12/01/2020 1 of 1
Questions;
Tyler Technologies -
Phone:  1-800-772-2260 Press 2
Email:  ar@tylertech.com
Bill To: Nassau County IT Dept. Ship To: Massau County 1T Dept.
Ms. Mary Mahoney Ms. Mary Mahoney
240 Old Country Road 240 Old Couniry Road
Mineola, NY 11501 Mineola, NY 11501
ustomer No. Ord No PO Number Currency Terms Due Date
48769 4090 USD NET30 12/31/2020
Date Description Units Rate Extended Price
iasWorld Maintenance & Support 1 342,235.00 342,235.00
Maintenance: Start: 01/Jan/2021, End: 31/Dec/2021
1 293,015.00 263,015.00

ADAPT Maintenance & Support
Maintenance: Start: 01/Janf2021, End: 31/Decf2021

*ATTENTION®**
Order your checks and forms from
Tyler Business Forms at 877-749-2090 or
tylerbusinessforms.com to guarantee
100% compliance with your software.

Subtotal | 635,250.00 I

Sales Tax

0.00

Inveoice Total |

635,250.00 I
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE (MMIDDIYYYY)
3/26/2021

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S}), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSU-I'Q'ED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION 1S WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the pollcy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCGER

Hays Companies Ing.

133 Federal Street, 4th Floor

CONTAGT :
Name:.  Moira Crosby

PHONE

FAX
AIC, No, Ext): {AIG, Noj:

E-MA] i
EMAL ss, morosby@hayscompanias . con

INSURER{S] AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
Boston MA 02110 INSURERA: Hartford Fire Insurance Company 19682
INSURED NSURER B : Hartford Casualty Insurance Company 29424
Tyler Technologies, Inc. msurerc:Llovds of London Syndicates 4000 &
5101 Tennyson Parkway INSURER 3 : 9687 &

INSURERE ; 1686
Plano TX 75024 INSURERF :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:21-22 GL Auto UMB WC REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TQ CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY FERIOD
INDICATED. NOTYWTHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM COR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN 1S SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS,
5 ADDL|SUBR POLICY EFF | PDLICY EXP
III:ITRR TYPE OF INSURANCE NS L POLICY NUMBER (MM/DD/YYYY) | (MB/DDIYYYY) LIMITS
X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENGE $ 1,000,000
DAMASE 70 RENTED
A CLAIMS-MADE El OCCUR PREMISES (Ea occlrrence) $ 1,000,000
X OBUENAYS572 4/1/2021 4/1/2022 | MED EXP (Any one person) $ 10,000
| PERSONAL & ADV INJURY | $ 1,000,000
EN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $ 2,000,000
X | poucy EE&“ LoG PRODUGTS - COMPIOP AGG | § 2,000,000
OTHER: 5
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY {Ea sotidont) $ 1,000,000
A X | anvauto BODILY INJURY (Per person) | 3
ALOWNED [ | SCHEDULED OBUENAYB572 47172021 | 47172022 | BODILY INJURY {Per accident) | §
E3 X | NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE P
HIRED AUTOS AUTOS {Per accident}
$
UMBRELLA LIAB OcCUR EACH OCCURRENGE § 25,000,000
B EXCES3 LIAB CLAIMS-MADE ACGREGATE $ 25,000,000
CED | | RETENTION $ 08XHUAZ8392 4/1/2021 4/1/2022 S
WORKERS GOMPENSATION PER_ OTh-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABHLITY viN * | sTatute | ER
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE EL EACH ACCIDENE $ 1,000,000
OFFICER/IMEMBER EXCLUDED? D NIA
B |{Mandatory In NH} OBWRAKBAGK 4/1/2021 4/1/2022 | gL DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE | § 1,000,000
If yes, describa undar
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | § 1,000,000
C | Cyber/Privacy Prof Liab BOG21PTYLEOOGR20 12/17/2020 | 12/17/2021 | Pemary Limit $10,000,000
C | Cyber/Privacy Prof Liab BO621PTYLEODO320 12/17/2020 | 12/17/2021 | Excess Limit %10,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS J LOCATIONS I VEHICLES {AGORD 101, Addlitlonal Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)
County of Massau is Additional Insured as respects genaral liability where required by written contract.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

County of Nassau
240 0ld County Rd
Mineola, NY 11501

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATICN DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

James Hays/MCROSB

U

ACORD 25 (2014/01)
INS025 (201401)

©1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD




UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

X ANNUALRFPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(dy OF THESECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

O TRANSITION REPORT PURS UANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 1-10485

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specifiedin its charter)
Delaware 752303920
{State or other jurisdiction of incorporation (LR.S. employer
or organization) fdentification no.)
5101 Tennyson Parkway
Plano, Texas 75024
(Address of principal excentive offices) {Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (972) 713-3700

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange

Title of each class Trading symbel on which registered
COMMON STOCK, $0.01 PAR VALUE TYL New York Stock Exchange
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant {1} has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchmge Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 menths (or for
such shorter perfod that the registrant was required o file such reports), and {2) has been subject to such filing requivements for the past 90 days.  Yes X No [ .

Indicate by check mark if discloswe of delinquent filer pursiant to Ttem 405 of Regulation SK is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledgs, in
definitive proxy or infermation statements incorporated by reference in Part 1T of the Form 10-K or any amchdment to the Form 10-K,  Yes (1 No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data file required to be submitted and posted purstemt

to Rule 405 of Reglation ST duing the preceding 12 menths (or for steh shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).  Yes X No [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the detinitions of

"large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer,” "smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchangg Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer X Accelerated Filer a

Non-accelerated Filer (Do not check if smaller O

reporting compaty) Smaller Reporting Company O
Bmerging Growth Company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised

financial accounting standerds provided pursuant to Seetion 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [

Indicate by check muark whother the registrant is a shell company {as defined in Rule 126-2 of the Act) Yes [ No X

The apgregnte market vahe of the voting stock held by non-attiliates of the regisirant was $8,172,267,000 based on the reported last sale price of common stock on Jine 30, 2019, which is the last
bxsiness doy of the regisizant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter.

The number of shares of commen stock of the registrant outstanding on February 18, 2020 was 39,396,000.
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PARTI

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Inc. ("Tyler”) is a major provider of integrated information managsment solutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local govemments.
We partner with clients to make government more accessible to the public, more responsive to the needs of citizens and more efficient in its operations. We have a broad line of
software solutions and services to address the information technology ("IT”) needs of major arcas of operations for cities, counties, schools and other govemment entities. A
majority of our clients have our software installed in-hcuse. For clients who prefer not to physically aequire the software and hardware, most of our software applications can
be delivered as software as a service ("SaaS”), which primarily utilize the Tyler private cleud. We provide professional IT services to our clients, incliding software and
hardware installation, data conversion, training and, at times, product modifications, In addition, we are the nation’s largest provider of outsourced property appraisal services
for taxing jurisdictions. We also provide continuing client support services to ensure product performance and reliability, which provides us with long-term client relationships
and a significant base of recurring maintenance revenue. In addition, we provide electronic document filing (“e-filing™) solutions, which simplify the filing and management of
court documents,

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state and local government market is one of the largest and most decentralized IT matkets in the country, consisting ofall 50 siates, approximately 3,000 counties, 36,000
cities and towns and 13,600 school districts. This market is also comprised of approximately 37,000 special districts and other agencies, each with specialized delegated
responsibilities and unique inforrmation manegement requirements,

Traditionally, local govermnment bodies and agencies performed state-mandated duties, including property assessment, record keeping, road maintenance, law enforcement,
adminis tration of election and judicial functiens, and the provision of welfare assistance. Today, a host of emerging and urgent issues are confrenting local governments, each
of which demands a service response. These areas include criminal justice and corrections, administration and finance, public safety, health and human services, planning,
regulatory and mmintenance and records and decument management. Transters of responsibility fromthe federal and state govermments to county and municipal govermments
and agencies in these and other areas also place additional service and financial requirements on these local government units. In addition, constituents of local governments
are increasingly demanding improved service and better access to information from public entities. As a result, local governments recognize the increasing valie of information
management systers and services to, ameng cther things, improve revenue collection, provide ncreased access to mformation, and streamline delivery of services to their
constituents. Local govemment bodies are now secognizing that "e-government” is an additional responsibility for community development. From integrated taxsystets to
integrated civil and criminal justice information systens, many counties and cities have benofited significantly fromthe implementation of jurisdiction-wide systems that allow
different agencies or govemnment offices to share data and provide a more comprehiensive approach to information management. Many city and county governmental agencies
also have unique individual information management requirernents, which must be tailored to the specitic finctions of each particufar office.

Many local governments also have difficulties attracting and retaining the staffnecessary to support their IT functions. As a result, they seck to establish long-term
relationships with reliable providers of high quality IT products and services such as Tyler.

Although local governnents often face budgetary constraints in their operations, thelr privsry revenue sources are usually property taxes, and to a lesser extent, wtility billings
and other fees, which historically tend to be relatively siable. In addition, the acquisition of new technology typically enables local govemnments to operate more efficiently,
and often provides a measurable retum on investment that justifies the purchase of software and related services.

Gartner, Inc., a leading information technology research and advisery company, estimates that state and local government application and vertical specific sofiware spending
will grow from $17.9 billion in 2020 to $21.1 billion in 2023, The professional services and support segments of the market are expected to expand from $27.5 billion in 2020 to
$20.9billion in 2023. Application and vertical specific software sales in the primary and secondary education segments of the market is expected to expand from $3.0 billion in
2020 to $3.7 billion in 2023 while professional services and support are expected to grow from $2.5 billion in 2020 to $2.8 billion in 2023,
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PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of products and services that addresses the information technology needs of cities, counties, schools and other local
govemment entities. We derive our revenues fromfive primary sources:

+  Sales of software licenses and royalties

«  Subscription-based arrangements

+  Software services

«  Maintenance and support

*  Appiaisal services

We design, develop, market and support a broad range of software solutions to serve mission-critical "back-office” functions ofthe public sector with focus on local
govemments. Many of our sofiware applications include Intemet-accessible sclutions that allow for real-time public access to a variety of information or that allow the public
to transact business with local governments via the Internet. Qur sofiware solutions and services are generally grouped in eight major areas:

+  Financial Management and Education

+  Courts and Justice

«  Public Safety

+  Property Appraisal and Tax

«  Planning, Regulatory and Maintenance

»  TLand and Vital Records Management

*  Data and Insights

+  Case Management and Business Process Management

Each of our core software systems consists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who acquire sofiware foruse on premises, we generally license our systems
under standard perpetual license agreements that provide the client with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nontransferable right to use the softwate. In some of the product areas,
such as financial management and education and property appraisal and tax, we offer nultiple solutions designed to meet the needs of different sized govemments,

We also offer SaaS arrangements, which generally wtilize the Tyler private cloud, for clients who de not wish to maintain, npdate and operate these systems or to meke up-fiont
capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. For these clients, the scftware and client data are hosted at our data ¢enters or at third-party locations, and

clients typically sign multi-year contracts for these subscription-based serviees.

Historically, we have had a greater proportion of cur annual revenues in the second half of our fiscal year due to govemmental budget and spending cycles and the timing of
systemimplementations for clients desiring to "go live” at the beginning of the calendar year.

A description of our suites of praducts and services follows:

Software Licenges

Financial Management and Education

Our financial management and cducation solutions arc enterprise resource planning systems for local governments, which integrate information across all faceis of a ¢lient
organization. Our financial management solutions mclude modular fund acccunting systems that can be tailored to meet the needs of virtually any govemment agency or not-
for-profit entity. Our financial management sysicms include modules for general ledger, budget preparation, fixed assets, requisitions, purchase orders, bid management,

accounts payable, contract management, acceunts receivable, investment management, inventory control, project and grant accounting, work orders, job
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costing, GASB reporting, payroll and humman resources. All of our financial management systens are intended to conformto govemment auditing and financial reporting
requirements and generally accepted accounting principles.

We sellutility billing systems that support the billing and collection of metered and non-metered services, along with multiple billing cyeles, Our Web-enabled utility billing
solutions allow clients to access information online such as average conswinption and transaction history. In addition, our systens can acoept secured Internet payments via
credit cards and checks,

We also offer specialized products that automate numerous city and county functions, including municipal courts, parking tickets, equipment and project costing, animal
licenses, business licenses, permits and inspections, code enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, anbulance billing, fleet maintenance, and cemetery records management.

In addition to providing financial management systems to K-12 schools, we sell student information systens for K-12 schools, which manage such activities as scheduling,
grades and attendance. We also offer student transportation solutions to manage school bus routing optimization, fleet managetment, field trips and other related finctions.

Tyler’s financial management and education solutions nclude Web components that enhance local govemments® service capabilities by facilitating online access to
infonmation for both employees and citizens and enabling online transactions.

Courts and Justice

We offer a complete, fully integrated suite of judicial sclutions designed to handle complex, multijurisdictional county or statewide implementations as well as single county
systems. Our solutions help eliminate duplicate data entry, promote more effective business procedures, and improve efficiency across the entire justice process.

Ourunificd court case management systemis designed to automate the tracking and managerent of information invelved in all case types, including criminal, traffic, civil,
family, probate and juvenite courts. It also tracks the status of cases, processes fines and fees and generates the specialized judgment and sentencing documents, notices and
forme required in the court process. Documents received by the court can be scanned into the electronic case file and easily retrieved for viewing. Documents generated by the
court can be electronically signed and automatically attached to the electronic case file. Additional modules sutormte the management of coutt calendars, coordinate judges'
schedules and generate court dockets. Qur targeted courtroomtechnelogies allow courts to rapidly review calendars, cases and view documents in the courtroom. Courts may
also take advantage of our related jury management system We also offer a solution for online dispute resolution that antomates the flow and resolution of conmon and
historically time-consuming disputes including debt, landlord, tenant, small claims, child custody and other case types.

Our court and law enforcement systens allow the public to access, via the Internet, a variety of information, inclnding non-confidential criminal and civil court records, jait
booking and release information, bond and bondsmen information, and court calendars and dockets. In addition, our systens allow cities and counties to accept payments for
traffic and parking tickets over the Internet, with a seamless and automatic interface to back-office justice and fmancial systens.

Our prosecutor systemenables state attorney offices to track and manage eriminal cases, inclnding detailed vietiminforroation and private case notes. Investigative reports and
charging instrument documents can be generated and stored for later viewing. Prosecutors can schedule and record the outcome of grand jury heatings. When integrated with
the court system, prosecutors can view the electronic case file and related documents, as well as manage wilness lists and subpoenas needed for coun hearings,

Qur supervision systemallows pre-trfal and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supervision officers can track contact schedules, risk/needs assessments and
reassessments, detailed drug test results, erployment histories, compliance with conditions and payments of fees and restitution. Documents and foris, like pre-sentence
investigations orrevecation orders, can be gensrated and stored for easy viewing, When integrated with the jail and court systems, supervision officers obtain casy access
and quick notification of offenders that have court hearings scheduled, are arrested locally, and have new watrants issued.

Wealso offer a court case management solution that autommates and tracks all aspects of municipal courts and offices. Tt is a tully integrated, graphical application that provides
effective case management, document processing and cash/bond managemment. This system complies with all state reporting and conviction reports and includes electronic
reporting and also integrates with certain of our financial management solutions and public safety solutions.
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FPublic Sufety

Our public safety software is a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/ computer aided dispatch ("CAD™), records
nunagement, mobile computing, comections managemsnt, Web-based information sharing and decision suppott. The modules ave fully integrated, utilizing a common database
and providing folf functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The sofiware provides fast, efficient dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable
infonmation froman agency’s database.

Our 911 / CAD solutions provide real-time, critical response dispatch functions in ¢ither single- or pulti-jutis dictional environments. When integrated with our records
mmagement software, a vital link exists between dispatch and the nost comprehensive records database available. Within seconds, the dispatch operator and the officer in the
field can access critical information, such as prior incidents and outstanding warrants, increasing officer knowledge and safety. The solutions offer strong geographic
information systems integration to help dispatchers quicldy locate and send the best response during an emergency. Tyler’s 911/ CAD solutions dramatically improve
performance, response time and unit safety.

Our records management solutions for law enforcement and fire track statistical, operational, nvestigative and management data for inquiry and repotting. The systens create
an efficient case processing worldlow and help solve crimes with an accessible database that maintains central files on people, places, property, vehicles and criminal activity.
Tylet’s public safety records management solutions enable easy access to information and sitplify reporting.

Our mobile computing solutions for [aw enfercement and fire provide instant access te local, state, regional and federal databases via mobile devices. Officers and firefighters
can experience the benefits of obtaining critical, veal-time information in the field, while saving tire by preparing reports directly in their vehicles.

Our jail management systerms document and manage information that meets the requirennents of a modem jail facility, This inchides the booking and housing of persons
custody, supetvising defendants on a pre-trial release, maintaining offenders sentenced to local incarceration and billing other agencies for housing inmates, Searching,
reporting and tracking features are integrated, allowing reliable, up-to-date access to current anest and incarceration data, including digital nug shots. Our systems also
provide warrant checks for visitors or book-ins, innmte classification and risk assessment, commissary, property and niedical processing, automation of statistics, and state and
federal reporting,

Qur civil processing soltions manage civil process needs from document receipt threugh service, payment process and final closeout. We also have a mobile electronic
citation solution through which law enforcement officers can easily enter citation infornmtion in a mobile device, which is antomatically uploaded into the court or public safety
records management systens, rather then hand-writing citations that nust be re-entered into the systens.

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systems and sofiware that autorate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property, including record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest
tracking, appraisal and taxsoll generation, tax statement processing, and electronic state-level reporting, These systems are image and video-enabled to facilitate the storage of
and access to the many property-related docuirents and for the enline storage of digital photographs of properties foruss in defending values in protest situations. Other
related taxapplications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, inchidling cities, countics, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These
systems support billing, collections, lock box operations, nortgage conpany electronic payirents, and various reporting requitements.

Planning, Regulatory and Maintenance

Our planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions are designed for public seetor agencies such as community development, planning, building, code enforcement,
taxand revenues, public works, transportation, land control, environmental, fire safety, stormwater management, regulatory controls and engineering. These solutions help
public sector agencies better manage their day-to-day business functions while strearvlining and automating the many aspects of their land management, pennitting and

planning systers, Our mobile solutions extend autormtion to the field and Web access brings online services to citizens 24 hours a day, 365 days a year,
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Land and Vital Records Management

We also offer a nummber of specialized software applications designed to help local govermnments enhance and automate operations involving records and document
management. These systems record, scan and index information for the many documents maintained by local governments, such as deeds, mortgages, liens, UCC financing
statements and vital records (birth, death and meiriage certificates). These applications include fully integrated imaging systems with batch and scan processing capabilities
and fully integrated receipting and cashiering systems, as well as Web-enabled public access.

COur content management solutions allow state and local governments and schoel districts to capture, deliver, manage and archive electronic information. These solutions
streamline the flow of digital information throughout the organization to increase efficiency by transforming paper forms and documents into electronic images that drive key
busingss processes.

Data and Insights

Our data and insights sohitions make cxisting govemnment data discoverable, usable, and actionable for government workers and the people they serve, The data and insights
solution Includes a data-as-a-service platformand cloud applications for open data and citizen engagement, exclusively for city, county, state, and federal govemment
organizations. Our data and insights solutions allow governtment to analyze, visualize, and securely share data across multiple departments and prograts. These solutions
deliver data-driven innovation and cost-savings by bringing together disparate systens and leveraging the cloud to dramatically enhance the effectiveness of government
programs, to improve quality of life for residents, to positively impact local economies, and to achieve excellence in government operations.

Case Management and Business Process Management

We offer a bow-code application development platformsolution for case management and business process management, Whether based on premises or in the cloud, its Data-
First™ approach allows the application to be implenented inmrediately and configured continuously, enabling clients to get to wotk quickly while keeping costs low. Cur low
code application platformallows govemment agencies the ability to track, collaborate, and report on the data that drives activities forward,

Subscription-Based Services

Subscription-based revenue is primarily derived fromour SaaS anangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private cloud, as well as our transaction-based offerings such as
e-filing solntions, online dispute resoluticn solutions, and online payment services.

We are able to provide the majority of our software products through our Saa$ model. The clicnts who cheose this mede] typically do not wish to maintain, update and operate
these systems or make up-front capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies, The contract terms for these arrangements range tromone te 10 years but are
typically contracted for initial periods ofthres to five years, The majority of our Saa8S or hosting arrangements inchude additional professional services as well as maintenance
and support services. In certain arrangements, the client may also acquire a license to the software.

Ag part of our subscription-based services, we provide e-filing solutions that sinplify the filing and management of court related documents for courts and law offices.
Revenues for e-filing are inchuded in subscription-based revenues and are derived fromtransaction fees and in some cases, fixed fee arrangements, Other transaction-based
fees pritmary relate to online payment services, which are offered with the assistance of third-party vendors.

Software Services

We provide a variety of professional IT services to clients who utilize our software products. Virtually all of cur clients contract with us for installation, training, and data
conversion services in connection with thelr implementation of Tyler’s software solutions. The complete implementation process for a typical system includes planning,
design, data conversion, set-up and testing. At the culmination of the fmplermentation process, a data implementation teamis genernlly onsite at the client’s facility to ensure
the smooth go-live with the new system, Timplenkentation fees are charged separately to clients on either a fixed-foe or houtly charge basis, depending on the contract,

Both in connection with the installation of new systems and on an ongoing basis, we provide extensive training services and programs related to our products and services.
Training can be provided in ourtraining centers, onsite at clients’ locations, or at meetings and conferences and can be customized to nect clicnts” requiretnents. The vast
nmjority ol our clients contract with us for training services, both to improve their employees’ proficiency and productivity and to fully utilize the functionality of our systens.
Training services are generally billed on an hourly or daily basis, along with travel and other expenses.
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Maintenance and Support

Following the itrplementation of our software systens, we provide ongoing software support services to assist our clients in operating the systems and to petiodically update
the software, Support is provided to clients over the phone or via the Web through help desks staffed by our client support representatives, For more complicated issues, our
staff, with the clients’ permission, can log on to clients’ systems remotely. We nmintain our clients’ software largely through releases that contain improvements and
incremental additions of features and functionality, along with updates necessary because of legislative or regulatory changes.

Virtually all of our software clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenue, We generally provide
maintenance and support for our en-premises clients under annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts, with a typical fee based on a percentage of the software product’s
license fee, These fees can generally be increased on renewal end may also increase as new license fees increase. Maintenance and support fees are generally paid annually in
advance. Most maintenance contracts autonmatically renew unless the client or Tyler gives notice of termination prior to expiration. Similar support is provided to our Sza$
clients and is included in their subscription fees, which are clagsified as subscription-based revenues.

Appraisal Services

We are the nation’s largest provider of property appraisal outsourcing services for local government taxing authorities, These services inglude
»  The physical mspection of conmercial and residential properties

+  Data collection and processing

+  Sophisticated computer analyses for property valuation

*  Preparation of taxrolls

+  Conmmmunity education regarding the assessment process

*  Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local govemment taxing authorities normally reappraise properties fromtime to time to update values for taxassessment purposes and to traintain equity in the taxing process.
In some jurisdictions, law mandates reassessment cycles; in others, they are discretionary, While some taxing jurisdictions performreappraisals in-house, many local
governments outsource this function because of'its cyclical nature and because of the specialized knowledge and expertise requirements associated with it, Qur appraisal
services business unit has operated in this business since 1938,

In some instances, we also provide property tax and/or appraisal software products in connection with appraisal outsourcing projects, while other clients may only engage us
to provide appraisal services. Appraisal outsourcing services are somewhat seasonal in nature to the extent that winter weather conditions reduce the productivity of data
collection activities in connection with those projects.

STRATEGY
Qur objective is fo grow our revenue and earings organically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions, The key components of our business strategy are to:

+  Provide [jigh quality, value-added products and services to our clients. We commpete on the basis of, among other things, delivering to clients our deep domain expertise
in local government operations through the highest value products and services in the market. We believe we have achieved a reputation as a premium product and service
provider to the local governtment market,

+  Continge 1o expand our product and service offerings. While we already have what we believe to be the broadest line of software products for local governments, we
continvally upgrade our core software applications and expand our corplenentary product and service offerings to respond to technological advancements and the changing
needs of our clients. In 2010, we began providing e-filing for courts and law offices, which simplifies the fiting and management of court related documents. We believe revenue
frome-filing solutions will continue to grow cver timeo as more local and state governments mandate electronic document filings. We also offer solutions that allow the public to
access data and conduct transactions with local governirents, such as paying traffic tickets, property taxes and utility bills online, We believe that the addition of such
features enhances the market appeal of our core products. We have also broadened our offerings of consulting and business process reengineering services.
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«  Bopand cur client base. We seek to establish long-termrelationships with new clients primarily through our sales and marketing efforts, While we cumently have clients in
all 50 states, Canada, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom, Australia, and other international locations, not all of our solutions have achieved nationwide geographic
penetration. We intend to continue Lo expand into new geographic markets by adding sales staffand targeting marketing efforts by solutions in those areas. We also intend to
continue to expand our customer base to include more large govemments, While our traditional market focus has primarily been on small and mid-sized governments, our
increased size and rmarket presence, together with the technological advances and improved scalability of certain of our solutions, are allowing us to achieve increasing
success in selling to larger clients. We also expect to expand our presence in interational markets by leveraging our leadership position in the United States through the
disciplined pursuit of selected opportunities in other countries,

»  Expand our existing client relationships. Cur exsting custonkr base offers signiffcant opportunities for additional sales of solutions and services that we curently offer,
but that existing clients do not fully utilize. Add-cn sales to existing clients typically involve lower sales and marketing expenses than sales to new clients.

+  Growrecuming revenues. We have a large recurring revenue base frommaintenance and support and subseription-based services, which generated revenues of $726.7
million, or 67% oftotal revenues, in 2019. We have historically expetienced very low customer turnover (approximately 2% annually) and recurring revenues continue to grow
as the installed customer base increases. Subscription-based revenues have been our fastest growing revenue category over the past five years, mereasing from $111.9 million
in 2015 to $296.4 million in 2019,

+  Maximize economies of scale and take advantace Qf financial leverage in our business. We seekto build and maintain a larger client base to create economies of scale,
enabling us to provide value-added products and services to cur clients while expanding our operating margins. Because we sell primarily "off-the-shelf” seftware, increased
sales of the same solutions result in incrementally higher gross margins. In addition, we believe that we have a marketing and administrative infrastructure in place that can be
levernged to accommodate significant long-term growth without propertionately increasing selling, general and administrative expenses.

- Attract and retain highly qualified employees. We believe that the depth and quality of our management and staff is one of our significant strengihs, and that the alsility
to retain such employees is crucial to our continued growth and suceess. We believe that our stable management team, financial strength and growth opportunities, as well as
our leadership position in the local govemment market, enhance our attractiveness as an ermployer for highly skilled employees.

+  Pursue selected strategic acquisitions. While we expect to primarily grow internally, from tine to time we selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that provide us with one
ot more of the following:

+  New products and services to complement our sxisting offerings
«  Entry into new markets related to the public sector

+  Newclients and/or geographic expansion

+  Lustablish stratepie alliances. In Octeber 2019, we announced a strategic collaboration agreement with Amazon Web Services ("AWS") for cloud hosting services. This
agreement brings together Tyler, the nation's largest software company exclusively focused on the public sector, and AWS, the broadest and deepest cloud platform.
Specifically, the agreement with AWS provides the framewoerk for development, training and cellaboration in ordex to support next-generation applications that have the
scalability, resiliency, and security AWS offers. It will assist Tyler in accelerating innovation and the development of strategic initiatives. These initiatives wili bring the most
advanced cloud-native services to Tyler clients, itproving the flow of information and providing a better experience for state, local, and federal governments.

SALES, MARKETING, AND CLIENTS

We market our products and services through direct sales and marketing personnel located throughout the United States. Other in-house sales staff focus on add-on sales,
professional services and support,

Sales of new systens are typically generated fiomreterrals fromother government offices or departiments within a county or municipality, referrals fromother local
governmenss, relationships established between sales representatives and county or local officials, contacts at trade shows, direct mailings, and direct contact fromprospects
already familiar with us. We are active in numerous national, state, county, and local government associations, and participate in annual meetings, trade shows, and
eclucational events.




Clients consist primarily of federal, state, county and municipal agencies, school districts and other local government offices. In counties, clients include the auditor, treasurer,
taxassessor/collector, county clerk, district clerl, county and district court judges, probation officers, shexiff, and county appraiser. At municipal government sites, clients
nclude directors from various departments, including administration, finance, utilitles, public works, code enforcement, personnel, purchasing, taxation, menicipal court, and
police. Contracts for software products and services are generally implemented over periods of three months to onc year, although some complex implementations may span
nmltiple years, with annually renewing maintenancs and support update agreements thereafter. Although either the elient or we can terminate these agreements, historically
almost all support and maintenance agreements are automatically renewed annually. During 2019, approximately 40% of our revenue was attributable to engoing support and
nnintenance agreements.

COMPETITION

We compete with numerous local, regional, and national firms that provide or offer some or many of the same solutions and services that we provide. Many of these
competitors are smaller companies that may be able to offer less expensive solutions than ows, Many of these fimss eperate within a specific geographic aren and/orin a
narrow product or serviee niche, We also compete with national fitms, soms of which have greater financial and technical resources than we do, including Oracle Corporation,
Infor, SAP AG, Woikday, Inc., CentralSquare Technologies, Thomson Reuters Corporation, Motorola Sohations, Inc., Axon Enterprise, Inc., and Constellation Software, Inc. In
addition, we sometimes compete with consulting and systems integration firms, which develop custom systems, primarily for larger governments. We also occasionally
compete with central intemal information service departments of local governments, which requires us to persuade the end-user department to discontinue service by its own
personnel and outsource the service to us.

We compete on a variety of factors, including price, service, name recognition, reputation, technological capabilities, and the ability to modify existing products and services to
accornmodate the individual requirements of the client. Qur ability to offer an integrated systemof applications for several offices or departments is often a conpetitive
advantage. Local govemmental units often are required to seek conpetitive proposals through a request for proposal process and some prospective clients use consultants to
assist them with the proposal and vendor selection precess.

SUPPLIERS

Substantially all of the computers, peripherals, printers, scanners, operating system software, office automation software, and other equiprent necessary for the
implenentation and provision of our software systens and services are presently available fromseveral third-party sources. Hardware is purchased on original equipment
manufacturer or distributor terms at discounts from retail, We have not experienced any significant supply problems.

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2019, our revenue backlog was approxinately $1.46 billion, compared to $1.25 billion at December 31, 2018, The backlog represents signed contracts under
which the revenue has not been recognized as of year-end. Approximately $720.6 million, or 49%, of the backlog is expected to be recognized during 2020,

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We regard certain foatures of our internal operations, software, and documentation as confidential and proprietary and rely on a combination of contraciual restrictions, trade
secret laws and other measures to protect our proprietary intellectual property, We generally do not rely on patents. We believe that, due to the rapid rate of technological
change in the corputer seitware industry, trade secrets and copyright protection are less significant than facters such as knowledge, ability and experience of our employees,
frequent product enhancements, and timeliness and quality of suppoert services. We typically license our software products under non-exclusive license agreements, which arc
generally non-transferable and have a perpetual term

EMPLOYEES

At Decerober 31, 2019, we had 5,368 employees, None of our erployees are represented by a labor union or are subject to collective bargaining agreements, We consider our
relations with our employees to be positive.
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INTERNET WEBSITE AND AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, current and other reports, proxy staterents and other infonmation with the Securities and Bxchange Commission, ot SEC, pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act. You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Roomby calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC maintains an
Intemet site that contains repotts, proxy and other information statements, and other infornmtion regarding issuers, meluding us, that file electronically with the SEC, The
address of'this site is http/fwww.sec.gov.

We also maintain a website at www.tylertech.com We make available fiee of charge through this site our Annual Report on Form 10K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Forns
4and 5, Carrent Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or fiumished pursuant to Section 13{a)or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or fiurnish it to the SEC. In addition, copies of our annual report will be nade available, free of charge, upon written
request.

Our "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” is also available on our website, We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or waivers fiom, a
provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by pesting such information on our website.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS,

An investnent in gur common stock involves a high degree ofrisk. Investors evaluating our company should carefully consider the factors described below and all other
information contained in this Annual Report. Any of the following factors ceuld materially harm our business, operating results, and finaneial condition. Additional factors and
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial could also harm our business, operating resulis, and financial condition. This section should
be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and related Notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included
in this Annual Report. We may make forward-locking statements from tiroe to time, both written and oral. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the resylts of
any revisions to these forward-looking statements, Our actual results may differ mmaterially from those projected in any such forward-looking statements due to a number of
factors, including those set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Risks Associated with Owr Software Produncts
Cyher-attacks and security vulnerabilities can disrupt our business and havm our competitive position.

Threats to IT security can take a variety of forms. Individuals and groups ofhackers, and sephisticated organizations including state-sponsored organizations, may teke steps
that pose threats to our clients and our IT. They may, for example, develop and depley malicious software to attack our products and services and/or gain access to our
networks and data centers, or act in a coordinated ranner to lunch distributed denial of service or other coordinated attacks. Cyber threats are constantly evolving, thereby
increasing the difficulty of detecting and successfully defending against them. Cyber threats can have cascading impacts that unfold with increasing speed across our internal
networks and systens and those of our partners and clients. Breaches of our network or data security conld disrupt the security of our intemal systens and business
applications, inpair our ability to provide services to our clients and protect the privacy of their data, result in product development delays, comrpromise confidential or
technical business information harming our conpetifive position, result in theft or nisuse of ourintellectual property or other assets, require us to allocate more resources to
improve technologies, or otherwise adversely atfect our business. Our business policies and internal security controls may not keep pace with these evolving threats.

Disclosure of personally identifiable information and/or other sensitive ciient data could result in liability and harm our repuiation.

We store and process increasingly large amounis of persenally identifiable infermation and other confidential mformation of our clients. The continued occurrence of high-
profile data breaches provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hestile to information seenrity, Despite our efforts to inprove security controls, It is possible
our security controls over personal data, our raining of employces on data security, and other practices we follow may not prevent the improper disclosure ofsensitive client

data that we store and manage. Disclosure of personally identifiable informmtion and/or other sensitive client data could result in liability and harm our reputation,
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Hosting services for some of our products are dependent upon the uninferrtipted operation of data centers.

A material pottion of our business is provided through software hosting services. These hosting services depend on the unintertupted operation of data centers and the zbility
to protect computer equipment and information stored in these data centers against damage that may be caused by natural disaster, fire, power loss, teleconmmmunications or
Intemet failure, acts of terrorism, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses, and other similar damaging events. If any of our data centers were to become inoperable for an
extended period, we might be unable to fulfill our contractual commitiments. Although we take what we believe to be reasonable precautions against such occurrences, we can
give no assurance that damaging events such as these will not result in a prolonged interrption of our services, which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revenue,
and damage to our business.

We run the risk of ervors or defects with new products or enhancements to existing producis.

Qur software products are complex and may contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions ot enhancements are released. Any such defects
could result in a loss of revenues or delay market acceptance. Our license agreements typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposute to potential liability, However,
it is possible we may not always successfully negotiate such provisions in our client contracts or the limitation of liability provisions may not be effective due to existing or
firture federal, state, or Jocal Jaws, ordinances, or judicial decisions, Although we maintain emors and omissions and general liability inswrance, and we 11y to struchire contracts
to limit liability, we cannot assure you that a suceessful elaim could not be made or would not have a nnterial adverse effect on our faiure operating results.

We nurst timely respond to technological changes to be competitive.

The market for our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in software technology, changes in client requirements, and frequent new
preduct introductions and enhancements. The mtreduction of preducts embedying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards can render existing
produets obsolete and unmarketable, As a result, our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to enhance existing products and develop and introduce new
produets that keep pace with technoelogical developments, satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requirements, and achieve market acceptance. We cannot assure you that
we will successfully identify new product opportunities and develop and bring new products to market in a timely and cost-affective manner. The products, capabilities, or
technologies developed by others could also render our products or technologies obsclete or noneompetitive, Qur business may be adversely affected if we are unable to
develop or acquire new software products or develop enhancements to existing products on a tinely and cost-effective basis, or if such new products or enhancements do not
achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable to protect our proprietary vights.

Many of our product and service offerings incerporate proprietary informaticn, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property tights. We rely on a combination of
contracts, copyrights, and trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary tights in our technology. We cannot be certain that we have taken all appropriate steps to
deter misappropriation of our intellectual property. There has alsc been an apparent evelution in the legal standards and regulations courts and the U.S, patent office may
apply in favorably evaluating software patent rights, We are not currently involved in any material intcllectual property litigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation
in the future to proteet our proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights. We cannot agsure you that third parties will not assert
infringement or misappropriation claims against us with respect to current or fiiture products. Any claing or litigation, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, costly,
and a diversion to management, Any such clains and litigation could alse cause product shipnent delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements, Such
royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all, Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights
could have a material adversc ctfect on our business, regardless of the final outcome of such litigation.

Clients may elect to terminaie our maintenance contracts and manage eperations internafly.

It is possible that our clients may elect to not renew mainfenance contracts for our sofiware, trying instead to maintain and operats the software themselves using their
perpeiual license rights (excluding software applications that we provide on a hosted or cloud basis). Alternatively, clients may elect to drop maintenance on certain modules
that they ultimately decide not to use. This could adversely atfect cur revenues and profits, Additienally, they may inadvertently allow our intellectual property or other
information to fall into the hands ofthird parties, including our competitors, which could adversely affect our business.
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Material portions of our business require the Internet infrastructure fo he reliable,

Part of our future success continues to depend on the use of the Internet as a means to access public information and perform transactions electronically, including, for
example, electronic filing of comt documents, This in part requires ongoing maintenance of the Internet nfiastructure, especially to prevent interniptions in service, as well as
additional development of that infrastructure. This requires a reliable network backbone with the necessaty speed, data capacity, security, and timely developient of
conplementary products for providing reliable Internet access and services. Ifthis infrastructore fails to be sufficiently developed or be adequately maintained, our business
would be harmed because users may not be able to access our government portals,

Risks Associated with Selling Products and Services into the Public Sector Marketplace

Selling products and services into the public sector poses unique challenges.

We derive substantially all of our revenues fromsales of sofiware and services to state, county, and city governments, other federal or municipal agencies, and other public
entities. We expect that sales to public sector clients will continue to account for substantially all of our revenues in the fture. We face pany risks and challenges associated
with contracting with governmental entities, including

*  Resource limitations caused by budgetary constraints, which may provide for a terinaticn of executed contracts due to a lack of future funding

+  Long and complexsales cycles

+  Contract payments at times being subject to achieving implementation milestones, and we may have differences with clients as to whether milestones have been achieved
+  Political resistance to the concept of contracting with third parties to provide IT sclutions

+  legislative changes affecting a local government’s authoritly to contract with third parties

+  Varying bid procedures and intemal processes for bid acceptance

+  Various other political factors, including changes in govemmental administrations and petsonnel

Each of these risks is outside our control, If we fail to adequately adapt to these risks and uncertainties, our financial performance could be adversely affected.

A prolonged cconomic slowdown could harm our operations.

A prolonged economic slowidown or recession could reduce demand for our seftware products and services. Governments mway face financial pressures that could in tum affect
our growth rate and profitability in the fauture. There is no assurance that govemment spending Jevels will be unaffected by declining or stagnant general economic conditions,
and ifbudget shortfalls occur, they may negatively impact govemment IT spending and could adversely atfect ourbusiness.

The open bidding process creates uncertainiy in prediciing filtive contract awards,

Many governmental agencies purchase products and services through an epen bidding process. Generally, a governmental entity will publish an established list of
requirements requesting potential vendors te propose solutions for the established requirements. To respond successfully to these requests for propoesals, we mmst accurately
estimate our cost structure for servicing a proposed contract, the time required to establish operations for the proposed client, and the likely terns of any other third-party
proposals submiited. We cannol guaranice that we will win any bids in the future through the request for proposal process, or that any winning bids will ultimately result in
contmcts en favorable terms. Our failure to secure contracts through the open bidding process, or to secure such contraets on favorable terms, may adversely affect our

revenue and gross marging.
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We face significant competition from other vendors and polentiol new entrants into our markets.

We believe we are a leading provider ofintegrated solutions for the public sector, However, we face competition froma variety of software vendors that offer products and
services similar to those offered by ns, as well as from companies offering to develop cusiomsoftware. We conpete based on a number of factors, mcluding

»  The attractiveness of our "evergreen” business strategy

+  The breadth, depth, and quality of our product and service offerings

+  The ability to modify our offerings to accormodate particular clients’ needs

+  Technological mnovation

+  Name recognition, reputation and references

+  Price

*  Qur financial strength and stability

We believe our market is highly fragmented with a large number of competitors that vary in size, product platform, and product scope. Our competitors include consulting finms,
publicly held cormpanies that focus on selected segments of the public sector market, and a significant nurber of smaller, privately held companies. Certain competitors have
greatertechnical, marketing, and financial resources than we do. We cannot assure you that such competitors will not develop products or offer services that are superiot to
our products or services or that achieve greater market acceptance.

We also compete with internal, centralized IT departments of governmental entities, which requires us to persuade the end-user to stop the internal service and outsource to
us. In addition, our clients and prospective ¢lients could elect to provide information management services internaily through new or existing departments, which could reduce
the market for our services.

We could face additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the public sector software application market and new products and technologies are
introduced. Increased competition could result in pricing pressure, fewer client orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share. Current and potential competitors may
nmke strategic acquisitions or establish ccoperative relationships anong themselves or with third partics, thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the needs
of our prospective clients. It is possible that new competiters or alliances may emerge and rapidly gain significant market share. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
compete successfully against current and future competitors, and the failure to de so would have a material adverse effect upon our business.,

Fixed-price contracts may affect our profits.

Sorne of our contracts are structured on a tixed-price basis, which can lead to various tisks, including

+  The failure to accurately estimate the resources and time required for an sngagement

+  The failure to effectively manage owr clients’ expectations regarding ihe scope of scrvices delivered for a fixed fee

+  The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget

Iwe do not adequately assess and manage these and other risks, we nuy be subject to cost overruns and penalties, which may harm our financial performance.

Changes in the insurance markets may affect our business.

Some of our clients, primarity those for our property appraisal services, require that we secure performance bonds before they will select us as their vendor. In addition, we
have in the past been required to provide letters ofcredil as security for the issuance of a performance bond. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure snch
perfornance bonds in the fature on terrs that are favorable to us, if at all, Our inability to obtain performance bonds on favorable terrs or at all could impact our future ability
to win some contract awards, particularly large property appraisal services contracts, which could negatively impaet revenuos. In addition, the general insurance markets may

experience volatility, which may lead to future increases in our general and administrative expenses and negatively impact our operating results.
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Risks Associated with Our Periodic Results and Stock Price

Fluctuations in guarterly vevenue could adversely impact our operating results and stock price.

QOurrevenues and operating resulis are difficult to predict and may fluctuate substantially fromquarter to quatter for a variety of reasons, including

«  Prospective clients’ contracting decisions are often made in the last few weeks of a quarter

«  The size of license transactions can vary significantly

= Clients may unexpeciedly postpone or cancel procurement processes due to changes in strategic priorities, project objectives, budget, or personnel

+  Client purchasing processes vary significantly and a client’s intemal approval, expenditure authorization, and contract negotiation processes can be difficult and tine
consuming to conplete, even after selection ofa vendor

+  The number, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new software product announcenents by us and our cotnpetitors may affect purchase
decisions

»  We may have to defer revenues under our revenue recognition policies and GAAP

+  Clients may elect subscription-based arrangements, which result in lower software license revenues in the initial year as compared to traditional, on-premise scftware
license arrangements, but generate higher overall subscription-based revenues over the termof the contract

In each fiscal quarter, our expense fevels, operating costs, and hiring plans are based to some extent on projections of future revenues and are relatively fied. If our actual
reverues fall below expectations, wo could experience a reduction in operating results, Also, if actual revenues or earnings for any given quarter fall below expectations, it nay
lead to a decline in our stock price.

Increases in service revenue as a percentage of total revenues could decrease averall margins.

We realize lower margins on software and appraisal service revenues than on license revenue. The majority of our contracts include both software licenses and software
services. Therefore, an increase in the percentage of software service and appraisal service revenue compared to license revenue could have a detrimental impact on our overall
gross margins and could adversely affect operating results,

Increases in investment In research and development could decrease overall margins.

An important element of our corporate strategy is to continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to research and development and related preduct and service
opportunities both through internal investments and the acquisition of intellectual preperty from cormpanies that we have acquired. We believe that we nmist continue to
dedicate & significant ampunt of resources to our research and developnent efforts to maintain our competitive position. Because we expense the majority of our research and
developroent costs, increased investment ceuld adversely affect operating margins.

Our stock price may be volatile,

The macket price of our common stock may be velatile. Examples of factors that may significantly impact our stock price inchide

+  Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results

+  Announcements of technological innovations, new produets, or new contracts by us or our competitors

= Developments with respect to patents, copyrights, or other proprietary rights

+  Conditions and trends in the software and other technology industries

»  Adoption of new accounting standards

»  Changes in financial estitmates by securiiies analysts
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+  General market conditions and other factors

In addition, the stock market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of technology
conpany stocks and mmay in the future adversely affect the market price of our stock. Sometimes, securities class action litigation is filad following periods of volatility in the
market price of a particular company’s securities. We cannot assure you that similar litigation will not oceur in the future with respect to us. Such litigation could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect upon our financial performance,

Our financial outlook may not be realized.

Fromtin to time, in press releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or other forward-looking statements reganding our results, including estimated revenues or
earnings. Any forecast of our future performance reflects various assumptions. These assumyptions are subject to significant uncertainties, and as a matter of cowsse, any
number of themmay prove to be incorrect. Further, the achievemment of any forecast depends on numerous risks and other factors (including those described in this
discussion), any of which are beyond cur control. As a result, we cannot be certain that our performance will be consistent with any management forecasts or that the
variation from such forecasts will not be material and adverse, Curent and potential stockholders are cautioned not to base their entire analysis of our business and prospects
upon isolated predictions, but instead are encouraged to utilize our entire publicly available mix of histerical and forward-looking information, as well as other available
information regarding us, our products and services, and the sofiware industry when evaluating our prospective results of operations.

Risks Associated with Our Growth Strategy and Other General Corporate Risks
We may experience difficulties in executing our acquisition strategy.

A material portion of our historical growih has resulted fromsirategic acquisitions. Although our focus is en intemal growth, we will continue to identify and pursue strategic
acquisitions with suitable candidates. These transactions involve significant challenges and 1isks, including risks that a transaction does not advance our business strategy;
that we do not achieve the expected return on our investment; that we have difficulty integrating business systems and technology; that we have difficulty retaining or
integrating new employees; that the transactions distract management fomour other businesses; that we acquire unforeseen liabilities; and other unanticipated events. Qur
future success will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate future acquisitions into our operations. It may take longer than expected to realize the full benefits of
these iransactions, such as increased 1evenue, enhanced efficiencies, or increased market share, or the benefits may be ultimately less than we expected. Although we conduct
due diligence reviews of poteatial acquisition candidates, we may not identify all material liabilities or risks related to acquisition candidates, There can be no assurance that
any such strategic acquisitions will be accomplished on favorable terms or will result in profitable operations.

Qur failure to properly manage growih could adversely gffect our business.

We continue to expand our operations by pursuing existing and potential market opportunities. This growth places significant demands on management and operational
resources, In order to manage growth effectively, we st iplerment and mprove our operational systens, procedures, and controls on a tirmely basis. If we fail to implement
these systems, our business may be mmaterially adversely affected.

We may be unable to hire, integrate, and retain qualified personnel.

Qur continued success will depend upon the availability and performance of our key management, sales, marketing, client support, and product development personnel. The
loss of key management or technical personnel could adversely affect us. We believe that our continued success will depend in large part upon our ability te attract, integrate,
and retain such personnel. We have at times experienced and continue to experience challenges, in recruiting qualified personnel. Cornpetition for qualified software
developnent, sales, and other personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you that we will be suceessful in attracting and retaining such personnel,

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance may result in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate govemance, compliance, and public disclosure can create uncertainty for public companies. The costs required
to comply with such evolving laws are difficult to predict. To maintajn high standards of corporate govemance, compliance, and public disclosure, we intend to invest all
reasonably necessary resources to courply with evolving standards. This mvestment may result in an unforeseen increase in general and administrative expenses and a

diversion of management’s titre and attention fom revenue-gencrating activities, which may harm our operating results.
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We don’t foresee paying dividends on our conumon stock.

We have not declared nor paid a cash dividend since we entered the business of providing software solutions and services (o the public sector in 1998. We intend to retain
earnings foruse m the operation and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future,

Provisions in ovr certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delaware law could deter takeover aitempts.

Our board of directors may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and may determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, ncluding voting and
conversion rights, of these preferred shares. These determinations may be made without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The rights ofthe holders of our
common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of preferred
stock may make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire a mejotity of our outstanding veting stock. In addition, some provisions of our Certificate of Incotporation, Bylaws,
and the Delaware General Corporation Law could also delay, prevent, or make more difficult a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving us.

ITEM iB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS,
Not applicable.
ITEM 2, PROPERTIES.

We occupy a total of approximately 1.2 million square feet of office space, of which approximately 746,000 square feet is in various office facilities we own. We own or lease
offices for our major operations in the states of Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorade, Georgin, Iowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, Montana, New Haopshire,
New York, Notth Carolina, Ohio, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, Washington, Washington D.C., Wisconsin, Ontario and British Columbia, Canada and the Philippines.

iTEM 3. LEGALPROCEEDINGS,

Other than routine litigation incidental to our business, there are no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of our properties are subject.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

Not applicable.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SBCURITIES.

Qur common stock is traded on the New York Stock Fxchange under the symbol "TYL” At December 31, 2019, we had approximately 1,215 stockholders of record. Most of our
stockholders hold their shares in street name; therefore, there are substantially more than 1,215 beneficial ownets of our common stock,

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2019 or 2018, Our bank credit agreerment contains restrictions on the payment of cash dividends. We intend to retain eamings for use in
the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future.

The following table summarizes certain information related to our stock incentive plan, restricted stock units and our employee stock purchase plan. There are no wanants or
rights related to our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2019,

Number of seourities to Thurber of secwritios remaining
be jssued upon exercise available for
of outstanding options, warrants, Weighted average future isswance under
prrchase rights exercise price of outsianding equity compensation
and vesting of restricted stock units options plans (exchding seerrities reflected
asof and unvested restricted stock in initial column
December 31, 2019 units as of December 31, 2019)

Ecﬁity 6&mpensntiun plans
approved by security

701,837

4,002,142 § T 1565 ' 3,799,140

As of December 31, 29, we had authorization te repurchase up to approximately 2.6 million additional shares of Tyler common stock. During 2019, we purchased
approximately 72,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $14.3 million.

A summary of the repurchase activity duzing 2019 is as follows:

Additional mumber of Maxitoum nuenber of
shares avthorized shares that may be
Total number of that may be Average price repurchased under

sharss repurchased repurchased paid per share  current avthorization
500,000 ' 620,92

In February 2019, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 1.5 million of Tyler comrmon stock. The repurchase programy, which was approved by our
board of directors, was announced in October 2002 and was atmended ot various times from 2003 through 2019. There is no expiration date specified for the authotization, and
we intend to repurchase stock under the program from time to tine.

As of February 19, 2020, we had remaining authorization to repurchase up to 2.6 million additional shares of our common stock.
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Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed "sollviting material” or jo be “fifed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor
shall such information be incorporated by reference into any fiture filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to
the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Poor’s 500 Stock Indexand the Standard and Poor's 600
Information Technology Indexassuming & $100 investment made on Decentber 31, 2014. Each of the three measures of cumulative total return assumes reinvestiment of
dividends. The stock performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

FOR'THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2019 {z) 2018 2017 (B).(c) 0060 2015

:_Rr-:vemm ] $ 1086427 § 935282 % 840,899 3§

3 591,022

313835
E T

63,264
16,217

135,658

115
169,571

n37e

Lee cae gs]}ff(hll-ltedshare :
Weighted average diluted shares

250,203 195,755 151,859 § 134327

“cath flows sed by inesting /2S5, (0720) . (RASY)
Cash flows (used) provided by financingactivities (63,595} 138,075 91,052
i s i B

1,378,502

b3

Shareholders equity ' 1,617,058 1,324,346 1,191,736 934,540 858,857

{a) Reflects the impact of the adoption of Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") ASU Ne, 2016-02, Leases ("Topic 842") in fiscal year 2019, Refer to Note - | "Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies" for futher discussion.

(b) Reflects the impact of the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue froim Contracis with Customers m fiscal year 2018,

() 2017 includes the significant impact of the enactment of the TaxCuts and Jobs Act {"Tax Act"). The most significant impact of the Tax Act to us is the reduction in the 1.8,
federal corporate income taxrate from 35% to 21%. The fnpact of the rate reduction on cur 2017 mcome taxprovision is a $26.0 milion taxbenefit due to the remeasurement of
deferred taxasscts and liabilities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section Z1E of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934
that are not historical in nature and typically address future or anticipated events, trends, expectations or beliefs with respect to our financial condition, results of operatiens or
business, Forward-looking statements often contain words such as "believes,” "expects,” "anticipates,” "foresees,” "forecasts,” "estimates,” "plans,” "intends,” *continues,”
Ymay,” "will” "should,” "projects,” "might,” "couki” or other similar words or phrases. Similutly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlock, objectives, plans,
intentions or goals also are forward-looking statements. We believe there is a reasonable basis for our forward looking statements, but they are inherenily subject to risks and
uncertainties and actual results could differ materially fromthe expectations and beliefs reflected in the forward-looking statements, We presently consider the following to be
among the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations and beliefs: (1) changes in the budgets or regulatory environments of our
clients, primarily local and state govemtrents, that could negatively impact information technology spending; (2) our ability to protect client information fiomsecurity breaches
and provide uninterrupted operations of data centers; (3) our ability to achieve growth or eperational synergies through the integration of acquired businesses, while avoiding
unanticipated costs and disruptions to existing operations; (4) material portions of our business requite the Internet infiastructure to be adequately maintained; {5) our ability
to achieve our financial forecasts due to various factors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in transaction size, fewer transactions, delays in delivery of new
products or releases ora decline in our renewal rates for service agreements; (6) general economic, political and market conditions; (7) technological and market risks
associated with the development of new products or services or efnew versions of existing or acquired products or services; (8) competition in the industry in which we
conduct business and the impact of competition on pricing, client retention and pressure for new products or services; (9) the ability to atfract and retain qualified personnel
and dealing with the loss or retirerent of key members of ranagement or other key petsonnel; and (10) costs of compliance and any failure to comply with govemment and
stock exchange regulations. A detailed discussion of these factors and other risks that affect our business are described in Item 1A, "Risk Factors.” We expressly disclaimany
obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW
Ceneral

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local governments, We develop and morket a bread line of
software products and services to address the IT needs of cities, counties, schools and other local government entities. In addition, we provide professional IT services to our
clients, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training and for certain clients, product modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support
for clients using our systems. We also provide subscription-based services such as software as a service (" SaaS™), which primarily utilize the Tyler private cloud, and
electronic document filing solutions ("e-filing™), which sinplify the filing and management of court related documents, Revenues for e-filing are derived frem transaction fees
and, in some cases, fixed fee arrangements. Other transaction based fees primary relate to online payment services. We also provide property appraisal outsourcing services for
taxing jurisdictions.

Cur products generally automate eight major functional areas: (L) financial management and education, (2) courts and justice, (3) public safety, (4) property appraisal and tax,
(5) planning, regulatory and maintenance, (6) land and vital records management, (7) data and insights and (8) case management and business process management. We report
our results in two segments. The Baterprise Software ("FS") segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to meet their information technology
and automation needs for misgion-critical "back-office” functions such as: financial management and education, courts and justice, public safety, planning, regulatory and
maintenance, land and vital records management, data and insights and case management and business management processes. The Appraisal and Tax ("A&T") segment
provides systems and software that autormte the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property as well as property apprisal outsourcing services for local
govermnments and taxing authorities, Property appraisal outsourcing services include: the physical inspection of commercial and residential properties; data collection and
processing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of taxrolls; community education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction.
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Ourtotal enployee count increased to 5,368 at December 31, 2019, froni 4,525 at Decernber 31, 2018,

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, total revenues increased 16% compared to the prior year. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, total revenues increased 8%
compared to prior year. Revenues fromacquisitions contributed 8% of growth for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019.

Subscriptions revenue grew 34% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, due to a gradual shift toward cloud-based, software as a service business, as well as
continued strong growth in ovr e-filing revenues fromcourts and other transaction-based revenues. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, subscriptions revenue increased 26%
Tor the twelve months ended Deconber 31, 2019,

Our backlog at December 31, 2019 was $1.46 billion, a 17% increase fromlast year.

Recent Acquiisitions

On October 30, 2019, we acquired certain assets of Courthouse Techinologies, Ltd ("CHT"), an indusiry-leading provider of jury management systerns that offers a fully
integrated, end-to-end software-as-a-service (SaaS) solution to manage all facets of juror management, fromsource list generation to juror processing and payment. The total
purchase price was apptoximately $20.5 million of which $19.1 million was paid in cash and approximately $1.4 million was accrued for working capital and indemnity holdbacks,
subject to certain post-closing adjustients.

On February 28, 2019, we acquired all of the capital stock of MP Holdings Parent, Inc, dba MicroPact ("MicroPact"), a leading provider of commercial off-the-shelf ("COTS"}
solutions, including entellitrak®, a low-code application development platform for case management and business process management used extensively in the public sector,
The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.0 million, was approximately $202.2 million consisting of $198.2 million paid in cash and accrued contingent consideration of
$6.0 million, subject to the achievement of certain financial performance objectives.

On February 1, 2019, we acquired all the assets of Civie, LLC ("MyCivic"), a company that provides software solutions to connect communities, The total purchase price was
$3.7 million m cash.

As of December 31, 2019, the purchase price allocations for MicroPact and MyCivic are complete. As of Decenber 31, 2019, the purchase price allocation for CHT is not yet
conplete, therefore the preliminary valuation estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisition date including ntangible assets, receivables and deferred revenue are subject to
change as the valvation is finalized.

The operating results of all 2019 acquisitions are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since their date of acquisition, Revenues fiom
MicroPact included in Tyler's results of operations totaled approximately $63.0 million and the net loss was approximately $98,000 for the twelve months ended Decerber 31,
2019. The impact of the MyCivic and CHT acquisitions, individually and in the aggregate, on our operating results, assets and liabilities is not material.

Ourbalance sheet as of Decermber 31, 2019, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired based on their fair value at the date of each acquisition. The fair
value of the assets and Yabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level IlI, unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

We monkor and analyze several key performance indicators n erder to manage our business and evalnate our financial and operating performance. These indicaters include
the following:

Revenues — We derive our revenues from five primary scurces: sale of sofiware licensas and royalties; subscription-based arrangements; software services; naintenance;
and appraisal services, Subseriptions and maintenance are considered recuring revenue sources and comprised approximately 67% of our revenue in 2019. The number of
new SaasS clients and the number of existing clients who convert from our traditional software arrangements to our SaaS model are a significant driver to our business,
together with new software license sales and maintenance rate increases. In addition, we also monitor our customer base and churmn as we historically have experienced
very low customer turnover. During 2019, based on our number of customers, turnover was approximately 2%.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Marging — Our primary cost component is personnel expenses in connection with providing software implementation, subscription-based
serviges, minfenance and support, and appraisal services to our clients. We can improve gross margins by contralling headcount and related ¢osts and by expanding our
revenue base, especially fiomthose products and services that produce ineremental revenue with minfmal ineremental cost, such as software licenses and royalties,
subscription-based services, and maintenancs and support. Our appraisal projects are eyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short-term basis to
coincide with the life of a project. As of Decerlber 31, 2019, our total ermployee count increased to 5,368 from4,525 at Decermber 31, 2018,
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Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A™) Expenses — The primary components of SG&A. expenses are administrative and sales personnel salaries and commissions,
share-based conpensation expense, marketing expense, rent and prefessional fees, Sales contnissions typically fluctuate with revenues and share-based conpensation
expense generally increases as the market price of our stock increases. Other administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than revenues.

Liquidity and Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flows is net income. Uses cf cash inchide acquisitions, capital investments in property and equipment and
discretionary purchases of treasury steck. Our working capital needs are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant components of cagh cutflows being payment
of personnel expenses offset by cash inflows representing collection of acocunts receivable and cash receipts fromclients in advance of revenue being eamed. In recent
years, we have also received significant amounts of cash frememployees exercising stock options and contributing to our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Balance Sheet — Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and defened revenue balances are important indicators of our business.

Adoption of New Lease Accounting Standard

We adopted Topic 842 using the transition method that allows us to initially apply the guidance at the adoption date of January 1, 2019, and recognized a curmlative—effect
adjustment to the opening balance of retained eamings in the period of adoption. We used the package of practical expedients that allows us to not reassess: (1} lease
classification for any expired or existing leases and (2) initial direct costs for any expired or existing leases. We did not elect to use the hindsight application for evaluating the
life of lease arrangements. The impact of adoption is reflected in the financial information herein. For additional details, see Note 1 - Sumimary of Significant Accounting
Policies" to our consolidated financial statements in this report,

The impact of Topic 842 on our consolidated balance sheet beginning January 1, 2019, included the recognition of right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities for operating
leases, while our accounting for finance leases remmined substantially unchanged. We had no finance leases prior to the adoption of Topic 842 and currently do not have any.

Recent Accounting Guidance nof yet Adopred

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, ("ASU 2016-13"). ASU 2016-13 changes the impairment model for most financial assets and
certain other instruments, including trade and other receivables, heki<to-maturity debt securities and loans, and recquires entities to use a new forward-Jooking expected loss
mode] that will result in the earlier recognition of allowance for losses. This update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for a fiscal year beginning afier December 15, 2018, inchiding inferim periods within that fiscal year. Entities will apply the
standard’s provisions as a cumlaiive-effect adjustiment to retained camings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is adopted. We will adopt
the new standard in the first quarter of 2020 and believe the impact on our consolidated financial staterents and results of operations will not be material.

Cutlook
The local government software market continues te be active, and our backlog at December 31, 2019 reached $1.46 billion, a 17% increase from last year, We expect to continue

to achieve solid growth in revenue and earnings. With our strong financial position and cash flow, we plan to continue to make significant invesiments in product development
to better position us to continue to expand our addressable matket and strengthen our competitive position in the public sector software market over the long term.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Qur discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to meke estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and expenses during the reporting period,
and related disclosure of contingencies, The Notes to the Financial Statements included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the
preparation ofthe financial statements, Significant ifems subject to such estimtes and assumptions include the application of the progress toward completion methods of
revanue recognition, estimated standalone selling price ("SSP") for distinet perfosmance obligations, the carrying amount and estimated nseful lives of intangible assets,
determination of share-based compensation expense and valuation allowance for receivables. We base our estimates on historical experience and on varjous other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which formthe basis for making judgments about the canrying values ofassets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assunyptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. We eam revenue from software licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software services, post-contract customer support ("PCS” or
"maintenance’), hardware, and appraisal services, Revenus is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

< Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

e Identification of the pexformance obligaticns in the contract

= Determination of the transaction price

= Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

»  Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligaticn

Most of our software arrangements with customers contain nmltiple performance obligations that range from software licenses, installation, training, and consulting to software
modification and eustomization to meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS, For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately
when they are distinct, We cvaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinet or should be accounted for as one performance obligation. Armngernents that
include software services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether the customer can benefit fromthe services either on their own or together with
ather resources readily available to the customer and whether the services are separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Many of cur software arrangements
involve "off-the-shell” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to "off-the-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of the software
license transfets to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinet. We consider off-the-shelf software to be distinct when it ¢an be added to an anangement with
minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remnining services such as training are not considered
highly interdependent or highly interrelated to the product’s functionality,

For nrangerments that involve significant production, modification or custemization of the software, or where software services are otherwise not considered distinet, we
recognizc revenue over time by measwring progress-to-completion, We measure progress-to-completion prirmarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to
revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost
estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the
period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent, When software services are distinet, the fee allocable to the service element is recognized over the time we perform
the sexvices and is billed on a time and material or milestones basis,
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Subscription-based services consist of revenues derived from SaaS arrangements, which primarily utilize the Tyler private eloud, and electronic filing transactions. Ravenue
fromsubscription-based services is generally recognized over time on a ratable basis over the contract tenm, beginning on the date that our service is mads available to the
custorer. For SaaS amangements, we evaluate whether the customer has the contractual right to take possession of pur software at any time during the hosting period without
significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the seftware on the custorer’s hardware ot enter into another amangement with a third-party to host the
software. We allocate contract value to each performance obligatien of the artangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct eletent based on estimated SSP. We recognize
SaaS arrangewments ratably over the termof the arrangement, which range fiemone to ten but are typically fora period of three to five yeass. For software services asscciated
with certain SaaS arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinet, and we recognize the revenue mtably over the remaining contractual period once we have
provided the custormer access to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether
the revenue recognition criteria have been met,

The transaction price is allocated to the scparate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the SSP based on ouroverall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factoss, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users
within our contracts. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether thete is a discount
to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or
service separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for saks adjustments and any taxes collected
fromecustotners, which are subsequently remitted to govemmental authorities.

Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our
estimates additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized, Since nost of our customers are domestic governmental entities, we
rarely incur a loss resulting from credit risk associated with the inability of a customer to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the
canying amount for the allowances for doubtful accounts may require revision include, but are not limited to, deterioration of a customer’s financial condition, failure to
manage out customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions or enhancenents of our sofiware products, The
allowanee for doubtful accounts reflects our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. We determine the allowance based on ktiown
troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently available evidence. ’

In connection with certain of our contracts, we have recarded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting of costs and estimated profit in excess of billings as of
the balance sheet date. Many of the contmeots which give rise to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet date are subject to billings in the subsequent accounting period.
We review unbilled receivables and related contract provisions to ensure we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to billing the customer and that we have objective
evidence which allows us to recognize such revenue, In addition, we have a sizable amount of deferred revenue, which represents billings in excess of revenue samed. The
majority of this liability consists of maintenance billings for which payiments are made in advance and the revenue s ratably eamed over the maintenance period, generally one
year. We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we recefve a deposit and the conditions in which to tecord revenue for the service or product have not been
met. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred revenue to ensure our accounting remaing appropriate.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill. Qur business acquisitions typically result in the creation of goodwill and other intengible asset balances, and these balances affect the
amount and timing of future period amortization expense, as well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an itnpaitment charge. The cost of acquired companies is
allocated to identifiable tangible and futangible assets based on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated to goodwill, Accordingly, we have a significant balance of
acquisition date intangible assets, inclnding software, customer related intangibles, trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangible assets (other than goodwill) are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. We currently have no intangible assets with indefinite lives other than goodwill,
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We assess goodwill for impainnent annually as of April Ist, or more frequently whenever events orchanges in circumstances indicate its carrying valie may not he
recoverable, We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that 4 reporting unit's fair value is less than its canrying value before applying the
quantitative assessment described below. When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, we first corpare the fir value of each reporting unit with its canying anount. If
the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fir value, a second step is performed to measure the amount of potential impairment, In the second step, we compare the
implied fair value of reperting unit goodwill with the carrying amount ofthe reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair
value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are determined using discounted cash flow models involving several
assutoptions, The assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value, We base our fair value
estimates on assumpiions we believe to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain, We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value calculations of our
reporting units by cormparing the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitaliztion. Our antimal goodwill impairment analysis, which we
performed qualitatively during the second quarter of 2019, did nof result in an impairment charge. During 2019, we did not identify any triggeting events that would require an
update to our annual impairment review.

Allintangible assets (other than goodwill) ate reviewsd for impairment whenever events or changes in circunstances indicate that the catrying amouni of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of other intangible assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount to estimated undiscounted fiuture cash flows. The assessment of
recoverability or of the estimated useful Lfe for amortization purposes will be affected if the timing or the amount of estimated future operating cash flows is not achieved. Such
indicators may mclnde, among others: a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market capitalization; a significant
adverse change in legal factors or in the busingss climate; unanticipated cowpetition; and reductions in growth rates. In addition, products, capabilities, or technologies
developed by others may render our sofiware products obsolste or non-competitive. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability
of goadwill or other intangible assets. During 2019, we did not identify any triggering events that would indicate that the carmying amount of our intangible assets may not be
recoverable.

Shere-Based Compensation. We have a stock incentive plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units and performance stock units to key employees,
directors and non-employee consultants. We estimate the fair value of'share-based awards on the date of grant. Share-based corpensation expense includes the estimated
effocts of forfeitures, which will be adjusted over the requisite service period te the extent actual forfeitures differ or are expected to differ fromsuch estimates, Changes in
estimated forfeitures are recognized in the period of change and will also inpact the amcunt of expense to be recognized in future periods. Forfeiture rate assumptions are
derived fromhistorical data.

We estimate stock price volatility at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our common stock, Estimated option life is determined using the weighted-average
period the stock options are expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, remaining contractual life and the employees’ expected exercise based
on historical patterns. Determining the appropuiate fair-value mode! and calculating the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date requires considerable judgment,
including estimating stock price volatility, expected option life and forfeiture rates.
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ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Percentage of Total Revencs
Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

Software licenses and royalties h 9.2% 10.0% 103 %

Amortization of customer and trade name
intangibles 2.0

o4
0.3
147 i :
12
S Ky e

2019 Compared to 2018

Revenues

On February 28, 2019, we acquired all of the capital stock ot MicroPact, a leading provider of COTS solutions, mcluding entellitrak®, a low-cade application devclopment
platform for case manageiment and business provess management used extensively in the public sector. The following table details revenue for MicroPact for the period
presented as of Decernber 31, 2019, which is included in our consolidated statements of income frormthe date of acquisition:

2019
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On October 30, 2019, we acquired certain assets of CHT, an industry-leading provider of jury management systems that offers a fully integrated, end-to-end SaaS selution to
manage all facets of juror management, fiom source list generation te juror processing and payment. On February I, 2019, we acquired all the assets of MyCivic, a conpany that
provides software solutions to connect cornmunities. The impact of the CHT and MyCivic acquisitions on our operating results is not considered material, individually and in
the aggregate, and is not included in the table above. The results of the MicroPact, CHT and MyCivic acquisitions are included with the operating results of the ES segment
fromtheir dates of acquisition. For comparative purposes, we have provided explanations for changes in operations to exclude results of operations for these acquisitions
noting the exclusion.

Software licenses and rovalties.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software licenses and royaliies revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
(% in thovsands) 2018 $ %
ES $ $ 83,735 % 8,832 11%
L 638 DG
Total software ticenses and royalties revenue 3 100,205 & 93441 % 6,764 7%

Excluding the impact of acquisitions, seftware licenses and royalties revenue decreased 2% compared to prior year. The decline was primarily due to a shift in the mix of new
software contracts toward more subscription agresments compared to the priot year. Our total new contract value mixin 2019, was approximately 37% perpetual softwaie
license amrangements and approximately 63% subscription-based amangements compared to total new contract value mixin 2018, of approximately 59% perpetual software
license arrangements and approximately 41% subscription-based arrangenents.

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangerents may vary fromquarter fo quarter and year to year, we expect our longer-
termsoftware license growth rate to be negatively impacied by a growing number of customers choosing our subscription-based options, rather than purchasing the software
under a traditional perpetual software license arrangement. Subscription-based arrangements result n Jower software license revenue in the initial year as compared to
perpetual software license arrangements but generate higher overall revenue over the term of the contract.

Subscriptions.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31;

(8 in thousands) 2019 2018 $
ES

: R bl ke e e E11260 8075
Total subscriptions rovenue 3 296,352 8 220,547  $

34%

Subscription-based revenue primarily consists of rovenue derived fomour Saa$ arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private cloud. As part of our subscription-
based services, we also provide electronic docunent filing solutions ("e-filing™) that simplify the filing and management of court related documents for courts and law offices.
Efiling revenue is derived fromtransaction fees and fixed fee arrangements.

Exclonding the results of acquisitions, subscription-based revenue increased 26% compared to 2018, New SaaS clients as well as existing clients who converted to our SaaS
nmwodel provided the majority of the subscription revenue increase. In 2019, we added 596 new SaaS clients and 78 existing clients ¢lected to convert to our Saa$ model. Also, e-
filing services contributed approximately $7.0 million of the subscription revenue increase in 2019. The increase in e-filing revenue is attributed to new e-filing clients, as wellas
increased volumes as the result of several existing clients mandating e-filing,
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Software services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software services revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change

(8 in thousands)
ES

11%

s R i 2 : 2
Total software services revenue b 213,061 3§ 191,260 § 21,792 11%

Software services revenue prinmrily consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our soRware, converting client data, traiming client perscnnel,
customdevelopment activities and consulting. New clisnts whe purchase our proprietary seftware licenses or subscriptions generally also contract with us to provide for the
related software services. Existing clients alse periodically purchase additional training, consulting and minor programming services. Eeluding the results of acquisitions,
software services revenue grew 0.4% compared to the prior year period. The slight increase is due to higher new contract volume and the addition of professional services staff
to grow our capacity to deliver backlog. Excluding employees added with acquisitions, our irplementation and support staffhas grown by 232 enployees since Decentber 31,
2018,

Maintenance.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended Decenber 31:

($ in thowsands) 2019 2618 $ %
$ 405063 $ 350,904
ART L , 25255 24617 Sy

Total maintenance revenue 3 430,318 3§ 384,521 § 45,797 12%

We provide maintenance and support services for our software products and certain third-party software. Excluding the results of acquisitions, maintenance revenue grew 4%
compared to the prior year. Maintenance and support revenue increased nuinly due to growth in our installed customer base firomnew software license sales as well as annual
maititenance rate incrcases, partially offset by clients converting from on-premises license amangemonts to SaasS.

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of cur appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31:

(% in thousands)
ES

— 04

el
LAY S 20,846 §

7

1,633 ™%

$

Total appraisal services revenue

In 219, appraisal services revenue increased 7% compared to the prior year primarily due to the addition of several new revaluation contracts started dwing the second quarter
of 2019, The appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation eycles in various states.
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Cost of Revenues and Grass Mareins

The following table sets forth a comparnisen of the key components of our cost of revenues for the years ended December 31:

($ in thousands) 2019 2018 3 %
Software licenses and rovalties $ 136 4%

502,138

The following table sets forth & comparison of gress margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended Decernber 31

Gross margin percentage 2059 2018 Change
Software licenses, royalties and acquired software 65.5% 71.3% (5.8)%
345

 and subscriptions

Appraisal services

f

Overall gross margin 47.6% 47.0% 0.6%

Software licenses, royalties and acquired software. Cost of software licenses, royalties and acquired software is primarily comprised of amortization expense for acquired
software and third-party software costs. We do not have any direct costs associated with royalties. The gross margin decrease of 5.8% is due to an increase in amortization
eapense for acquired software resulting fromacquisitions completed in the last half of 2018 and in 2019,

Software services, maintenance and subscriptions. Cost of software services, maintenance and subsctiptions ptimarily consists of personnel costs related to installation of our
software, conversion of clicnt data, training client personnel and support activities and various other services such as customclient development and on-going operation of
Saa8 and e-filing arangements, Tn 2019, the software services, maintenance and subseriptions gross margin increased 1.7% compared to the prior year, Excluding employees
added through acquisitions, our implementation and support staff has grown by 232 employees since December 31, 2018 as we accelerated hiring to ensure that we are well-
positioned to deliver our cumrent backlog and anticipated new business. Costs related to maintenance and various other services such as SaaS and e-filing typically growata
slower rate than related revenue due to leverage in the utilization of support and maintenance staff and economies of scale.

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue cotmmprised approximately 2.2% of total revenue. The appraisal services gross margin increased 0.2% compared ta 2018 due to
rap up of several new revaluation projects during sccond quarter 2019,

Qur 2019 blended gross margin slightly increased 0.6% compared fo 2018, Our overall gress margin ncrease is attributed to a higher revenue mix for subscription revenues
compared to the prior year petiod resulting in an increase In Incremental margin related to software services, maintenance and subscriptions. Costs related to maintenance and
vatious other services such ag $SaaS and e-filing typically grow al a slower rate than related revenue due to leverage in the utilization of support and maintenance staff and
cconomies of scale. The increase in overall marging are partially offset by lower margins fromsoftware licenses, in part due to lower software license revenue and higher
amortization expense for acquired seliware resulting fromacquisitions.
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Selling. General and Adwministrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative ("SG8A”™) expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, trave], share-based compensation expense, commissions and related
overhead costs for administrative and sales and rorketing ermployees, s well as, professional fees, trade show activities, advertising costs and other matketing related costs.
The following table sets forth a comparison of our SG&A expenses for the years ended December 31:

Change

($ in thousands)

2019
Selling general 2 T

2018

SG&A as a percentage of revenue was 23.7% in 2019 corrpared to 22.2% in 2018. SG&A expense increased approximately 24% compared to the prior year period. In 2019, our
operating results inchide $19.9 million of SG&A expenses for MicroPact fromthe date of acquisition. The rennining SG&A expense increase is mainly due to compensation
cost related to increased stafllevels, higher stock compensation expense and increased commission expense as a result of higher sales. Excluding employees added with
acquisitions, we added 81 employees mainly te our sales and finance tears since Decernber 31, 2018, In addition, our 2019 stock compensation expense rose $5.8 nillion, mainly
due to increases in our stock price over recent years,

Researn Devel, i

Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits and related overhead costs associated with new product development. The following table
sets forth a comparison of our research and development expense for the years ended December 31:

($ in thousands) .

Research and development expense increased 29% in 2019 compared to the prior year period, mainly due to & number of new Tyler product development initiatives across our
product suites, including increased investments in research and development at recently acquired businesses. To suppont these initiatives, our research and development staff’
has grown by 153 since Decernber 31,2018,

Amortization of Customer and Trade 2 ible,

Acquisition intangibles are comprised ofthe excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired that is allocated to acquired sofiware, leases and
customer and trade name intangibles. The remaining excess purchase price is allocated o goodwill that is not subject to amortization. Amortization expense related te acquired
software is meluded with cost of revenues, while amortization expense of customer and trade name intangibles is recorded as operating expense. The estimated usetu! lives of
both custotrer and trade nane intangibles range from five to 25 years, The following table sets forth a conparison of amortization of custormer and trade narme intangibles for
the years ended Decerrber 31:

Change

(3 in thowsands)

nvof duistoier and frads fidmié

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles increased due te the impact of Intangibles added with several acquisitions completed in 2018 and 2019.
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Estimated annual amortization expense relating to customer and trade name acquisition intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the amortization expense is recorded
as cost of revenues, for the next five years and thereafter is as follows {in thousands):

Thereafter 135,264

Amontization expense relating to acquired leases will be recorded as a reduction fo hardware and other revenue and is expected to be $525,000 in 2020, $525,000 in 2021,
$525,000 in 2022, $525,000 in 2023, $525,000 in 2024 and $512,000 thereafler.

Qiber

The following table sets forth a comparison of other income, net for the years ended December 31:

($ in thousands)
Orhe
Other income is conprised of interest income fiominvested cash net of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with ourrevolving credit agreenient. Other

ineomne, net, increased compared to the prior petiod due to increased interest income from higher levels of eash and investments resulting fromcash generated in the current
year offset by increased interest expense fromnew debt outstanding during the current year under our credit agreement,

Income Tax Provision

The following table sets forth a compariscn of our income tax provision for the years ended Decerrber 31:

(3 in thowsands)

P

The increase in the income taxprovision and the effective income taxrate in 2019 compared to the prior year is primarily due to lower excess iaxbenefits fromstock option
exercises in 2019, Stock option exercise activity n 2019 generated excess taxbenefits of$29.8 million, while stock option cxerciso activity in 2018 generated $32.5 usllion excess
taxbenefits. In addition, the 2018 income tax provision contains a taxbenefit of $1.8 million resulting from the remeasurement of deferred taxassets and liabilities associated
with the enactment of the 2017 Tax Act which reduced the statutory U.S. federal cotporate income tax rate fiom 35% to 21%. Excluding the mpact of the excess taxbenefits and
the Tax Act, our incone tax provision and effective taxrate in 2019 would have been $43.1 million and 27.0% and in 2018, would have been $42.6 million and 27.4%, respectively.

The effective income taxrates in both 2019 and 2018 differed fromthe United States federal statutory corporate income taxrate of 21% due to state incoms taxes, the research
taxcredit, non-deductible share-based compensation expense, disqualifying incentive stock option dispositions, and other nen-deductible business expenses.
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2018 Compared to 2017
Revenues
Software licenses and royalties.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software licenses and royaltiss revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
($ I thousands) 2018 2017 $ %
78,388 §

Tokal software licenses and royalties revenve 3 93441 § 86,242 % 7,150 8%

Software license and royalties revenue increased 8% compared fo the prior year. The majority ofthis growth was due to an active matketplace as the result of generally positive
local govemntrent econommic conditions, as well as our increasingly strong competitive position, which we attribute in part to our investment in product development in recent
years. An increase in the number of larger contracts related to our planning, regulatory and maintenance solutions and public safety solutions also contributed to the growth in
license revenue.

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary fromquarter to guarter and year to year, we expect our longer-
tertnsoftware license growth rate to be negatively impacted by a growing nuwber of custoroers choosing our subsecription-based options, rather than purchasing the sofiware
under a traditional perpetual software license arrangement. Subseription-based arrangements result in lower software license revenue in the initial year as compared to
petpetual software license arrangements but generate higher overall revenue over the term of the contract. Our new elient mix in 2018 was approximately 47% selecting
perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 53% selecting subscription-based atrangements commpared to a client mixin 2017 of approximately 53% selecting
perpetual software license arvangements and approxinately 47% selecting subscription-based arrangements.

Subscriptions.

The following table sets forth & comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
($ in thousunds) 2018 2017 b %
ES $ 210740 § 164,317 % 46,423 28%
Aar - = s 4
Total sibscriptions revene ] 220,547 % 172,i7T6 % 48,371 28%

Subscription-based revenue primarily consists of revenue derived fromour Saa$ arrangenents, which generally utilize the Tyler private cloud. As part of our subseription-
based services, we also provide electronic document filing solutions {"e-filing™} that simplify the filing and management of court related documents for courts and law offices.
Eiling revenue is derived fromtransaction fees and fixed fee arrangements. Bxcluding the results of acquisitions, subseription-based revenue increased 21% compared to 2017,

New Saa8 clients as well as existing clients who converted to our SaaS model provided the majority of'the subscription revenue increase. Tn 2018, wo added 410 new SaaS
clicnts and 97 existing clients elected to convert to our SaaS model. Alse, e-filing services contributed approximately $6.2 million of the subscription revenue increase

in 2018. The increase in e-filing revenue is attributed to new e-filing clients, as well as increased velumes as the result of several existing clients mandating e-filing. The
acquisition of Socrata, which primarily has a subscription revenue nwodel, also contributed to the increase in subseription revenues.,
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Software services.

The following table sets forth a conparison of vur seftware services revenue for the years ended December 31:

(§ in thousands) 2018
ES $

166921 3

'..T;;)Lalsoﬂ“tmcscwioes1'eveniﬁ 7 l91,26.9 k $ o .1.80,.460 $ 6%

Software services revenue primarily consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our software, converting client data, training client personnel,
customdeveloprent activities and consulting. New clients who purchase our proprietary software licenses genetally also contract with us to provide for the related software
services, Existing clients also periodically purchase additional training, consulting and minor programming services. Excluding the results of acquisitions, software services
revenue grew 3% compared to the prior year peried. This growth is due to a higher level of new software sales, through both our license and subseription models.

Muaintenance.

The folowing table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
(% in thowsands) 2018 2017 $ %
BS ¥ 359904 § 337,701 § 22,203 %
; ST 1;618 : 2399

Total maintenance revente $ 384,521  $ 359319 § 25202 T,

We provide maintenance and support services for our software products and certain third-party software. Mainienance revenue grew 7% compared to the prior year.
Maintenance and support revenue increased mainly due to growth in our installed customer base fiomnew software license sales as well as annwal maintenance rate increases.

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a cotnparison of cur appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31

(% in thowands)

21,846

: 3
B 21846

{13

In 2018, appraisal services revenue decreased 13% compared to the prior year primarily duc to the suecessful completion of several large revaluation prejects in mid-2017, The
appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in various states.
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Lost o, eRyes ross Margi

The following table sets forth a comparison of'the key components of our cost of revenues for the years ended Decenber 31:

(8 in thovsands) 2018 2017 $

Total cost of revenues

The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended Decender 315

CGross margin percentage 2018 2087 Change
Sofiware licenses, royalties and acquired software

= (.0..5)%

Software ficenses, royaliies and acquired software. Cost of software licenses, royalties and acquired software is primasily comprised of amortization expense for acquired
software and third-party software costs. We do not have any direct costs associated with royalties. The gross margin increase of 0.3% is due to higher software license
revenues offset by an inctease in ampitization expense for acquited scftware attributed to new acquisitions completed in 2018.

Software services, maintenance and subscripfions. Cost of software services, mainfenance and subseriptions primarily consists of personnel costs related to installation of our
software, conversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities and varicus other services such as customelient development and on-going operation of
Saa8 and e-filing armangements. In 2018, the software services, rmintenance and subscriptions gross margin decreased 0.7% conmpared to the prior year. Becluding employees
added through acquisitions, our implementation and support staff grew by 57 employees in 2018 as we accelerated hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our
current backlog and anticipated new business. Recognition of acquisition-related deferred revenue assoeiated with subscriptions and maintenance also resulted in lower gross
magins,

Appraisal services, Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 2.3% of total revenue. The appraisal services gross margin decreased 0.4% compared te 2017 due to
the reduction in higher margin projects substantially complete by early 2017 and lower volune of revenues in the current period to cover relatively fixed costs.

Our 2018 blended gross margin slightly decreased by 0.5% cotpared to 2017, Gur overall gross margin decrease is mainly attributed to additions to our implementation staff
and lower margin revenues fromappraisal services, oflset by improved margin on revenues fromsoftware licenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The following table sets forth a comparison of selling, general and administrative expenses forthe years ended December 31:

($ in thovsands)
ling porieral s adhnistrat

SG&A as a percentage of revenue was 22.2% in 2018 coppared to 20.9% in 2017, SG&A expense increased approximately 18% compared to the prior year period. In 2018, our
operating results include $9.1 million of SG&A expenses for Socrata fremthe date of acquisition. The remaining SG&A expense inctease is mainly due to compensation cost
related to increased stalf levels, higher stock compensation expense and increased conmission expense as a result of higher sales. Excluding
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ermployees added with acquisitions, we added 47 etoployees mainly fo cur sales and fimance tears since in 2018, In addition, our 2018 stock compensation expense rose $11.2
million, mainly due to increases in our stock price over the last few years.

Research and Developinent Expense

The following table sets forth a cormparison of our research and development expense for the years ended Decenber 31

Change

2018 2017 $

($ in thowsands)

Research and development expense increased 34% in 2018 compared te the prior year period, mainly due to a number of new Tyler product development initiatives across our
product suites, mcluding increased investments in research and development at recently acquired businesses. To support these initiatives, our research and development staff
grew by 159in 2018,

Amortization of Custoner and Trade Name itangibles

The following table sets forth a comparison of amertization of customer and trade name intangibles for the years ended December 31:

($ in thousands) 2018 2017 3 Yo

pier and trade name intanglbls — 7

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles increased due to the impact of intangibles added with several acquisitions conpleted i 2017 and 2018,
Other

The following table sets forth a comparison of other income, net for the years ended Decenber 31:

($ in thousands) ) 2018
— v ey y

Other incorns, el

Other income is comprised of interest income from invested cash net of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with our revolving credit agreement. Other
income, net, increased compared to the pricr period due fo increased interest income fromsignificantly higher levels of cash and investments resulting fromcash gensrated in
the last year. We had no debt in 2018, as we tepaid all borrowings under the revolving line of credit in January 2017,

Income T Provision (Benefit

The following table sets forth a comparison of cur income tax provision for the years ended December 31:

{§ in thowsands) 2018 207
Tncome tax provision (benefit S ® oS (6ls)
Effctive income e G

The increase in the income tax provision in 2018 is primarily dus to the one-time tax benetit of $26.0 million recognized in the fousth quarter of 2017 resulting fromthe
remeasurement of deferred tax assets and Gabilitics associated with the enactment of the Tax Act which reduced the statutory U.S. federal corporate incomne tax rate from35% to
21%. The increase is somewhat offset by the decrease in statutory U.S. federal corporate income tax rate for 2018. In addition, excess taxbenefits fiomsiock option exercises
were lower in 2018 as compared to the prior period. Stock option exercise activity in 2018 generated excess taxbenefits of $32.5 million, while stock eption exercise activity

in 2017 generated $40.6 million excess tax benefits. '
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The increase in the effective ingome taxrate in 2018 compared to 2017 is also primarily attributable to the one-time tax benefit associated with the Tax Act recognized in 2017
and the decrease in excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises realized, offset by the decrease in statutory U.S. federal corporate income taxrate for 2018. Excluding
the impact of the Tax Act and the excess tax benefits, our income tax provision and effective taxrate in 2018 would have been $42.6 million and 27.4% and in 2017, woulkd have
been $60.5 million and 37.0%, respectively. ’

The effective income tax rates in both 2018 and 2017 differed fromthe statutory United States federal corporate incomre tax rate of 21% and 35%, respectively, due to state
income taxes, the research tax credit, non-deductible share-based compensation expense, disqualifying incentive stock option dispositions, and other non-deductible business
expenses, and in 2017, the domestic production activities deduction.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $232.7 million conpared to $134.3 miltion at December 31, 2018. We also had $81.6 million invested in investmont
grade corperate bonds, iunicipal bonds and asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2019 compared to $97.7 million at December 31, 2018. These investments mature
between 2020 through 2023 and we intend to hold these investments until maturity, Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with several domestic banks and
money matket fands. As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings and no outstanding letters of credit. We believe our revolving line of credit, cash from
operating activities, cash on hand and access to the credit markets provide us with sufficient flexibility to meet our long-term financial needs.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31:

{$ in thousands) 2019 2018 2017
Tash flovs provided (med) by: REre - & i i T -
Operating activities $ 254,720 % 250203 % 195,755

VRS 238.255) . 3955,
Financing activities 88,098 {63,505} 39,413
Net incease {dberease) in cash and casht o s s LTS L 149775

Net cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of finds to finance operating needls and capital expenditures. Other poteniiol capital resources
include cash on hand, public and private issuances of debt or equity securities, and bank borrowings. It is possible that our ability to access the capital and credit markets in
the future may be limited by economic conditions or other factors. We currently believe that cash provided by operating activities, cash on hand and available credit are
sufficient to fund our working capital requiremnents, capital expenditures, income taxobligations, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve months.

In 2019, operating activities provided cash of $254.7 million compared te $250.2 million in 2018, Operating activities that provided cash were primarily comprised of net income
of $146.5 million, non-cash depreciation and amortization charges of $76.7 million and non-cash share-based cotmpensation expense of $60.0 million. Weorking capital, excluding
cash, increased approximately $35.5 million due to higher accounts receivable resulting froman inorease in unbilled receivables attributed to revenues recognized prior to
billings, higher accounts receivable related to annual maintenance and subseription billings, timing of income tax payments, and the deferred taxes associated with stock option
activity during the period. These increases were offset by the growth in deferred revenue balances and timing of payments of payroll related taxes and vendor invoices.

Tn general, changes in the balance of deferred revenue are cyclical and primmily driven by the timing of our maintenance and subscription billings, Qur renewal dates occur
throughout the year, but our largest mamtenance renewal cycles oceur in the second and fourth quarters.

Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable were 117 days at December 31, 2019, compared to 111 days at December 31, 2018, The increase in our DSQ is mainly due to an
increase in unbilled receivables attributed to the increasc in software license revenue for which we have recognized revenue at the point in time when the softwarc is made
available to the customer, but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer. An increase in software services contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion
method of revenue recognition in which the services are performed in one accounting period, but the billing normally occurs subsequently n another accounting period also
contributed to the increase in DSO, Furthermore, cur maintenance billing cycle typically peaks at its highest level in June and second highest level in December of sach year
and is followed by collections in the subsequent quarter. DSQ is calculated based on quarter-end accounts receivable (excluding long-termreceivables but including unbilled
receivables) divided by the quetient of annualized quarterly revenues divided by 360 days.
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Investing activities used cash of $245.0 million in 2019 compared to $238.3 million in 2018, We invested $54.7 million and received $70.8 million in progeeds frominvestment
grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities with maturity dates ranging from 2020 through 2023. On Februaty 28, 2019, we acquired all of the capital
stock of MicroPact. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.0 million, was approxinately $202.2 million, including $198.2 million paid in cash and acerued contingent
consideration of $6.0 million at Deceiber 31, 2019. On February 1, 2019, we acquired all the assets of MyCivie for the total purchase prics 0f $3.7 milkion paid in cash. On
October 30, 2009, we acquired certain assets of CHT, The total purchase price was approximately $20.5 million of which $19.1 million was paid in cash and approximately $1.4
million accrued for working capital and indemnity hokibacks, subject to certain pest-closing adjustments. Approximately $37.2 million was invested in property and equipment,
including $20.8 million related to real estate, In additicn, approximately $4.8 million of sofiware development was capitalized in 2019. The remaining additions were for computer
equipment and famiture and fixiures in support of internal growth, particularly with tespect to data centers supporiing growth in our clond-based offerings. These expenditures
were funded fromcash generated fiomeperations.

In 2618, we invested $115.6 million and received $81.2 million in proceeds frominvestment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed

securities. Approximately $27.4 nillion was invested in property and equipment, primarily for computer equipment, furniture and fixtures in support of intemal growth,
particularly with respect to our cloud-based offerings. We paid $2.2 million for the expansion of existing buildings. On Deceniber 7, 2018, we acquired certain assets and
intellectual property of SceneDoc, Inc., a company that provides mobile-first, Saa$ field reporting for law enforcement agencies. The total purchase price was

approximately $6.2 million in eash. On October 1, 2018, we acquired all of the equity interesis of MobileEyes, a company that develops software to improve public safety by
supporting fire prevention and suppression, emergency response, and structursl safety, The total purchase price was approximately $5.3 million in cash, On August 31, 2018,
we acquired all of the assets of CaseloadPRO, a company that provides a fully featured probation case management system The purchase price of $9.3 million was paid in cash.
On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the capital stock of Socrata, a cempany that provides open data and data-as-a-service solutions including cloud-based data integration,
visualization, analysis, and reporting solutions for state and local government agencies. The purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1,7 million, was $147.6 million paid in
cash. On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the equity interests of Sage, a cybersecurity company offering a suite of services that supports an entire cybersecurity lifecycle,
including program development, education and training, technical testing, advisory ssrvices, and digital forensics, The total purchase price was $11.6 million paid in cash,
These expenditures were funded fromeash generated fromoperations.

Financing activities provided cash of $88.7 million in 2019 compared to cash used of $63.6 nellion in 2018. Financing activities in 2019 were primarily comptised of collections of
$106.5 million from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan activity. We also purchased appreximately 72,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $14.3 million.

Financing activities used cash of $63.6 million in 2018 compare to cash provided of $39.4 million in 2017, Financing activities in 2018 were primarily conprised of collections
of $83,0 million fromstock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan activity, We also purchased approxinmtely 781,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $150.1 million, of which $3.5 million was accrued as of December 31, 2018,

In February 2019, our board of directors authorized the yepurchase ofan additional 1.5 million shares of Tyler common stock. The repurchase program, which was approved by
our board of directors, was announced in October 2002, and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2019. As of February 19, 2020, we had remaining authorizaticn to
repurchase up to 2.6 million additional shares of cur common stock. Our share repurchase programallows us to repurchase shares at our diseretion. Market conditions
influence the timing of the buybacks and the number of shares repurchased, as well as the volume of employee stock option exercises. Share repurchases are generally funded
using our existing cash balances and borrowings under our credit facility and may oceur through open market purchases and transactions structured through investment
banking institutions, privately negotiated transactions and/or other mechanisis. There Is no expiration date specified for the authorization and we intend to repurchase stock
under the plan from time to time.

On September 30, 2019, we entered into & $400.0 millicn credit agreement {the " Credit Facility”) with the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Adwministrative Agent. The Credit Facility provides for an unsecured revolving credit line ofup to $400.0 million, incliding a $25.0 million sublimit for letters of
credit. The Credit Facility matures on September 30, 2024, Borrowings under the Credit Facility may be used for general corporate putposes, including working capital
requirements, acquisitions and share repurchases. Bormowings under the Credit Faeility bear intercst at a rate of cither (1) Wells Fargo Bank’s prime rate (subject to certain
higher rate determinations) plus a margin 0f 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the 30, 60, 90 or 180 day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1,125% to 1.75%. As of Decermber 31, 2019, our interest
rate was 4.88% under the prime rate option or approximately 2.8%% under the 30-day LIBOR option. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our agsets, The Credit
Facility requires us to majntain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and
limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with those covenants,
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As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings and had nnused borrowing capacity of $400.0 million under the Credit Facility. We paid interest of $1,750,000 in
2019, $770,000 in 2018, and $804,000 in 2017,

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $21.3 million in 2619, $6.8 million in 2018, and $36.0 million in 2017, In 2019, we experienced significant stock option exercise
activity that generated net tax benefits of $28.8 million and reduced tax payments accordingly, In 2018 and 2017, excess taxbenefits were $32,5 million and $40.6 million,
respectively,

We anticipate that 2020 capital spending will be between $36 million and $38 million, including approximately $9 million related to real estate and approximetely $7 million of
capitalized software development. We expect the smjority of the other capital spending will consist of computer equipment and software for infiastructure replacements and
expansion. Capital spending is expected to be fanded from existing cash balances and cash flows from operations.

From time to time we engage in discussions with potential acquisition candidates. In order to pursue such opportunities, which could require significant commitments of
capital, we may be required to incur debt or to issue additional potentially dilutive securities in the fiture. No assurance can be given as to our future acquisition oppertunities
and how such opportunities will be financed. We lease office facilities for use in our opetations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-
cancelable operating lease agreements and they expire fromene year to eight years, Some of these leases include options to extend forup to 10 years.

Summarized in the table below are our obligations to make future payments under the Credit Facility and lease obligations at December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

3,960
360

2,923

2,478
29231 4

2,042
042

As of Decerber 31, 2019, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, guarantees to third-parties or material purchase commitments.

CAPITALIZATION

At December 31, 2019, our capitalization consisted of no owtstanding borrowings and $1.6 billion of sharcholders’ equity.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due to adverse changes in financial market prices and interest rates.

In 2019, our effective average interest rate for borrowings was 3.84%. As of Decerrber 31, 2019, our infetest rate was 4.88% under the pritne rate option or approximately 2.85%
under the 30-day LIBOR option. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest, at Tyler’s option, at a per annumrate of either (1) Wells Fargo Bank’s prine rate (subject to
certain higher rate determinations) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, two-, three-, or six-month LTBOR rate plus a margin of 1,125% to 1.75%.

As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and therefore are not subject to any interest risk.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The reports of pur independent registered public accounting firmand our financial statements, related notes, and supplementary data are included as part of this Annual
Report beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.
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TTEM 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURIES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduires — W maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(¢) of the Securities Exchange Act) designed
to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified i the SEC’s rules and forms. These mclude controls and procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and
comnunicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required

disclosures. Managemnent, with the participation of the chief executive officer and chief financiel officer, evatuated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
as of Decermber 31, 2019. Based on this evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of Decenber 31, 2019,

Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — Tyler's managetnent is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
financial repoiting as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Tyler’s
managemment and board of directors regarding the preparation and fzir presentation of published financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems detennined to be effective
can provide only reasonable assurance with respeect to financial statement proparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, In making this assessment, management used the criteria
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Based on our assessment, we concluded that, as of
December 31, 2019, Tyler's internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Management’s assessient of and conclusion on the effectiveness of intemal control gver financial reporting did not include the internal controls of MicroPact, which is
included in our 2019 consolidated financial statements and constituted 11.5% oftotal assets as of December 31, 2019 and 5.8% of revenues for the year then ended,

Tyler's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by Emst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who alkso
audited Tyler’s financial statements. Fmst & Young's attestation report on Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting appears on page F-1 hereof.,

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting —During the quarter ended December 31, 2019, there were no changes in our intemal control over financial reporiing,
s defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting,

TTEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.




PART IlI

See the information under the tollowing captions in Tyler’s definitive Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference. Only those sections of'the Proxy Statement
that specifically address the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporation by reference does not include the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis, the Compensation Committee Report or the Audit Committee Report, which are included in the Proxy Staterment.

Heading: in Proxy Satement
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, "Tyler Management” and "Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters™
ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. "Executive Compensation"
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERT AIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANACEMENT M . . . , "
AND RELATED STOCKHOL DER MATTERS Secwrity Omnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR "Executive Compensation” and
INDEPENDENCE. "Certain Relationships and Reloted Transactions™

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACOOUNTINGEEES AND SERVICES

The information required wnder ¢his item may be found under the section captioned "Proposals For Consideration — Proposal Two — Ratification of Qur Independent. Awditors for Fiscal Year 2020” in
our Proxy Statement when filed.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

&Y

Exhibit
Number

4y

®

6]

The financial statemnents are filed as part of this Annval Report.,
Page

Reports of Independent Repjstered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Satements of Comprehensive Income for the vears ended Dacember 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Balance Sheets - 31, 2 201

Consolichted Satements of Shareholders’ Bty for the years ended Decermber 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Satements of Cash Flows for the vears ended December 31, 219, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Consolidated Financial Staterments
Financial staterment schedules:

There are no financial statement schedules filed as part of this Annval Report, since the required information is included in the finaneial statements, incliding the notes
thereto, or the circumstances requiring inclusion of such schedules are not present,

Exhibits
Certain of the exhibits te this Atmual Report ave hereby incorporated by reference, as specified:

BEEE

fud
=

=
lco

Description

31

32

i

—

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tyler Thres, as amended through May 14, 1990, and Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to our Forin 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1990, and incorporated by reference herein).

Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Cerhﬁcate of Inw1porat1cn (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K, dated Felmmy 19, 1998, and mcorpmatedby reference herem)

reference herein).

Certificate o 11 t chted 19, 1999 to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to our Form 10-K for the vear ended Deceinber 31, 2000, and
incorporated by reference hereim.

Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to owr reglstmtlon statement no. 33-33505 and mcorporatedby reference herein).

Match 9. 2018 and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit

Number Description
03 Ermploynient and Non-Competition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Brian X, Miller offective Februay 26, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 8-K dated
March 9. 2018 and incorporated by reference heren).
104
2019 and incorporated by reference herein).
0.6 Tyler Technofosies, Tnc. 2018 Sock
2018 and incorporated by reference herein),
*23 Consent of Tndependen i Dbl unting Firm,
*31.1 Rule 13a-14) tificati Principal Executive Offi
#1.2 Rule 13a-14{2) Certification by Pringi iz
2 Section 1350 Certification
Tnline XBRL Tnstance Document - the Instance Document does not appesr in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags, including Cover Page XBRI tags, are embedded within
*101.INS the Inline XBRL Docvirent.
*10L.5CH Infing XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
*101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calevlation Linkbase Document.
*10LLAB  Inline XBRL Extenstion Labels Linkbase Document.
*101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonory Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
*]0L.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doctrnent.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
* —Filed herewith.

A copy of each exhibit may be obtained at a price of 15 cents per page, with a $10.00 minitmam order, by writing Investor Relations, 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, Texas,

75024,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGFIRM

Report of Independent Registered Public Acconnting Firm
To the Sharsholders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balance sheets of Tyler Technologies, Inc. {the Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for cach of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the telated notes (collectively
referred to as the "consolidated financial statements™) In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Conpany at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity
with U.S. generally aceepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of Decenber 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Intemal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 19, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility ofthe Company's management, Our responsibility s to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on
our audits. We are a public accounting fiem registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obiain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error of fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the nisks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and perfouming procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on & test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by managetent, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

Critical Audit Madters

The critical andit matters commumicated below are matters arising from the current peried audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required o be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate (¢ accountis or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2} involved our especially challenging,
subjective or complex judgments, Tha communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by comnmnicating the critical audit mtters below, providing separate opinions on the ciitical andit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they
relate.

Estimation of hours for certain progress-to-complefion (POC) arrangements

Description of Asg deseribed in Note 1" Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" to the consolidated financial statements under

the Matier "Revenue Recognition," many of the Company’s software arrangements involve "off-the-shel™ software. For arangements
that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where sofiware services are otherwise
not considered distinct, the Company recognizes revenue over time based on a measurcment of progress-to-completion
(PCC). The Company measures POC primarily using labor hours incurred, believing it best depicts the pattern oftrans fer of
control to the customer, which occurs as the Conpany incurs costs on its contracts, Estimates of budgeted total hours for
these amrangements requires management judgment.

Auditing management’s estimates of total budgeted contract hours required additional audit effort due to the existence of
manageent judgment required to make these estimates for arrangements that are completed over an extended period. These
estimates Tequite ongeing monitoring by management and may require revision over time.
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How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

Description of
the Matter

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

/s{ ERNST & YOUNGLLP

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectivencss of controls over the Company’s
process to 1eview contract progress-to-date and total budgeted hours, inclusive of executed contract ammendments and
change orders.

To test the appropriateness of management’s agsessment of contract progress-to-date, our audit procedures included,
ameng others, obtaining an understanding of any increase or decrease to budgeted howrs via contract atrendments or
change orders, observing quarterly POC meetings where the Company discussed contract progress-to-date and evaluated
the apprepriateness of contract estirmated hours to conplete, reviewing signed Company attestations as to the contracts®
progress toward completion, performing a sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of changes to the budgeted hours on the
arnount of revenue recognized, and performing an analysis of completed contracts to compare actual hours incurred upon
completion to the original budget.

Accounting for the acquisition of MP Holdings Parent, Inc.

As described in Note 2 " Acquisitions” o the consolidated financial statements, the Company completed three acquisitions
during 2019 for net consideration of $226.5 million. The most significant of these was the nequisition of MP Holdings Parent,
Inc. (MicroPact) for net consideration of $202.2 million. The transactions were accounted for as busingss combinations,

Auditing the Company’s accounting for the MicroPact acquisition was more complex due to the significant estimations used
by managenxnt in determining the fair values of assets acquired and Labilities assumed, in particular the fair values of
identified intangible assets of $136.1 million, the most significant of which consisted of customer relationships and
developed technology, both of which utilize prospective financial mformation. The Conpany valued customer relations hips
using the nuilti-period excess ¢amings model The significant assuroptions used in this model included the atirition rate,
weighted average cost of capifal and existing customer growth. The Conpany valued the developed technology using the
relief fromeroyalty method, The significant assumptions used in this method included the obsolescence rate and weighted
average cost of capital, The significant assumptions used in the valuation of the intangible assets are forward-looking and
could be affected by finture economic and market conditions.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the cperating effectiveness of the Company’s controls over
its accounting for the MicrePact acquisition, For example, we tested controls over the recognition and measurement of
consideration trans femred, as well as management’s review of the valuation methods and significant underlying assumptions
for each identified intangible asset,

To test the estimated fair values of the acquited customer relationships and developed technology, we performed audit
procedures that included, among others, evaluating the Company’s selection of the valuation methodology, evaluating the
significant assumptions used in the Cempany’s valuation calculations and evaluating the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data supporting the significant assuimptions, We involved our valuation specialists to assist with our evaluation
of the methodology used by the Company and significant asswmptions included in the fair valuc cstimates. Additionally, we
performed sensitivity analyses and compared significant assumptions to forecasts, the assuinptions used to value similar
assets in other acquisitions and to historical financial results of both the Conpany and the acquiree, among other
procedures. We also evaluated the Company’s acquisition and related purchase accounting disclosures included in Note 2
"Acquisitions”.

We have served as the Company’s audiior since 1966.

Pallas, Texas
February 19, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Sharehelders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologies, In¢.’s intemal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31,2019, based on criteria established in Intemal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comnission (2013 Famework) {the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Tyler Technologics, Inc.
{the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment ofand conclusion on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal contrels of MP Holdings Parent, Inc. (MicroPact), which is included in the 2019 conselidated financial
statements of the Company and constituted 11.5% ofiotal assets as of Decetiber 31, 2019 and 5.8% of total revenue for the year then ended. Our audit of intemal control over
financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the intemal contiol over financial reporting of MicroPact.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) {PCAOBY), consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of Decenber 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, shareholders” equity and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and our report dated Febinary 19, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining eftective internal contrel over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reperting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s intemal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firmregistered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the ULS. federal secunities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Fxchange Commission and the
PCAOB,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal contrel over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and perfortuing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We helieve
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of nternal Control Oser Financial Reporting

A company’s intemal control ever financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assutance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s intemal control over financial reperting inclides those
policies and procedures that {1) pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that fransactions are recorded as necessary Lo permit preparation of fnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the conpany are being made only in accordance with anthorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unautherized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that conld have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may net prevent or detect missiatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of cifcetiveness to
future periods are subjoct to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of conpliance with the policies or procedutes
ey deteriorate.

fs/ ERNST & YOUNGLLP
Dallns, Texas

Febrary 19, 2020




Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incorne
For the years ended Decenber 31

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2019 2018 2017

Software licenses and royalties
2,
191,265

213,061 180,460

1,086,427

Cost of revemes:

are lcenses and royales
Acquired software

560,527

441,522

516,900 439,578 399,377

207,605 175,514

<h and developeid expense

Amaortization of customer and trade name intangibles

Operating income

Other income, net

Income before mcore taxes

me tax provision (benefit)

- Net income ",

Basic $ 179 $ 384 0§ 4.55%

See accompanying notes.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
{In thousands, except par value and share amounts)

12/31/2019 ] 12/31/2018

232,682 134,279

16,020

Goodsill 840,117 753,718
e 27655
MNon-current investenents and other assets - 79,601 . o 70,33 8 .
e EEae e ' = 191614 790,963

350,512

[re ’ | |
Deferred revenu, fong-term 159 oy
Defemedincometases 0 s .

reforted stack, $10.00 par Value; 1,000,000 sh
Cormimon stack, $0.01 par vate; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 48,147,969 shares

tssved in 2019 and 2018

i

Treasury stock, at cost; 8,839,352 and 9,872,505 shares in 2019 and 2018, respectively (17&949)
tal sharcholders cepit | 1324846
2,191,614 3% 1,790,963

See qecompanying notes.
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Tyler Technelogies, Inc.

Congolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31

(1 thensands)

2619 2018 2017

Met income

76,672

(6,088)

(8,976)

115

Deferredrevenve 44,442 43,603 8,639
It provided by oper : 195,73

vesting; ;
Additions to property md equiprient (37,236) (27,424) (43,057)
el abk iy investmen :

(218,734 (11,344}
(295}
(245,015) _ (85.395)

Purchase of treasury shaﬂ;s {17,786) (146,553} {7.474)
 Proceeds from exercise of st s,

from employee stock purel

98,7 . :
134,278 185,926 36,151
L omeR 34,279 185,926 %

See accompanying nofes.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
For the vears ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

{lnx shousands)
Common Sock Adiditional Acounwilated Other TIEEISUI’}" Sock Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Sharcholders'
Shaves Amount Capital Income (Loss) Barnings Shares Amotnt Equity

— — — — 169,571 169,571

(6,613)

(150,030)
(178,049,

146,527

(14,289)
17,058

See accompanyving notes,




Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{Tables m theusands, except per share data)

1y SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated software systems and related services for the public sector, with a focus on local governments. We develop and market a broad line of sofiware
solutions and services to address the infomxetion technology ("I'T”) needs primarily of cities, counties, schools and other local government entities. In addition, we provide
professional IT services, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, trining, and for certain customess, preduct modifications, along with continuing
maintenance and support for custormets using our systems, We also provide subscription-based services such as software as a service (' SaaS™) arrangements, which primarily
utilize the Tyler private ¢loud, and electronic document filing solutions ("e-filing”). In addition, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consalidated financial statements melude our parent company and sixteen subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned. All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation, Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions, and other events
and circunstances ffomnon-owner sources and includes all components ef net income (loss } and other comprehensive income (loss). We had no items of other comprehensive
income (loss) during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,

CASH AND CASH BEQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess ofthat necessary for operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid, ncome-producing investments. Investments with original maturities of
three months or less ate clagsified as eash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash on deposit with several banks and money market funds. Cash and cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value,

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Nature of Products and Services

We earn revenue fromsoftware licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software services, post-contract customer support ("PCS” or "maimtenance™), hardware, and
appraisal services. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to
receive in exchange for those preducts or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

< Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

+  Identification ofthe performance obligations in the contract

e Determination of the transaction price

»  Allocation of the transaction price 1o the performance obligations in the contract
¢ Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisty a performance obligation

Most of our sollware arrangements with custonkrs contain multiple performance obligations that range fromsoftware licenses, installation, training, and consulting to sofiware
modification and customization to meet specitic customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately
when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinci or should be accounted for as one performance obligation. Arrangements that
include software services, such ag training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether those services are highly interdependent or interrelated to the product’s
functionality. The transaction price is allocated to the distinet performnce obligations on a relative standalone selling price (" SSP) basis. We defermine the SSP based on our
overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, custoirer demographics,
and the nunber and types of'users within our contracts. Revenue is recoghized net of allowances for sales adjustients and any taxes collected fromcustomers, which are
subsequently remitted to governmental authorities,
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Software Amangerments:

Saftware Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve "off-the-shelf” software, We recogniz the revenue allocable to "off-the-shelf" sofiware licenses and specified upgrades at a point
in titre when control of the software license transfers o the customer, unless the sofiware is not considered distinct, We consider off-the-shelf software to be distinet when it
can be added to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon instailation, and remaining
services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or interrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or custotrization of the sofiware, or where software services are otherwise nol considered distinet, we
recognize revenue over tilme by measuring progress-fo-completion, We measure progress-to-completion primatily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer which oceurs as we incur costs on cur contracts, These amangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to
revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenus are calculated using the progress-tocompletion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost
estimates. Changes to total estimated contract cests, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the
period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the
customer and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred
revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenne when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements. Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estitmaied
basis and are trued up when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenues we are entitled to and billed on a quarterly
basis in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period.

Softwore Services

As noted above, some of our software arrangements include services considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated or require significant customization o meet the
customer’s desired functionality. For these software armangeiments, both the software licenses and related software services revenue are not distinct and are recognized over
time using the progress-tocompletion method. We measure progress-to-conpletion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the
customet which oceurs as we incur costs on our contracts, Contract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terrs, We record amounts that
have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met. When software services
are distinct, the fee allocable to the service element is recegnized over the time we performthe services and is billed on a time and material basis.

Post-Contract Customer Support

Qur customers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our software licenses. PCS includes telephone support, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-
and-ifavailable basis. PCS is considered distinct when purchased with our software licenses. Qur PCS agreements are typically renewable annually, PCS is recognized over time
on a straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided. All significant costs and expenses associated with PCS are expensed as incusred.

Computer Hardware FEquipment
Revenue allocable to computer hardware equipment is revognized at a point in time when control of the equipment is transferred to the customer,
Subgcription-Based Services:

Subscription-based services consist primarily of revenues detived from Saa8 arangements, typically utilizing the Tyler private cloud, and electronic filing hransactions.
Revenue fromsubscription-based services Is generally recognized over time on a ratable basis over the contraet term, beginning on the date that our service is made available
to the customer. Our subscription contracts are generally three to five years or longer in length, billed annually in advance, and non-cancekible.
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For Saa$ anrangements, we evaluate whether the customer has the contractual right 1o take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without significant
penalty and whether the custoner can feasibly maintain the software on the customer’s hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party to host the software. We
allocate contract value to each perfornance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize SaaS
arrangemenis services ratably over the tenmof'the amangement, which range fromone to ten years, but are typically for a period of three to five years. For software services
associated with certain SaaS arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual period
once we have provided the customer access to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues,
depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Electronic filing transaction fees primarily pertain to documents filed with the courts by attorneys and other third-partios via our e-filing services and retrieval of filed
documents via our access services. For each document filed with a court, the filer generally pays a transaction fee and a court filing fee to us and we remit a portion of the
transaction fee and the filing fee to the court. We record as revenue the transaction fee, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted to the courts is recorded as cost of
revenues as we are acting as a principal in the arrangenent, Court filing fees collected on behalf of the courts and remitted to the courts are recorded on a net basis and thus do
not affect the statement of comprehensive incorre.

Other transaction-baged fees primary relate to online payment services, which are offered with the assistance of third-party vendors, In general, when we are the principal in a
transaction based on the factors identified in ASC 606-10-55-36 through 5540, we record the revenue and related costs on a gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue
associated with the service against the gross revenue (amount billed te the customer) and record the nel amount as revenue,

For e-filing transaction fees and other transaction-based revenues, we have the right to charge the custorner an amount that directly corresponds with the value to the
customer of onr performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services over time based on the ampunt billable to the customer in accordance with the 'as
invoiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-55-18. In some cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period.

Costs of performing services under subscription-based amangements are expensed as incurred, except for ceriain direct and incremental contract origination and set-up costs
associated with SaaS arrangements. Such direct and incremental costs are capitalized and amortized ratably over the nsefil life.

Appraisal Services:

For our property appraisal projects, we recoghize revenue using the progress-tocormpletion method since many of these projects are executed over one to three-vear periods
and consist of various nnique activities. Appraisal services require a significant level ef integration and interdependency with various individual service components;
therefore, the service components are not considered distinct. Appraisal services are recognized over time by measuring progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours
incurred as it best depicts the transfer of contrel fo the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts, These arrangements are often executed over an cxtended
period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are caleulated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving
effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes (o tetal estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are detenmined. Fstimated losses on uncompleted
contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent. Contract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms,
We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Significant Judgments:

Our contracts with customers often inelude rmltiple performance obligations to a customer, When a software arrangement (license or subscription) includes both software
licenses and software services, judgment is required to determine whether the software license is considered distinct and accounted for separately, or not distinct and
accounted for fogether with the software services and recognized over time.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate perforoance obligations on a relative SSP basis, We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types ofusers
within our contracts. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and serviees separately and need to determine whether there is a discount
to be allocated based on the refative SSP of the vatious products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product er
service separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.
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For arrangements that mvolve significant production, medification or customization of the software, or where sofiware services otherwise cannot be considered distinct, we
Lecognize revenue as control is transferred to the customer over time using progress-to-completion metheds, Depending on the contract, we measure progress-to-completion
pritoarily using labor hours incurred, or value added. The progress-to-completion method generally resulis in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the
life of 2 contract because we can provide reasonably dependable estimates of contract billings and eontract costs. We use the level of profit margin that is most likely to cccut
on a contract. Ifthe most likely profit margin cannot be precisely determined, the lowest probable level of profit margin in the range of estinates is used until the rezults can be
estimated more precisely. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended time period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates, Amounts
tecognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-conpletion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimmtes. Changes to tota estimated
contract costs, it any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on unconpleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we fitst determine that 2
loss is apparent,

Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our
cstimates additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

Refer to Note 15 - "Disaggregation of Revenue" for further information, including the econoemic factors that affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and
cagh flows of our various revenue categories,

Contract Balances:
Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtfil accounts and sales adjustments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record an unbilled receivable when revenue i3 recognized prior to invoicing, or deferred
revenue whea revenue is recognized subsequent te invoicing. For nmlti-year agreements, we generlly invoice customers annually at the beginning of each annual coverage
period. We record an unbilled receivable related to revenue recognized for on-premises licenses as we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future
related to those licenses.

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized. Since most of our customers are domestic govermnmental entities, we
rarely incur a loss resulting fiom eredit risk associated with the inability of a customer to mmke required payments. Events or changes in circunrstances that indicate the carying
amount for the allowances for doubtful accounts may require revision include, but are not limited to, deterioration of a customer’s financial condition, failure to manage our
customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software products.

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowances for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

-Loflection of accou b, ST i o 11)::
Balance at end of year $ 3 4647 3 5427

The allowance for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments reflects our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance, We determine the
allowance based on known troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently available evidence.
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In connection with our appraisal services contracts and certain software services contracts, we may perform work prior to when the sofiware and services are billable and/or
payable pursuant to the contract. Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the remmining life of the contract through billings made in
accoerdance with contractual agreements. The termination clauses in most of our contracts provide for the payment for the value of products delivered or services performed in
the event of early termination We have historically.recorded such unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) property
appraisal services contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as & measure of progress towards completien in
which the services are performed in ong accounting pericd but the billing normally cccurs subsequently and may span another accounting period; (2) software services
contracts aceounted for using progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor howrs as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are
performed in one accounting period but the billing for the software element of the arrangement may be based upon the speeific phase of the implementation; (3) software
revenue for which we have recognized revenue at the peint in time when the software is made available to the customer but the billing has not yet been submitted to the
customer; (4) some of our contracts which provide for an ameunt to be withheld froma progress billing (generally between 5% and 20% retention) until final and satisfactory
project completion is achieved; and (5} in a limited nunber of cases, extended payment terms, which may be granted to customers with whomwe generally have a long-term
relationship and favorable collection history,

As of Decermber 31, 2019, and Decenber 31, 2018, total curent and long-term accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, was $396.5 million and $314.9 million,
respectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $134.0 million and $104.2 million at Decenber 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, respectively. Included in unbilled
receivables are retention receivables of $13.1 million and $12.2 million at Decernber 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, respectively, which become payable upon the completion of
the contract or completion of onr figldwork and formal hearings, Unbilled receivables expected to be collected within one year have been included with accounts receivable,
current portion in the accompanying consclidated balance sheets. Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collected past one year have been included
with accounts receivable, long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days. In instances where the timing of revenue
recognition differs fromthe timing of inveicing, we have determined our contracts generally do not include a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our
mvoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing our preducts and services, not to receive financing fromour customers or to
provide customers with finaneing. Examples include inveicing at the beginning of @ subscription term with revenue recognized ratably overthe contract period, and multi-year
on-premises term licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront.

Deferved Revenue

‘The majority of deferred revenue consists of deferred maimtenance revenue that has been billed based on contractual terms in the underlying arrangement, with the remaining
balance consisting of payments received in advance of revenue being eamed under software licensing, subscription-based services, software and appiaisal services and
hardware installation. Refer to Note 16 - "Deferred Revenue and Performange Obligations" for further information, including deferred revenue by segment and changes in
deferred revenue during the period.

Deferred Commissions

Sales commissions eamed by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a custonkr. Sales commissions for initial contracts
are deferred and then amortized on a straight-line bagis over a period of benefit that we have determined to be three to seven years, We utilized the "portfolio approach”
practical expedient in ASC 606-10-10-4, which allows entities to apply the guidance to a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics because the effects on the financial
statements of this approach would not differ materially fromapplying the guidance to individual contracts. Using the ‘portfolio approach’, we determined the period of benefit
by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life-cycle and other factors. Sales commissions for renewal contracts are generally not paid in connection
with the renewal of a contract, In the small nmimber of instances where a commission is paid on a renewal, it is not commensurate with the commission paid on the initial sale
and is recognized over the term of renewal, which is generally one year. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions is included in selling, general and administraiive
expenses in the acconpanying consolidated statements of income. Refer to Nate 17 - "Deferred Commissions" for further infonmation.

Prepaid expenses and other cutrent assets include direct and increrental costs such as commissions associated with anangements for which revenue recognition has been
deferred. Such costs are expensed at the time the related revenue is recognized.
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USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (*GAAP"}requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported ameunts of assets and Liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revennes and expenses during the reporting period. Significant iterrs subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the
nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, determining the SSP of performance obligations, variable consideration, and other obligations such as retums and
refinds; loss contingencies; the estimated useful life of deferred commissions; the carying amount and estimated useful ives of intangible assets; the carrying amount of
operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities; determining share-based conpensation expense; the valuation allowance for receivables; and determining the
potential cutcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized on our consolidated financial statements or tax retumns. Actual results could differ from
estitmtes.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equiptment and purchased software are recorded at eriginal cost and increased by the cost of any signiticant improvements after purchase, We expense maintenance
and repairs when incurted, Depreciation and amortization is caleulated using the straight-ine method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life or the termof'the lease
in the case of leaschold improvements, For itcome taxpurposes, we use accelerated depreciation methods as allowed by tax laws.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
We expensed research and development expense of $81.3 million in 2019, $63.3 million in 2018, and $47.3 million in 2017.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between financial statement accounting and tax
accounting, known as "tenporary differences". We record the taxeffect of these tenporary differences as "deferred tax assets” (generally iterrs that can be used as a tax
deduction or credit in the future periods) and "deferred tax liabilities™ (generally items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not vet been recorded in the income
statement). The deferred taxassets and labilitics are measured using enacted taxrules and laws that are expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are expected fo
be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance would be established to reduce deferred taxassets if it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be "realized," On
December 22, 2017, the TaxCuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act™) was enacted into law. The Tax Act amends the Intemal Revenue Code to reduce taxrates and medify policies,
credits and deductions for individuals and businesses, For businegsses, the Tax Act reduces the corporate U.S. federal taxrate froma maxinum of35% to a flat 21% rate and
transitions fioma worldwide tax systemto a temitorial taxsystem. Under ASC 740 Incomme Tazes, the effects of changes in taxrates and laws are recognized In the pericd in
which the new legislation is enacted.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units, and performance share units to key cmployees, directors and non-
enmployee consultants. Stock optiens gencrally vest after three to six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Restricted
stock unit grants generally vest mtably over three to five yesars of continuous service from the date of grant. Each perfornance share unit represents the right to

receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of cerfain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods. We account for share-based
compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation. See Note 9— "Share-Bascd Compensation” for further information.

GOODWILL AND OTIHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Coodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value ofnet assels acquired, inchiding identifiable intangible assots, in connection with our business
combinations. Upen acquisition, goodwill is assigned to the reperting unit that is expected to benefit fromthe synergies of the business combination, which is the reporting
unit to which the related acquired technology is assigned. A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a business unit one level below that operating segment, for which
discrete financial information is prepared and regutarly reviewed by executive management.
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We assess goodwill for impairment annually as of April Ist, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circunstances indicate its canrying value may not be
recoverable. We begin with the qualitative assessinent of whether it is mose likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the
quantitative assessment described below. If it is determined through the evaluation of events or circumstances that the camrying value may not be recoverable, we performa
comparison of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill has been assigned to the sumof the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of that unit, If
the sumof'the cantying value of the assets and liabilities of a reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value of that reporting unit, the carying value of the reporting unit's
goodwill is reduced to its fair value through an adjustment to the goodwill balance, resulting in an impaiitoent charge. The fair values caleulated in our impainvent tests are
determined using discounted cash flow models nvolving several assumptions, The assunmptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace
participant would use in estimating fair value. We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value ofall
of our reporting units to our total market capitalizaticn. Our annua! geodwill impairment analysis, which we performed qualitatively during the second quarter of 2019, did not
result in an impairment charge.

There have been no itmpainments of intangible assets in any of the periods presented. See Note 4 -"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" for additional information.

Other Intangible Assets

We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangible assets other than goodwill whenever events or changes in circunstances indicate that an impairment nay
exist. Custorrer base and acquired software each comprise approximitely half of our purchased intangible assets other than goodwill. We review our customer tumover sach
year for indications of impainnent, Gur customer turnover has histerically been very low. If indications of jimpairment are determined to exist, we measure the recoverability of
assets by a comparnison of the carrying amount of the asset to the estinuted undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment chatge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceads the fair value of the
assets. There have been no impairments oflintangible assets in any of'the periods presented.

TMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We periodically evaluate whether current facts or circunstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and equipment or other long-lived assets to be held and used
may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, we measure the recoverability ofassets to be held and used by a comparison of the canrying amount of
the asset or appropriate grouping ofassets and the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets, If the cartying amount of the assets
exceeds their estimated fiuture cash flows, an inmpairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the canrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value ol the assets.
Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and would no
lenger be depreciated. The assets and liabilifies ofa disposed group or classified as held for sale would be presented separately in the appropriate asset and Lability sections
of the balance sheet. Thers have been no significant inpairments of long-lived assets in any of the petiods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize software development costs upon the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for general release to customers.
Software development costs primarily consist of personnel costs and rent for related ofice space. We capitalized approgimately §4.8 million of sofiware development costs in
2019. We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for general release to customers. Amoriization expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at
a rate not less than straight-line basis over the product’s remaining estimated economic life of, generally, five years. Amortization of software development costs was
approximately $296,000 in 2019, and is included in cost of software license revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of conprehensive income, We have not
capitalized any internal use software developroent costs in any of the periods presented,

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERA TION

Contingenl fbure cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in the determination of the acquisition date
purchase price, Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are rocognized in eamings in the period that the change occurs.

FAIR VAIUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMBENTS

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounis payables, short-termobligations and certain other assets at cost approximate fair value because ofthe short
maturity of these instruments. The fair value of our revolving line of credit would approximate book value as of December 31, 2019, because our interest rates reset
approximately every 30 days or less. Sce Note 6 — "Revolving Line of Credit” for further discussion.
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As of December 31, 2019, we have $81.6 million in investnent grade cerporate bends, nmnicipal bonds and asset-backed securities with maturity dates ranging from 2020
through 2023. We intend to hold these bonds to maturity and have classified themas such. We believe cost approximates fhir value, The fair values of these securities are
considered Lovel Tl as they are based on inputs from quoted prices in markets that ave not active or from other observable market data, These investments are included in short-
term investments and non-current investments and other assets,

As of December 31, 2019, we have $15.0 million invested in convertible preferred stock representing a 20% interest in Record Holdings Pty Limited, a privately held Australian
company specializing i digitizing the spoken word in conrt and legal proceedings, The investiment in convertible preferred stock is accounted under the cost method because
we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee and the secutities do not have readily detertminable fair values. Our investment s carried at cosi
less any impairment wiite-downs. Our cost method mvestinents are assessed annually for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value of cost method invesinents if there are
no identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of the investments, There has been no impaitiment of our cost
method investment for the periods presented. This investment is incJuded in non-current investments and other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance shests,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of ¢ash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable from trade
customers, and investments in marketable securities, Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of operating account balanees and money market fimds, which are
maintained at several major domestic financial institutions and the balances often excesd ingured amounts. As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of
$232,7 million. We perform periodic evaluations of the credit standing of these financial institutions.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due te the size and geographical diversity of our customer base. Historically, our credt losses have not
been significant. As a result, we do not believe we have any significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2019

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts, which are provided at the tine the revenue is recognized. Since most of our customers are domestic governmental entities, we
rarely incur  loss resulting fromthe inability of & customer to make required payiments. Events or changes in clrcunstances that indicate the carrying amount for the
allowances for doubtful accounts may require revision include, but are not limited to, deterioration of a customer’s financial condition, failure to manage our customer’s
expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or etrors in new versions ot enhancements of our software products.

LEASES

We determine if an arrangement is 4 lease at inception. Cperating leases are included in operating lease tight-ofuse ("ROU™} assets, and operating lease liabilities, current and
long-term, on out consolidated balance sheets, We currently do not have any finance kease arrangements,

Operating leass ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future mininwm lease payments overthe leass termat
commencement date. As most of our lsases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencetrent date of
the lease in determining the present value of future payments. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives and mitial
direct costs incurmred, Our lease terms may inchide options to exlend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option, Lease expense for
mininem lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lsase term Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we
recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term We have lease agreerments with lease and non-lease components, which are generally
accounted for as a single lease conponent.

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agreements indermify our customers in the event that the software sold infiinges upon the intellectual property rights of a third-party. These
agreements typically provide that in such event we will either modify or replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or procuwe for the customer the right to use the
software. We have recorded no liability associated with these indenmifications, as we are not aware of'any pending or threatened infringetnent actions that are possible losses.
We believe the estimated fair value ofthese intellectual property indermification clauses is minimal,

We have also agreed to indenmify our officers and board members if they are named or threatoned to be named as a party to sny proceeding by reason of the fact that they
acted in such capacity. We maintain directors” and officers’ linbility insurance coverage to protect against any such losses. We have recorded no liability associated with thesa
indemmifications. Because of our insurance coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indenmification agreements is mininml.
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RECLASSIFICATIONS

Ceitain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conformto the cument year presentation.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Leases. We adopted ASUNe. 201602, Leases (" Tople 842"y using the transition method that allows us to initially apply the guidance a1 the adoption date of Jannary 1, 2019,
and recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment to the cpening balance cf retained eamings in the period of adoption. We used the package of praciical expedients that allows
us to not reassess: (1) lease classification for any expired or existing leases and (2) Initial direct costs for any expired or existing leases. We did not efect to use the hindsight
application for evaluating the life of the lease arrangement, The impact of adoption is reflected in the financial information herein. For additional details, see Note 11 to our
consalidated financial statements.

The impact of Topic 842 on our consolidated balance sheet beginning Januvary 1, 2019, included the recognition of ROU assets and operating lease Labilities, while cur
accounting for finance leases remained substantially unchanged. We had no finance leases prior to the adoption of Tepic 842 and continue to have none as of December 31,
209,

Amounts recognized at January 1, 2019, for operating leases were as follow (in thousands):

Oper ot
Operating lease lialilities

Dpennii aliticies, Tongterm ;
Retained earnings $ (1,116)

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credif Losses, (" ASU2016-13"), ASU 2016-13 changes the impainment model for most financial assets and
certain other instruments, including trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities and loans, and requires entities to use a new forward-looking expected loss
mxxdel that will result in the earlier recogniticn of allowance for logses, This update is etfective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim petiods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitied for a fiscal year beginning after Decenber 13, 2018, inclding interim periods within that fiscal yeor. Entities will apply the
standard’s provisions as a cunmlative-effect adjustment to retained eamings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is adopted. We will adopt
the new standard in the first quarter of 2020. We have evalvated the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements, including accounting policies, processes
and systens. Based on the nature of the Company's customer base and historical nature of losses, we do not expect the impact to be mterial upon adoption,

9  ACQUISITIONS

019

On October 30, 2019, we acquired cettain asscts of Courthouse Technologies, Ltd ("CHT"), an industry-leading provider of jury management systems that offers a fully
integtaked, end-to-end SaaS solution to manage all facets of juror management, fromsource list generation to juror processing and payment. The total purchase price was
approximately $20.5 million of which $19.1 million was paid in cash and approximately $1.4 million was accrued for working capital and indenmity holdbacks, subject to certain
post-closing adjustments.

On February 28, 2019, we acquired ali of the capital stock of MP Holdings Parent, Inc. dba MicroPact ("MicroPact”), a leading provider of commercial off-the-shelf ("COTS"™)
solutions, mcluding entellitrak®, a low-codc application developiment platform for case management and business process management used exensively in the public scctor.
The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.0 million, was approximately $202.2 million consisting of $198.2 million paid in cash and accrued consideration of $6.0 million
contingent upon the achievement of certain financial performance objectives.

We have performed a valuation analysis of the fair market value of MicroPact’s assets and liabilities. The following table sumsarizes the final allocation of the puschase price
as of the acquisition date:
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(In thousands)
Cash
Accounts receivable;

Other current assets

Tdentifiable intangible assets

(13,125
Sa0d168

Deferred tax linbilities, net

Ih connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $31.9 million and assumed liabilities ol approxinutely $27.1 million, We recorded goodwill of $75.3
million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $136.1 million, The $136.1 million of intangible
assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, trade name and favorable fair value of an operating lease and will be amortized over a weighted average
period of approximately 11 years. We recorded deferred tax lisbilities of $13.1 million related to estimated fair value allocations.

The acquisition of MicroPact augments our product solutions, positions us in new practice areas such as health and human services, and presents opportunities to expand our
business across new and complementary matkets, We intend to expand our total addressable market through MicroPact's strong presence in the federal market, Therefore, the
goodwill of $76.3 million arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, camings and cash flow by expanding our addressable
market and client base. In 2019, we recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to changes in accounts receivable, deferred revenue, customer
relationships, accrued expenses, working capital holdback and related deferred taxes resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately $5.7 million.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated operating results information has been prepared as if the MicroPact acquisition had occurred at January 1, 2018, after giving
effect to certain adjustments, including amortization of intangibles, interest, transaction costs and tax effects.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, (maudited)
2019 2018
098,226 - !
146,200

: TUEST
Dilited earnings per share

The pro fonm informtion above does not include acquisitions that are not considered material to our results of operations. The pro forma information does not purport to
represent what our resulls of operations actually would have been had such transaction ocourred on the date specified orto project cur results of operations for any firture

petiod,
On February 1, 2009, we acquired all the assets of Civic, LLC ("MyCivic"), a company that provides scliware solutions to connect commmnitics. The total purchase price was
$3.7 million in cash,

As of December 31, 2019, the purchase price allocations for MicroPact and MyCivic are complete. As of December 31, 2019, the purchase price allocation for CHT is not yet
complete; therefore, the preliminary valuation estimates of falr value assumed at the acquisition date for intangible assets, receivables and deferred revenue and related

deferred taxes are subject to change as vahiations are finalized.
The operating results of all 2019 acquisitions are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since their date of acquisition. Revenues from

MicroPact included in Tyler's results of operations tetaled approxmately $63.0 million and the net loss was approximately $98,000 from the dale of acquisition through
December 31, 2019. The impact of the MyCivic and CHT
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acquisitions, individually amd in the aggregate, on our operating results, assets and liabilities is not material. In 2019, we incurred fees of approximately $1.1 million for financial
advisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation and other various services necessary to complete these acquisitions. These fees were expensed in 2019 and are meluded in
selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Our balance sheet as of December 31, 2019, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired based on their fair value at the date of each acquisition, The fair
value ofthe assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level II, unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

At December 31, 2019, the maxinum apgregate amount of remaining contingent cash payments associated with our acquisitions is $6.0 millien and are payable In fiscal year
2020.

018

On Decernber 7, 2018, we acquired certain assets and intellectual property of SceneDoc, Inc., a company that provides mobile-first, SaaS ficld reporting for law enforcement
agencies, The total purchase price was epproximately $6.2 million in cash.

On October 1, 2018, we acquired all of the equity interests of TradeMaster, Inc, dba MobileEyes, a company that develops SaaS software to improve public safety by
supporting fire prevention and suppression, emergency response, and structural safety. The total puichase price was approximately $5.3 million in cash,

On August 31, 2018, we acquired all of the assets of CaseloadPRO, L. ., a company that provides a fully featuted Saa$S probation case management system The purchase price
of $9.3 million was paid in cash.

On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the capital stock of Sccrata, Inc.{"Socrata™), a company that provides open data and data-as-a-service solutions including cloud-based
data integration, visualization, analysis, and reporting sclutions for state and local government agencies. The purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 nillion, was $147.6
million paid in cash.

On April 30, 2018, we acquired all of the equity interests of Sage Data Security, LLC, a cybersecurity company offering a suite of services that supports an entire cybersecurity
lifecycle, including program developirent, education and fraining, technical testing, advisory services, and digital forensics. The total purchase price was $11.6 million paid in
cash.

The operating resulis of these acquisition are included in our results of eperations of the Enterprise Software segment fiom their respective dates of acquisition,

2017

On November 29, 207, we acquired audio and digital two-way radio communications technology and related assets fromRadio 10-33, LLC. The total purchase price was $1.4
million, all of which was paid in cash.

On August 2, 2017, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Digital Health Department, Inc., a company that provides environmental health
software, offering a SaaS solution for public health compliance and inspections processes. The total purchase price, net of debt assumed, was $3.9 million, all of which was paid
in cash.

On May 30, 2017, we acquired all of the capital stock of Modria.com, Inc., a company that specializes in online dispute resohution for govemment and commercial entities. The
total purchase price, net of debt assumed, was $6.1 million, all of which was paid in cash.

The operating results of these acquisition are included in cur results of operations of the Enterprise Software segment from their respective dates of acquisition.
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) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consists of the following at December 31:

Useful
Lives
(years) 2019 2018

Proparf; aﬁd equipment, net 171,861 155,177

Depreciation expense was $23.4 million in 2019, $21.2 million in 2018, and $17.3 million in 2017,
We paid $20.8 million and $2.2 million for real estate and the expansion of existing buildings in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In 2017, we purchased an office building in Latham, New York for approximately $2.9 million and paid $2.1 million for improvements to that building, We also paid $19.4 million
for construction to expand our office building in Yarmouth, Maine.

) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the canying amount of goodwill for the two years ended Decemiber 31, 2019 are as follows:

Enterprise
Software

L0

5,657
Caoem
747,164
& O

10,080
833,560 50




Other intangible assets and related aceunmlated amortization consists of the following at Decerber 31:

238,219

{237,137}
TN

(184,382

Amortization expense for acquired software and capitalized software development costs are recorded to cost of revenues. Amortization expense for customer relationships and
trade names are recorded to selling, general and administrative expenses, Total amortization expense for other intangibles was $52.8 million in 2019, $39.6 nillion in 2018, and
$35.5 million in 2017,

The amortization periods of other intangible assets is summarized in the following table:

Deeernber 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Gross Avernge
Carrying Amortization Accumulated Cartying Amortization Accumulated
Amount Period Amortization Amount Period Amortization

321,019 238219

Leases accuired 9 years 1,900 3,694 10 years 1,351
Fstimated annual amottization expense related to acquired leases will be recorded as a reduction to hardware and other tevenuc and is expected to be $525,000 in 2020, $525,000
in 2021, $525,000 in 2022, $525,000 in 2023, $525,000 in 2024, and $512,000 thereafier.

Estimated annual amortization expense related to other intangibles, including customer relationships, acquired software, trade names and capitalized software development
costs is as follows:
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(5) ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

Other accrued lsbilities ) 26,108 26380

©) REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT

On September 30, 2019, we entered into & $400 million credit agreement {the "Credit Facility™} with the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent. The Credit Agreement provides for an unsecured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount ofup to $400.0 million,
including a $25.0 million sublimit for letters of credit, The Credit Facility matures on Septeimber 30, 2024. Borrowings under the Credit Facility may be used for general cotporate
putposes, inclding working capital requirements, acquisitions and share repurchases.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate of either (1) Wells Fargo Bank’s prie rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) plus a margin of 0.125% to
0.75% or (2} the 30, 60, 90 or 180-day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. As of December 31, 2019, our interest rate was 4.88% under the prime rate option or
approdiately 2.80% under the 30-day LIBOR option, The Credit Facility requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other finaneial conditions and prohibits us from
rmaking certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of Decerrber 31, 2019, we were in compliance
with those covenants.

As of Decernber 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings and had unused borrowing capacity of $400 million under the Credit Facility. In addition, 15 of December 31, 2019,
we had no outstanding letter of credit,

We paid interest of $1,750,000 in 2019, $770,000 in 2018, and $804,000 in 2017.

@ INCOME TAX

The Income tax provision {benefit) on income from operations censists ofthe following;

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

Federal 12,814
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Reconeiliation of the U.S. statutory incone taxrate to our effective incoms tax expense rate for operations follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017

(29,319) {49,6é4j

The taxeffects of the major iterrs recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of Decerrber 31 are:

Sock optioi and other employe
Loss and eredit carryforacds

(1,923}
I

(4,922)

+ Defer L (1,670)
Total deferred incoms: tax liahil s ) (99,882) (87,226)
Net deferred ncor i : CHnM8 442y gL (41,791

As of December 31, 2019, we had federal net operating loss camryferwards of approximately $85.2 million, after-tax state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $3.1
million, and taxeredit carryforwards of approximately $4.8 million. The federal net operating loss canyforward will begin to expire in 2032 if not utilized, and a portion of the state
net operating loss and taxcredit carryforwards begin expiring in 2020 if not utilized.

The acquired carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation but are expected to be realized with the exception of certain state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
The valuation allowance disclosed in the table above relates to state net operating losses and taxcredit carryforwards that are likely to expire before utilization, We believe it is
more likely than not that all other deferred taxassets will be realized. However, the amount of the deferred taxasset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if
estinmtes of reversing taxable temporary dilferences are revised.

In connection with the acquisition of Socrata in 2018, we recorded a $1.9 million liability for an uncertain tax position associated with acquired tax credit carryforwards. The
untecoghized tax benefits are included in deferred income taxes in our consolidated balance sheets, The entire amount, if recognized, would affect the effective taxrate. There
was no change in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits during 2019. Based on the information currently available, we do not anticipate a significant increase or decreasc to
our tax conlingencies for these issues for the next 12 months.




We are subject to U.S, federal income tax, as well as inconw tax of nmliiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions. We are routinely subject to income tax examinations by these
taxing jurisdictions, but we do not have a history of, nor do we expect any material adjustients as a result of these exuminations. With few exceptions, major U.S. federal, state,
local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer subject to examination for years before 2015, As of Febmary 19, 2020, no significant adjusiments have been proposed by any
taxing jurisdiction.

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $21.3 million in 2019, $6.8 million in 2018, and $36.0 million in 2017,

[44] SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

The following table details activity in our common stock:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Shares Amowmt Shares
(781} (150,050) 44 (6,613)

Pm’Chasés ef corhmon stock

Employee stock plz S L
Restricted stock mits vested, net of withheld shares upon award
settlement 53 (5,361 — - — -—

As of February 19, 2020, we had authorization from our board of directors to repurchase up to 2.6 million additional shares of our common stock,

® SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-Based Commpensation Plan

In May 2018, stockholders approved the Tyler Technologies, Ing. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan ('the 2018 Plan™) which amended and restated the cxisting Tyler Technologies, Inc.
2010 Stock Option Plan ("the 2010 Plan®), Upen stockholder approval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to the shares
authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan. Additienally, any awards previcusly granted under the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised or are forfeited are added to the shares
authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan.

During fiscal year 2019, we granted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the formof stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units. Stock options generally
vesl aller three to six years of continuous service fromthe date of grant and have a contractual termof 1O yoars. Once options become exercisable, the cmploycee can puichase
shares of our common stock at the market price on the date we granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five vears of continuous
service frem the date of grant, Each performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of certain financial
performance targets during applicable perfornmnce periods. We account for share-based cormpensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock
Compensation.

As of December 31, 2019, there were 3.1 million shares available for future grants under the plan from the 22.9 million shares previously approved by the shareholders.
Determining Fair Value of Stock Conpensation

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. For restricted stock unit and
performance stock unit awards, we amortize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods, which are generally the vesting periods.

Fxpected Life, The expected life of awards granted represents the period oftime that they are expected to be outstanding. The expected life represents the weighted-average
period the stock options are expected to be cutstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, remaining contractual lifs and the omployees” expected exercise based
on historical patterns.
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Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuaticn medel, we estimate the volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our
common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scheles option valuation model on the implied vield cumently available on U.S. Treasury zero-
coupon issues with an equivalent remaining termequal to the expected life of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paic any cash dividends on cur commen stock in more than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future, Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scheles option valuation model.

Expected Forfeitures. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures, We record share-based compensation only for those awards that are expected to vest,

The following weighted average assunptions were used for options granted:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

‘Expocted it (inye:
E).(pected volatility
Expected forfeitire rate

fnter te”

Share-Based Award Activity

The following table sunmmarizes restricted stock unit and performance stock unit activity during fiscal vear 2019 {shares in thousands):

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Nurmber of Shares Value per Share

Unvestedat Janvary 1, 218
R i

Fofeied 0
Unvested at December 31, 2019
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Options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
MNumber of Avernge Bxercise Contractual Life Agpregate
Shares Price (Years) Intrinsic Value

SR

Exxercisable at Decermber 31, 2019 2067 $ 121.07 6 Y 169,038

We had unvested options to purchase 1.2 million shares with & weighted average grant date exercise price of $188.48 as of Decernber 31, 2019, and unvested options to
purchase 1.7 million shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $169.24 as of December 31, 2018.

Other information pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2019 2018 ) 207
T R
$ 155,809 § 176,716  § 137,699

Weighted average frant-ate faif Value ¢
Total intrinsic vale of steck options exercised

Share-Bage ensaiion Fxpense

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which is recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive incowe:

Years Ended December 31,

Cost of software secvic

Selling, general and administrative expenscs

b
Fxcess tax benefit

As of December 31, 2019, we had $148.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related (o unvested options and restricted stock units, net of expected forfeitures,
which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average amortization period of 2.5 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP”) participan(s may contribute up te 15% of their annual compensation to purchase common shares of I'vler. The purchase
price of the shares is equal o 85% ofthe closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering petiod. As of Decernber 31, 2019, there were 702,000 shares
available for future issuances the ESPP fiomthe 2.0 million shares previcusly approved by the stockholders,
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(10) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic eamings and diluted eamnings per share data were computed as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

146,527 147,462

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 633,000 shares in 2019, 888,000 shares in 2018, and 1,343,000 shares in 2017 were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilwtive effect.

{11) LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in. ouroperations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our keases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements and they
explte in one year to eight years. Soime of these leases include options to extend for up to 10 years. We had no finance leases and no related party leass agreements as of
December 31, 2019, Operating lease costs were approximately $9.9 million in 2019, $7.4 nullion in 2018, and $6.9 million in 2017,

The conmponents of operating lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Financial Statement Classification For the year ended

ministrative expenses

- Sllng, general

~ Selling, general and administrative expenses
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As of Decenber 31, 2019, ROU lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases were recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands}):

Decerber 31, 2019

crafing 1ease rignt-ot-use a k) 'y
ting 1 ight-of- 556 $ 18,992
L iabilit

Dperatimg | 824
Total lease ligtilities 23,209
Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:
Other Information. For the year ended
2019

Lease Term and Discount Rate;
Meighted averags: e <
Weighted average discount rate

As of Decenber 31, 2019, maturities of lease liabilities were as follews (in thousands):

Year ending Decernber 31, Amount
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As of Decernber 31, 2013, the future minimum lease conmmitments related to lease agreements under Topic 840, the predecessor of Topic 842, were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

Amomg

Rental Income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Planc, Texas; Troy, Michigan; Eatham, New York; and Moraine, Ohic. We lease space in
sone of these buildings to third-party tenants. The property we lease to others under operating leases consists primarily of specific facilities where one tenant obtains
substantially all of the economic benefit fromthe asset and has the right to direct the use of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire between 2020 and 2025, some of
which have options to extend the lease for up to five years, We determine if an arrangernent is a lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lessee to purchase the leased
asset,

Rental income from third-party tenants was 31.1 millien in 2019, $1.2 million in 2018, and $1.5 million in 2017, Rental income is included in Hagdware and other revenue on the
congolidated staterments of comprehensive income. Future ninimum operating rental income based on contractual agreements is as follows (in thousands):

Year ending Decernber 31, Amoumt

As of December 31, 2019, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.

(12) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current
compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory linitations, We contribute up to a magimumof 3% of an omployee’s compensation to the plan. We mmde conttibutions to
the plan and charged oporating results $11.5 million in 2619, $9.3 million in 2018, and $7.9 miltion in 2017.

13 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Other than routine litigation incidental to our business, there are no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of our properties are subject.
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14 SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information management selutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local governments.

We provide our software systems and services andAappraisa] gervices through sixbusiness units, which focus on the following products:

v financial management, education and planning, regnlatory and maintenance software solutions;

= financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory and mainienance, and land and vital records management sofitware solutions;
= courts and justice and public safety sofiware solutions;

»  data and insights selutions;

»  case management and business management solutions; and

«  appraisal and tax software solutions and property appraisal services.

In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting, the {inancial managenent, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions unit; financial
nmnagement, nunicipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance, and land and vital records management software solutions unit; courts and justice and public safety
software solutions unit; the data and msights solutions unit; and case management and business management solutions unit meet the criteria for aggregation and are
presented in one reportable segment, Enterprise Seftwars ("ES™). The ES segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to mest their information
technology and automation needs for mission-critical "back-oftice™ functions such as: financial management and education, courts and justice, public safety, planning,
regulatory and maintenance, land and vital records managenent, data and insights and case management and business management processes. The Appraisal and Tax
("A&T"} segment provides systems and sofiware that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property as well as property appraisal outsourcing services
for local governments and taxing authorities. Prepeity appraisal outsourcing services include: the physical inspection of commercial and residential properties; data collection
and processing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of taxrolls; commnity education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We define segtrent operating income for our
business units as income before noncash amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisition, interest expense and income taxes. Segment operating incone
includes intercompany transactions. The majority of intercompany transactions relate to contracts involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual
arangement. Segment operating income for corporate primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive management teamand certain accounting and administrative
staffand share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also includes revenues and expenses related to a company-wide
user conference. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note L, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Segment assets include net accounts receivable, prepaki expenses and other cutrent assets and net property and equipment. Corporate assets consist of cash and nvestments,
prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, capitalized software developiment costs, deferred incomne taxes and net property and equipient mainly related to
unallocated information and technology assets.

ES segment capital expenditures included $12.6 million in 2019 and $2.2 million i1 2018 for the expansion of existing buildings and pwchases of buildings and land. A&T
segment capital expenditures included $8.2 million in 2019 for the expansion of existing buildings.
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Enterprise Appralsal
For the year ended Decermber 31, 2019 Software and Tax Corporate Totals

Reyer
Software licenses and ro;
Silxeriptions

Software services

213,061
© 430318
23479

5 perating income 208,454 ¢
38,008
91,614 -

19,335

Vd:pltal cxpencditures

Enterprise
Software

83,735
PUEa0740

Software services
Mamtenance

Appraisal services
M o

93528
61759

s

Enterprise
Software

78,388
i TE4 37
161,245

(10,425)

Depreciation and amortization expense

Segrient operating inco
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Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018
EETYoE e
(30,642) {22,972)

Reconciliation of reportable segment operating
income to the Compauy's consolidated totals:

_Amortization of acquired software

163456

(15 DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that reflect how econcmic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty ofrevenue and cash
flows.

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows:

Prodiets and services transferred  Prodocts and sorvices transferred
For the year ended Decernber 31, 2019 at a peint in time over time Total

34,900 2 . .100,205

Total $ 107912 § 978,515 § 1,086,427

Procucts and services transferredd  Produets and services transferred
at apoint in time over time Total

For the year ended December 31, 2013

836436 $ 935,282
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Prodicts and services transferred Products and services
at a point in time transforred over time Total

For the year ended December 31, 2017

754,053

Recurring Revenue

The majority of our revenue is comprised of recurring revenues from maintenance and subseriptions. Vittually all of our on-premises sottwate clients contract with us for
maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source of recumring revenue. We generally provide maintenance and support for cur on-premises clients under
annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts. The contract terms for subseription arrangeients range fiomoene to 10 years but are typically contracted for initial perieds of
three to five years. Non-recurring revenues are derived fromall other revenue categories.

Recuming revenues and non-recurring revenues recognized during the period are as follows:

Enterprise
Software Appraisal and Tax Corporate Totals
) T BN R
295193 58308 6,256
Intércompany. S e
Tatal revenues 3 1,oogR45 % 94,822 § 9,240y $ 1,080,427
Enterprise
Tor the year ended Decenber 31, 2018 Software Corporate Totals

51064578
269,400
S13855 0

R — 8. 605009
Non-recurring reveres

330,213

Infercommpany

e e
Total revenues ] 853,200 (27 5 935,282
Enterprise

For the year ended December 31, 2017 Software Appraisal and Tax Corporate Totals
g CFTROR S Banl T — 5 sl
Nof-TecUETing revenies 252,650 52,102 4,.612. o 309,404 .
Tnte ¥ 04l T e 2 e
Total revemes $ 765,133 § (5813 8§ 840,859
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(16} DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORM ANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total defetred revenue, incliding long-term, by segment i3 as follows:

Decernber 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

T

412,694 %

350,936

993,109

(9313503
412,694

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated te the remaining performmnce obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized ("Backlog"),
which mehudes deferred revenue and amounts that will be inveiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. Backlog as of December 31, 2019 was $1.46 billion, of which we
expect to recognize approximately 49% as revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter,

(17) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer, Sales commissions for initial contracts
are deferred and then amortized commensurate with the recognition of agsociated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be three to seven years, Deferred
commissions were $29.8 million, $21.9 willion, as of December 31, 2019, and 2018 respectively. Amortization expense was $17.8 million $15.6 miltion, $11.2 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Thete were no indicators of iivpairment in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented. Deferred
conmissions have been included with prepaid cxpensces in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization cxpense related to deferred commissions is included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consclidated statements of comprehensive income.

(18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Thete are no material events or transactions that have cecurred subsequent to Decentber 31, 2019.
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(19 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (unaudited)

The following table contains selected financial information froraunaudited statements of income for each quarter 0f2019 and 2018:
Quarters Ended
2019 2018
Sept, 30 June 30 Mar, 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30

Cross profit

142,275 130,717 127,850 116,048 115871 111,626 109,276

earnings per share 40,736 40,280 39,313 39,585 39,891 49,528 40,224 39,836
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Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference n the-fallowing Registration Stateirents: . '

n Registration Statement (Form 8-8 No, 333-225011) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Option Plan,
(2) Registration Staternent (Form S-8 No. 333-182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

of our reports dated February 19, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Tyler Technologies, Inc., and the effectiveness of intemnal control over financial
reporting of Tyler Technologies, Inc., imcluded in this Annual Report {Form 10-K) of Tyler Technologies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2(H9.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNGLLP

Dallas, Texas
February 19,2020



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

1, H. Lynn Moore, Jr., certify that:

1.

2,

Thave teviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technelogies, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of & material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circuimstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Pased on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informatien included in this report, fairly present in all rmaterial respects the financial condition,
tesults of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and nnintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and iniernal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f} and 15d-15{f)} for Tyler and have:

a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures io be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, ncluding its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such intemal control over financial repotting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed wnder our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reperting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this repert any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that oceurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(The registrant’s fourth quarter in the case ofan annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s Intemal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certitying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit cormmiittee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a, All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether ot not neterial, that involves management or other erployees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting.
Date: February 19, 2020 By:  /s/H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer



Fxhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

1, Brian K Miller, certify that:

L.

T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technelogies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any unfrue staterrent of'a raterial fact or omit to state a taterial fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and T are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 13d-15(e)) and ntemal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Tyler and have:

a. Designed such discloswre controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such intemal centrol over financial reporting, or cavsed such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the relinbility of financial reperting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted acceunting principles,

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal contrel over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(The registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s interal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit conmittee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent finction):

a All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, swnmmarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2020 By: /s/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 206 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Exhibit 32.1

H. Lynn Moore, Jr, Presideni and Chief Executive Officer of Tyler Technologies, Inc., (the "Company”) and Brian K. Miller, Esecutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, each certify pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

L The Report fully complies with the requirernents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
2, The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations ofthe Corporation,
Date: February 19, 2020 By:  /s/H. Lynn Moore, k.
H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
By:  /s/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chicf Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Inc. and will be retained by Tyler Technologies, Inc. and

furnished to the Securitics and Exchange Commission upon request.






Options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Mumber of Average Exercise Contractual Life Aggregate
Shares Price (Years) Intrinsic Vahe

524 176.26

Granted 432 20821

Granted 162 251.58

Forfeited

f A
Exercisable at Decemnber 31,2019 2067 § L7 . . o

We had unvested options to purchase 1.2 million shares with a weighted average graut date exercise price of$188.48 as of Decenber 31, 2019, and unvested options to
purchase 1.7 million shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $169.24 as of Decerrber 31, 2018.

Other infornmtion pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised 3 155,899 & 176,716 § 137,699

Share-Based Conmpensation Expense

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which is recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

Years Ended Decemler 31,

2019 2018 2017

Selling, general and administrative expenses 44,565 39,152 27,933

Excess tax benefit

As of December 31, 2019, we had $148.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options and resiricted stock units, net of expected forfeitures,
which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average amortization period of 2.5 years.

Fopfoyee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP”) participants may contribute up to 15% of their annual compensation to purchase commmon shares of Tyler. The purchase
price of the shares is equal to 85% ofthe closing prics of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering period. As of December 31, 2019, there were 702,000 shares
available for fiture issuances the ESPP fiem the 2.0 million shares previously appreved by the stockholders.




(10 EARMINGS PER SHARE

Basic eamings and diluted eamings per share data were computed as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

146,527 147,462

Weighted-average basic commeon shares outstanding 38,640 38,445 37,273

Barnings per common share:

Diluted 3 365 % 368 3 432

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 633,000 shares in 2019, 888,000 shares in 2018, and 1,343,000 shares in 2017 were not ncluded in the
commputation of diluted eamings per share because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect.

(11) LEASES

We lease office facilities foruse in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements and they
expire in one yearto eight years. Some of these leases include options to extend forup to 10 years. We had no finance leases and no related party lease agreements as of
December 31, 2019. Operating lease costs were approximately $9.9 million in 2019, $7.4 million in 2018, and $6.9 million in 2017,

The components of operating lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Lease Costs Financial & atement Classification For the year ended

generel and administrative expenses

V‘énable lease cost Selling, general and administrative expenses
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As of December 31, 2019, ROU lease assets and lease labilities for our operating leases were recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands):

December 31,2019

COperating Jeasss, short-temm
i

Qperaing | 6,82
Total lease liabilities $ 23,209
Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:
Other Information For the year ended
2019

_ Cosh paid amounts included in the measurement of Tease liabilities:

Operating leases

Lease Term and Discommt Rat

Weighted average discount rate 7 4.00%

As of December 31, 2019, matwrities of lease liabilities were as follows (in theusands):

Year ending December 31, Amoumnt
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As of Decenber 31, 2018, the future minimum lease conmmitments related to lease agreements under Topic 840, the predecessor of Topic 842, were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Aot

‘;Thereaﬁer 2,132
il 20337

Rental Income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Troy, Michigan; Latham, New York; and Moraine, Ohio. We lease space in
some of these buildings to third-patty tenants. The property we lease to others under operating leases consists prisarily of specific facilities where one tenant obtains
substantially all of the econornic bensfit fromthe asset and has the right to direct the use of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire between 2020 and 2025, some of
which have options to extend the lease forup to five years. We determine if an arangement is a lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lessee to purchase the leased

asset.
Rental incorme fromthird-party tenants was $1.1 million In 2019, $1.2 million in 2018, and $1.5 million in 2017. Rental mcore is included in Hardware and other revenue on the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Future minimnm operating rental income based on contractual agreements is as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Amount

Thereafter 857

As of December 31, 2019, we had no additicnal significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.

{12) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the mejority of our enployees mneeting mininmm service requirements. Bligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current
compensation to the plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximumof 3% of an employee's compensation to the plan. We nade confributions to
the plan and charged operating results $11.5 million in 2019, $9.3 miltion in 2018, and $7.9 millien in 2017,

(13) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Other than routine litigation incidental to our business, there are no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of oux properties are subject.
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(14 SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information managenent solutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local govemmnents.

We provide our software systems and services and appraisal services through sixbusiness units, which focus on the following products:

+  financial management, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions;

« financial management, mumicipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance, and land and vital records management soflware solutions;
+  courts and justice and public sofety software solutions;

+  data and insights solutions;

+  case management and business management solutions; and

+  appraisal and tax software solntions and property appraisal services.

In accordance with ASC280-10, Segment Reporting, the financial management, education and planning, tegulatory and rmintenance software solutions unit; financial
ranagement, municipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance, and land and vital records management software solutions unit; courts and justice and public safety
sofrware solutions unit; the data and insights solutions unit; and case managemment and business management solutions unit meet the criteria for aggregation and are
presented in one reportable segment, Enterprise Software ("ES”), The ES segment provides public sector entities with software systens and serviees to meet their information
technology and automation needs for nission-critical "back-office” functions such as: financial managerment and edueation, courts and justice, public safety, planning,
regulatory and nuintenance, fand and viial records management, data and insights and case management and business management processes. The Appraisal and Tax
("A&T") segment provides systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment ofreal and personal property as well as property appraisal cutsourcing services
for local governments and taxing authorities. Property appraisal outsourcing services include: the physicalinspection of comimercial and residential properties; data collection
and processing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of taxrofls; community education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction,

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial ineasure is business segment operating income. We define segment operating income for our
business units as income before noncash amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisition, interest expense and income taxes. Segment operating incoms
includes intercompany transactions. The majority of intercompany transagtions relate to contracts involving more than one unit end are valued based on the contractual
atangement. Segment operating income for corporate primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive management teamand cettain accounting and administrative
staffand share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also inchides revenues and expenses rslated to a company-wide
user conference. The accounting policies ofthe reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ”

Segnent assets include net accounts teceivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets and net propetty and equipment. Cotporate assets consist of cash and investments,
prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, capitalized seftware developiment costs, defered incowe taxes and net property and equipment mainly related to
unallocated mfonmtion and technology assets.

ES segiment capital expenditures included $12.6 million in 2019 and $2.2 million in 2018 for the expansion of existing buildings and purchases of buildings and land, A&T
segment capital expenditures included $8.2 million in 2019 for the expansion of existing buildings.
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Enterprise Appraisal
Software and Tax Corporate Totals

For the year ended Decernber 31,2019

alties

o

Soflweare services

Appraisal services

7

Intercompan 15,496 {15,496)

Depreciation and amortization expense

Capital expenditures

Enterprise Appraisal
For the year ended December 31, 2018 Software and Tax, Corporaie Totals

Software licenses and royalties
=

Appraisal services — 21,846 —

e

Intercompacy o (13,153)

Depreciation arkl amortization expense

Capital expenditires

Enterprise Appraisal

For the year ended December 31, 2017 Software and Tax Corporate Totals

43,987

28,096 1,181 16,341 45,618
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Reconciliation of reportable segiment operating Years Ended December 31,

incoms to the Company's consolidated totals: 2017
' ' S gEaLy) el
{21,686}

Total sepment operating ince
Amortization of acquired software

Other income {expense), net

(15 DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that reflect how economic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows.
Timing of Revenue Recognition

Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the perlod is as follows:

Products and services transterred  Products and services transferred
For the year ended Deceiber 31, 2019 ) ) ) at a peint in time ovel time Total

_ oftvare licenses and royalties

-&)fmare services 213,061

301
107,912 978,515

1,086,427

Products and services transferred  Products and services transferred
For the year ended December 31, 2018 at apoint in fime over time Total

Software licenses and royalties

Software services

Total $ 98846 % 836,436 § 935,282
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Products and services transferred Products and services
ot o point in time transferred over time Total

Apnpraisal services

, : e LT619:
86,846 § 754053 3 340,899

Total

Recurring Revenue

The majority of our revenue is comprised of recurring revenues from paintenance and subscriptions. Virtually all of our on-premises sofiware clients contmct with us for
maintenance and suppoit, which provides us with a significant seurce of recumring revenue. We generally provide nmintenance and support for our on-premises clients under

annual, or in some cases, mmlti-year contracts. The contract terms for subscription arrangements tange fromone to 10 years but ate typically contracted for mitial pericds of
three to five years. Non-recurring revenues are derived fromall other revenue categories.

Recurring reverues and non-recuring revenues recognized during the period are ag follows:

Enterprise

Appraisal and Tax ] Corporate

690,156 ..
205,193

Total revenues 3 1,000,845 3§ 94822 % (9,240) § 1,086,427
Enterprise
For the year ended December 31, 2018 Appraisal and Tax Corporate Totals

330,213

Tntalrevcnues 3 853,200 % 00356 % B2 & 935,282

Enterprise

For the year ended December 31, 2017 Totals
Mon-recurring revenues 252,690 52,102 4,612 309,404
Total reventies : 3 765,133  § 81,579 &% (58133 S 840,899
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(15) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
Total deferred revenue, including long-tenn, by segment is as follows:

December 31, 2019 Decesnker 31, 2018

T 412,604

Changes in total deferred revenue, including long-term, were as follows:

Deferral of revenue 993,109
; (¢ st}
Balance at end of year B 412,694

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the remaning performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized ("Bacldeg”),
which inclides deferred revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue iv fusure pesiods. Backlog as of Decemrber 31, 2019 was $4.46 billion, of which we
expect to recognize approximately 49% as revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter,

{17y DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales conmmissions carned by our sales force are considered ncremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a custower, Sales commissions for initial contracts
are deferred and then amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be three to seven years, Deferred
conmissions were $29.8 million, $21.9 million, as of December 31, 2019, and 2018 respectively, Amortization expense was $17.8 million $15.6 million, $11.2 million for the twelve
months ended Decermber 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. There were no indicators of inpairment in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented. Deferred
commissions have been included with prepald expenses in the acconpanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions is meluded in
selling, general and adiministrative expenses in the acconpanying consolidated statenents of comprehensive income,

{18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no material events or transactions that have occurred subgequent to December 31, 2019,




{19 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (unandited)
The following table contains selected financial information fromunaudited statements of income for each quarter of 2019 and 2018:

Quarters Ended

2019

2141

Goss profit 102,805

142,275

115,871 111,626 109,276

earnings pet share 40,736 40,280 39,213 39,585

39,891 40,528 40,224 39,836
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Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We counsent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statesnents:

0 Registration Statement (Form 8-8 No. 333-225011) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Option Plan,
@ Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

of our repotis dated February 19, 2020, with respect to the consclidated financial statements of Tyler Technologies, Ine., and the effectiveness of ntemal control over financial
reporting of Tyler Technologies, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Tyler Technelogies, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019.

#sf ERNST & YOUNGILP

Dallas, Texas
February 19, 2020



Exhibit 31,1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, H. Lyon Moocre, Jr., certify that:

1.

2.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;

Based on iy knowledge, this report does not contain any untiue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to nnke the statements wade, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairty present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other ceriifying officer and I are respensible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Ewhange Act Rules
13a-15{e) and 15d-15(¢)} and intemnal centrol over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-13(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Tyler and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and precedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, hcluding its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the peried in
which this report is being prepared,

b. Designed such intemal control over financial repotting, or caused such intemal control ever financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally aceepted accounting principles;

<. Fvaluated the effectiveness ofthe registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectivensss of
the disclosure contiols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(The registrant’s fourth quatter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably kikely to materially affect, the registrant’s intemal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of ditectors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a, All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial ieporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have & significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over
finemcial reporting.
Date: February 19, 2020 By: /s/H. LynnMoore, Jr.
H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

President and Chicf Executive Officer



Bahibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
1, Brian X Miller, certify that:
1 1 have reviewed this annual report o Formn 10-K of Tyler Technolegies, Ing.;
2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of'a material fact or omif to state a matexial fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the perxiod covered by this repors;

3. Based on iy lmowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all nuiterial respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and T are responsible for cstablishing and maintaining dis closure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15() and 15d-15(e)) and internal control cver our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules [3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Tyler and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or cansed such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control aver financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repotting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controks and procedurss, as of the end of the pericd covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Diselosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that ocewrred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(The registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to matetially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemnal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and repoit financial information; and
b. Any ftaud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s intemal contrels over
financial reporting.
Date: February 19, 2020 By: s/ Brian K. Miller
Brian X, Miller

EBxecutive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 206 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Eshibit 32.1

H. Lynn Moore, Jr., President and Chief Bxecutive Cfficer of Tyler Technologies, Inc., (the "Company™) and Brian K. Miller, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
ofthe Company, each certify pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 US.C. Section 1350, that:

1. The Report fully corrplies with the requirements of Section 13(z) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
2, The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.
Date: Februaty 19, 2020 By: s/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
By:  /s/Brian XK. Miller
Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement tequired by Section 506 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Inc. and wilk be retained by Tyler Technologics, Inc. and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.



